Rowan University Rowan Digital Works

Theses and Dissertations

3-28-2019

# How do teachers, counselors, and administrators describe their roles in working with English language learners?

Myrtelina Martinez Cabrera Rowan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://rdw.rowan.edu/etd

Part of the Bilingual, Multilingual, and Multicultural Education Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Cabrera, Myrtelina Martinez, "How do teachers, counselors, and administrators describe their roles in working with English language learners?" (2019). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2637. https://rdw.rowan.edu/etd/2637

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Rowan Digital Works. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Rowan Digital Works. For more information, please contact graduateresearch@rowan.edu.

## HOW DO TEACHERS, COUNSELORS, AND ADMMINISTRATORS DESCRIBE THEIR ROLES IN WORKNG WITH ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS?

by

Myrtelina Martínez Cabrera

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Department of Educational Services and Leadership College of Education In partial fulfillment of the requirement For the degree of Doctor of Education at Rowan University December 19, 2018

Dissertation Chair: Beth Wassell, Ed.D.

© 2019 Myrtelina Martínez Cabrera

## Dedications

This dissertation is dedicated to my daughter, Alyna Nicole Cabrera and son, Tyler Robert Cabrera for their endless supply of patience, encouragement, love and support. I love the two of you.

#### Acknowledgments

While engaging in this process to complete my dissertation I was truly honored and blessed with having an amazing chair and advisor Dr. Beth Wassell. Her patience, understanding and support went above and beyond my expectations. Every step of the way Dr. Wassell believed in my potential and encouraged me to continue my journey to complete this dissertation. Her countless emails checking in on my progress and generosity with both her expertise and kindness propelled me to believe in myself as I worked to complete this dissertation.

I would like to extend a warm thank you to two members of my committee, Dr. Kara Ieva and Dr. MaryBeth Walpole who also contributed to this journey. Their advice and support are greatly appreciated. Furthermore, this work would not be possible without the teachers, administrators and counselor who took time out from their busy schedules to participate in this research study. More importantly, this research study strengthened my commitment to advocacy on behalf of English language learners in public schools.

#### Abstract

### Myrtelina Martínez Cabrera HOW DO TEACHERS, COUNSELOR, AND ADMINISTRATORS DESCRIBE THEIR ROLES IN WORKING WITH ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS (ELLS)? 2018-2019 Beth Wassell, Ed.D. Doctor of Education

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to examine, through a social justice lens, how teachers, counselors and administrators describe their roles when working with English Language learners (ELLs). The study was conducted with four (N = 4) general education teachers ranging from grades 9-12, one ESL teacher (N = 1), one counselor (N = 1), and three administrators (N = 3) in one suburban school with a culturally and linguistically diverse student population. Qualitative data was collected through interviews. Results indicated that teachers lacked the necessary pedological skills and training to effectively instruct ELLs. Furthermore, the study revealed that current practices at the school and district level provided minimal supports and attention to ELLs. Drawing on the findings, the areas that demand attention include: the challenges faced by teachers; current school practices; and the types of supports teachers need. The study concludes with practical suggestions for serving ELLs, providing them with trained teachers and creating an inclusive environment that incorporates a fair and equitable educational experience for ELLs.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	V
List of Tables	x
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Educating English Language Learners	3
Educational Policy	4
School Structures	5
Problem Statement	6
Purpose Statement	8
Theoretical Framework	9
Research Questions	13
Definition of Key Terms	14
Significance of Study	15
Limitations	17
How I came to the Research	18
Positionality	
Conclusion	23
Overview	24
Chapter 2: Review of Literature	25
The Landscape of ELLs in U.S. Classrooms	25
ELLs: A Diverse Population	26
Language Diversity	26

# Table of Contents (Continued)

Cultural Diversity	
Achievement Gap	32
The Education of ELLs in U.S. Schools	33
Language Acquisition Policies	37
Teacher Attitudes, Perceptions, and Beliefs about ELLs	42
Teacher Education	45
Effective Schools for English Language Learners	51
Culturally Responsive Teaching	54
Social Justice and the Education of ELLs	57
Conclusion	62
Chapter 3: Methods	64
Research Questions	65
Qualitative Research Design	65
Context of the Study	67
Participants	69
Qualitative Data Collection	72
Semi-Structured Interviews	73
Researcher Journal	75
Field Notes	76
Data Analysis and Interpretation	76

# Table of Contents (Continued)

Data Analysis Procedure	
Bracketing	
Delineating Units of Meaning	79
Clustering of Meanings into Themes	79
Textural and Structural Description	80
Description of the Overall Essence of the Experience	80
Coding the Data	81
Ethical Considerations	
Ensuring Rigor in the Study	
Validation	
Reliability	
Transferability	
Chapter 4: Findings	
How Participants Describe Their Roles with ELLs	87
Advocating on Behalf of ELLs	87
Disposition of Empathy and Support	
Teaching Content	95
Disciplinarian	
Participants' Views of the Benefits and Challenges of ELLs	
Benefits	

# Table of Contents (Continued)

Diversity	100
Challenges	
Communication	
Resources and Support	
Lack of Professional Development	
Organizational Structures for ELLs	
Conclusion	116
Chapter 5: Discussion and Implications	
Research Question 1	
Research Question 2	
Challenges in Educating ELLs	
Implications	
School Structures	
Professional Development	134
Preservice Teacher Education	
Concluding Comments	
References	
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	
Appendix B: Consent Form	

# List of Tables

Table	Page
Table 1. Participant Demographics	70

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

In recent years there has been a steady increase in the number of English language learners (ELLs) in U.S. public schools. According to the U.S. Department of Education, 4.85 million ELLs were enrolled in public schools during the 2012-13 academic year, representing 10% of the total K-12 student population (Ruiz Soto, Hooker, & Batalova, 2015). The percentage of public schools in the U.S. who enrolled ELLs was higher in 2012-2013 (9.2%) than in 2011-12 (9.1%) (The Condition of Education, 2015). Nationally, the English language learner student population is expected to grow significantly. The number of school-age children of immigrant families will increase from 12.3 million in 2005 and to an estimated 17.9 million in 2020 (Fry, 2008). A significant portion of these children will need some type of English as a second language services in schools. Moreover, by the year 2050 the population of the United States is projected to rise to 438 million (296 million to 438 million, an increase of 142 million or 48% growth between 2005 and 2050), of which 82% will be immigrants arriving between 2005 and 2050 and their U.S. born descendants. Of the 117 million added to the population during this period, 67 million will be immigrants and 50 million their U.S. born children and grandchildren. The increase in immigration creates numerous implications for English as second language programs in the public schools, educational policies and programs geared toward large immigrant groups (U.S. Census Bureau, 2016; Passel & Cohn, 2008). According to Hyland (2010) U.S. public schools will be largely

comprised of culturally and linguistically diverse groups. In addition, states that are not traditionally considered immigrant destinations states, such as, South Dakota, Tennessee, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Indiana have each experienced an increase in the number of English language learners (ELLs) (Goldenberg, 2008). California, New York, Florida, Illinois, and New Jersey serve approximately 54% of the ELL population (Migration Policy Institute, 2015).

ELLs are the fastest growing group of students in the country. The demographic shift in the United States, mostly due to immigration, has created a more ethnically and linguistically diverse student population (Iddings, Combs, & Moll, 2012) with reports of over 14 million language minority students (August & Shanahan, 2006). In U.S. public schools English language learners represent different national origins and speak over 400 different languages (García, Arias, Murri-Harris, & Serna, 2010). Most of these students (77%), reported Spanish as their primary language spoken at home, followed by speakers of Asian languages (e.g., Vietnamese, Hmong, Chinese, Korean, Khmer, Laotian, Hindi, and Tagalog) (U.S. Department of Education, 2017). The number of students entering public schools who will speak a language other than English is projected to increase in both rural and urban public schools in the United States (Hyland, 2010; Rodriguez, Manner, & Darcy, 2010). In U.S. schools, many ELLs spend about 60% of their day in all-English classes and about 12% of all ELLs receive no services or support at all related to meeting their language needs; and nearly 50% of all ELLs receive all-English instruction, but with some amount of services (Goldenberg, 2008).

#### **Educating English Language Learners**

One of the main questions on the minds of practitioners, as well as researchers, is how to best educate English language learners (ELLs) in U. S. schools (Peercy, 2011; Stufft & Brogadir, 2011). Moreover, the discrepancies in the academic achievement of ELLs compared to native English speakers is cause for concern among educators, and for educational policy and practice. Prior analyses by the Pew Hispanic Center of assessment data uniformly indicate that ELL students are less likely than native English speakers to score at or above proficient levels in both mathematics and reading/language arts (Fry, 2008). A significant challenge has risen at the secondary level where students are expected to meet the language and academic demands in mainstream classes (Peercy, 2011).

Moreover, statistical analyses reported by the National Center of Educational Statistics (NCES) (2010) confirm that the achievement gap continues to plague our school systems. In comparison to any other minority groups, Hispanics have the greatest history of dropout rates and low college completion. It is estimated that almost one in two Hispanic students currently drops out of high school. In many cases, the achievement gap is complicated by issues of limited English language proficiency for a significant number of Hispanic (Latino) students. According to U.S. census data 37, 857, 699 students enrolled in K-12 grades speak Spanish. Of those, 58% speak English "very well", 17% speak English "well", 16% speak English "not well", and 8% speak English "not at all" (U.S. Census Bureau, 2016). Furthermore, about 40% enter some sort of postsecondary education; however, fewer than 20% complete a 4 year degree (García Bedolla, 2012). Spanish speaking students, who represent the largest group of culturally and linguistically diverse population in schools, have a higher dropout rate due to the lack of successful language acquisition and academic success (Boone, 2011).

#### **Educational Policy**

Presently, many more ELL students are being exited out of ESL or sheltered classrooms in middle and high school and entering mainstream classes. Sheltered instruction is an approach to teaching content curriculum to students learning a new language. Teachers employ techniques that make the content accessible and develop students' skills in the new language (Short, Fidelman, & Lougit 2012). In fact, in recent years in the United States, educational policy toward ELLs has become more stringent, viewing these students from a deficit perspective model and increasingly demanding that English alone be used in their education (García et al., 2010). For example, recent legislature initiatives such as those in California (Proposition 227), Arizona (Proposition 203), and Massachusetts (Question 2) emphasize the rapid transition of ELLs into general education classrooms and limit the number of years and scope of language support programs (Harper & de Jong, 2009). Although most teachers are willing to assist students from diverse backgrounds, most are limited in their knowledge and understanding of cultural diversity and issues of second language acquisition (de Oliveira & Athanases, 2007; Rodriguez et al., 2010). Throughout the literature on the context of schooling, there is widespread agreement among scholars and researchers that the need for well-prepared teachers is crucial to the academic success of ELLs (García et al., 2010). Teachers want to do what is right for all students, however as Calderón, Slavin and Sanchez (2011) note "without better supports for teachers, we cannot expect better student outcomes" (p. 119).

The lack of teacher knowledge regarding second language acquisition and inconsistent school practices in securing the best program model for ELLs further complicates the matter for both students and teachers (McIntyre, Kyle, Chen, Muñoz, and Beldon, 2010; de Oliveira & Athanases, 2007; Stufft & Brogadir, 2011). Additionally, research has shown that explicit attention to the linguistic and cultural needs of ELLs is lacking in most teacher preparation programs and in ongoing professional development of in-service teachers (Harper & de Jong, 2009; de Oliveira & Athanases, 2007; Bunch, 2013).

#### **School Structures**

The academic realities faced by ELL students as whole cannot be adequately understood without considering the social and economic characteristics of the schools they attend, and the institutional history of U.S. schools (García et al., 2010). "Students from culturally and linguistically diverse families, who are ELLs remain the most marginalized in school" (Scanlan & López, 2012). Urban schools, in particular, have a history of struggling to meet the needs of immigrants and native students (Stufft & Brogadir, 2011). ELLs have less exposure and access to highly qualified teachers and promising educational outcomes than Native English only peers (Darling-Hammond, 2010). Additionally, financial constraints, limited personnel, overcrowded classrooms, social and racial tensions and debate about curriculum and instruction have been noted as accounting for challenging aspects to English language learning (Stufft & Brogadir, 2011). In most cases, wide and persistent achievement disparities between English learners and English proficient students show clearly, the authors contend, that schools must address the language, literacy, and academic needs of English learners more

effectively (Calderón et al., 2011). Although much has been written about how to best instruct English Language learners and what effective schools should look like for ELLs, there is a disconnect between what the research indicates and what actually occurs in schools (e.g. Goldenberg, 2008; Cohen, McCabe, Michelli, & Pickeral (2009). In the following section, I will define the problem that this study will address in order to get a better understanding of how administrators, teachers, and counselors describe their roles in working with ELLs.

#### **Problem Statement**

Although the literature has a significant number of articles devoted exclusively to best practices for ELLs, recommendations, and suggestions for school administrators and teachers (Calderón et al., 2011; Helfrich & Bosh, 2011) and studies that show what effective schools should look like for meeting the needs of ELLs (Han & Bridglall, 2009), schools are still faced with the troubling fact that ELLs are underachieving (Hopkins, Thompson, Linquanti, Hakuta, & August, 2013). Many come to school lacking the necessary English language skills, have low academic achievement and have decided to leave school in unprecedented numbers; an estimated one in two Latino students currently drops out of high school (García Bedolla, 2012). Unfortunately, many of these students who aspire to complete their high school diploma and go on to college find themselves disillusioned with the system and fail to achieve what they refer to as the "American Dream."

Moreover, ELLs will soon constitute a large portion of the student population. According to the U.S. Department of Education, ELLs comprise 16.7% of public school enrollment in large cities and estimates from *the American Educator* expect this group to

grow to 40 percent of the U.S. population by 2050 (Weyer, 2015). This demographic trend and cultural diversity will have significant implications for our nation's schools. Language minority students will arrive at schools around the nation having different dialects, educational experiences, and cultural heritage as part of who they are. For these reasons, special attention has been given to the concept of social justice in schools. Moreover, racial, ethnic, and cultural dimensions of identity directly affect students in schools (Scanlan & López, 2012). The education that ELLs should receive is of paramount importance and one of the most enduring challenges in public education (Cavanaugh, 2009). Unfortunately, a school's capacity to support ELLs has not kept pace with the growing need to address their academic and linguistic needs (Hopkins et al., 2013). Research at the school level is of critical importance because through research and practice, educators and researchers have come to a better understanding of the strengths and needs of ELLs, emphasizing that schools need to be more reflective of the students they serve. Some researchers argue ELLs are not achieving academic success because schools have ignored what the literature says about the necessity of incorporating culturally responsive pedagogy, review existing ESL models (e.g., Honigsfeld, 2009) and to properly support the needs of ELLs through consistent professional development for all staff (Hopkins et al., 2013). Additionally, connecting and valuing the strengths of ELLs families is critical for academic success (Cohen et al., 2009; Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011). Moreover, inadequate educational policies have failed to provide a more cohesive plan to make certain that ELLs receive an adequate education with the proper supports (Goldenberg, 2008 & Rios-Aguilar, 2010). To clarify the intent of my study, I have outlined the purpose statement in the section below.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study is to understand, through a social justice theoretical lens, how teachers, administrators, and counselors describe their roles in relation to working with English language learners. Social justice is concerned with issues of sensitivity and being inclusive in order to achieve an equitable and just education for all students, in particular for ELLs. The central tenet in social justice leadership is that school leaders "must act as advocates in their schools and communities and, specifically, as advocates for the needs of marginalized students (Andersen, 2009). This advocacy stance is inherently connected to the growing number of ELLs in public schools and the historic marginalization of these students and their families. Taking up the charge of ensuring equitable and excellent education for ELLs is an essential component of social justice (Theoharis, 2007). Employing a social justice orientation to the education of ELLs is both critical and essential in today's school to ensure high quality educational programs for ELLs. As we are reminded by several researchers, "the education of ELLs is everyone's responsibility and not just from English as a Second Language teacher" (Berg, Petron, & Greybeck, 2012, p. 44).

Furthermore, for many immigrant students, schools are their first contact with the English language when they come to the U.S. Therefore, it is imperative to closely explore how individuals in a school describe their role in working with ELLs. I will use a social justice lens to explore how teachers, administrators, and counselors describe their roles in working with ELLs in their schools. In addition, I hope to examine the extent to which their descriptions reflect a social justice stance that is inclusive. An explanation of social justice and its framework will follow next.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework that will guide this study draws on the tenets of social justice theory by Theoharis (2007). Social justice leaders make issues of race, class, gender, disability, sexual orientation, and other historically and currently marginalized conditions central to their advocacy, leadership practice, and vision (Theoharis, 2007). Moreover, Theoharis posits that the need to create inclusive schooling practices for students with disabilities, ELLs and other students traditionally segregated in schools is essential to creating just schools. The term social justice is politically loaded and has numerous interpretations and meanings in the literature (Hytten & Bettez, 2011). It has its roots in educational disciplines like curriculum and pedagogy (Freire, 1998). For the purpose of this study, I will utilize Bell's (2007) description of education for social justice as "both a process and a goal" with the ultimate vision of "full and equal participation of all groups in a society that is mutually shaped by their needs" (p. 3).

Furthermore, researchers contend that social justice has gained the attention of educational scholars and practitioners in recent years as a result of the demographic changes, increased achievement and economic gaps of underserved populations, accountability pressures, and standardized testing (García Bedolla, 2012, Jean-Marie, Normore, Brooks, 2009; Hoppey & MCLeskey, 2010). Additionally, because of the growing numbers of ELLs in schools and the need to create more just schools, a social justice disposition has taken precedence in educational administration programs (Darling-Hammond, 2010; Theoharis, 2007) and in teaching and learning (Cochran et al., 2009; Sensoy & DiAngelo, 2012) with an emphasis on implementing culturally responsive pedagogy. Culturally responsive pedagogy has been defined by (Hayes & Juarez, 2012)

as an approach to teaching and learning that addresses the sociopolitical context of White supremacy within education and society over time while simultaneously fostering students' abilities to achieve high levels of academic success and cultural competence. Marshall and Oliva (2010) posit that the belief that students have the ability to learn and achieve academic success, given a positive supportive environment, is embedded into the culture of a socially just school.

Moreover, much of the literature on social justice is primarily centered on educational leaders, instruction, and models of effective schools. A socially just orientation requires educational leaders to interrogate the underlying causes and imagine leadership that can influence equitable, inclusive, and democratic educational experience for all students (Cooper, 2009). Place, Ballenger, Wasonga, Piveral and Edmonds (2010), in studying principals' perspectives of social justice in schools, noted that principals who raised social justice issues and made decisions in the best interest of students, though they may not be seen as popular, created inclusive environments. The authors concluded that leaders should be courageous in "doing what is best for students" (p. 538). Social justice supports the notion that educational leaders have a social and moral obligation to foster equitable school practices and outcomes for varying cultural backgrounds (Evans, 2007). The use of social justice as a theoretical orientation will provide a lens from which to explore how administrators, teachers, and counselors conceptualize their roles in working with ELLs. This will allow school personnel to reflect on their beliefs, assumptions, question institutional practices, and more consciously examine their responsibility and potential to serve and advocate for ELLs in their respective school. Hopefully, this study

will contribute to the importance of the varying roles that other school personnel play in creating socially schools, potentially leading to improved practices for ELLs.

A social justice perspective will be utilized to gain access to the fundamental understanding of what it means to lead for social justice, as well as how equity is distributed within the school environment. The phrase "social justice" appears in many school's mission statements and in educational reform proposals, however it is unclear, as Hytten and Bettez (2011) point out, what it means to invoke a vision of social justice or how this might influence issues such as program development, curricula, practicum opportunities, educational philosophy, social vision, and activist work.

There is a long history of educators in the United States who foreground social justice issues in their work and who are passionate about its centrality to schooling in a democratic society (García Bedolla, 2012; Hytten & Bettez, 2011). In a more practical approach to social justice, the literature contains numerous articles that offer criteria for what socially just practice in education looks like or should look like. Researchers and educational scholars offer advice and solutions to what should be present in a just school or in a teacher education program that is grounded on a vision of social justice, or of the competencies needed by teachers and leaders within a school to advocate for those that most marginalized. In terms of visions for social justice in schools, Calderón et al., (2011) offer one model built on four principles that have proven effective in working with ELLs. They recommend that a school's structure and leadership operate by collecting important data related to learning, teaching, attendance, behavior and other immediate outcomes, provide professional development, have standards of behavior and effective strategies in classrooms and school management, and leadership focused on

"high-reliability organization" (p. 58). Berg, Petron, and Greybeck, (2012) provide a list of five strategies for working with ELLs: understand academic background, make instruction meaningful, make instruction culturally responsive, foster interaction, and make materials comprehensible.

Additionally, Scanlan and Lopez (2012) explain how school leaders can use research literature to craft effective and integrated service delivery to meet the needs of culturally and linguistically diverse students. In their proposed model, they emphasize cultivating language proficiency, ensuring high-quality curriculum, and promoting sociocultural integration to guide service delivery regarding culturally and linguistically diverse students. An example of such is offered by Theoharis and O'Toole's (2011) study where two principals engaged in creating a more socially just school for ELLs. One principal adopted a dual certification model, where staff receives professional development around ELLs. The other principal adopted a co teaching model where teams of general education teachers and English as second language (ESL) teachers planned as a team. The success of each of these schools helped the authors realize that socially just practices are possible for ELLs when school leaders are willing to actively engage in struggles and often difficult processes that lead to inclusive practices and mind-sets (p. 686). Moreover, García et al., 2010) suggest that teacher education programs should work to develop responsive teacher's knowledge that is rooted in the school community and the university setting. They argue that based on the demographic changes it is imperative that teacher's preparation become more connected to the schools and communities where ELLs reside (p. 139).

Jean-Marie et al. (2009) in their review of current literature on preparing 21<sup>st</sup> century school leaders for a new social order, claim that there is a need to increase the knowledge base for effective, socially just schools that support the learning of all students. They contend that leadership programs should promote opportunities for critical reflection, leadership praxis, critical discourse, and develop critical pedagogy related to issues of ethics, inclusion, democratic schooling, and social justice (p. 20).

Hytten and Bettez (2011) note that rather than coming to a consensus about what social justice means, it is more about developing alliances that help us to more effectively center a social justice agenda in schools and society- "especially at a time when the commitment to social justice in education seems to be wavering" (p. 21). Given the many definitions and perceptions attributed to social justice in the literature, it is imperative "to get a better sense of how people are calling upon the idea and the range of priorities and visions they hold" (Hytten & Bettez, 2011, p. 10). The research question that follows is intended to explore how administrators, teachers, and counselors view their roles in working with ELLs.

#### **Research Questions**

The most important tenet in social justice theory states that the purpose of an education in a democratic society should be to create an environment that is inclusive, offering the best opportunities for academic success of all students. When school personnel engage in such discourse and are willing to ask the difficult questions of themselves and the organization, then progress can be achieved (Goldenberg, 2008, Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011). The following overarching research question was designed to gain an understanding of the lived experiences of the study participants: How do

administrators, teachers, and counselors describe their roles in working with English language learners?

An additional research question will follow the overarching research question to explore teachers, counselor, and administrators views of the benefits and challenges of working with ELLs in terms of the following sub question:

How do teachers, counselor, and administrators describe the benefits and challenges in working with ELLs?

#### **Definition of Key Terms**

The following terms will be used throughout this study. *English language learners* (ELLs) refers to students whose native language is other than English and whose English proficiency is not yet developed to a point where they can profit from mainstream English instruction or communication geared toward students whose first language is English. In the literature or studies the term English language learners are also referred to as *Limited English Proficient* (LEP), *English learner* (EL), *Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Students*, and *Language Minority Students* (García et al., 2010). *Hispanic* is a term used to refer to individuals of Puerto Rican, Mexican, Cuban, Central or South America origin (U.S. Census Bureau, 2010). *Latino/as* refers to individuals who identify themselves as citizens or descendants from any Latin American country.

*Social Justice* refers to the full and equal participation of all groups in a society that is mutually shaped to meet their needs (Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011).

Throughout this study, I will use the term Hispanic. The term Latino/a is often used interchangeably with Hispanic across the literature. I will use Hispanic as a way to refer to the local community and school in which this study will be conducted. The term

Hispanic seems most suitable as there seems to be no universally acceptable way to describe the individual differences that exists within this U.S. population.

#### Significance of Study

The goal of this study will be to continue the discourse that already exists in the literature about the need to create inclusive schools and practices that place the needs of English language learners first from a social justice orientation. As the U.S. demographics changes and the number of ELLs entering the public school system needing language services is expected to grow, educators are faced with the challenge to effectively support these students' academic achievement; schools across the country need to consider the type of ESL program and services currently being offered at their schools (Honigsfeld, 2009; Stufft & Brogadir, 2011). According to the U.S. Department of Education (2010) report U.S. schools serve 11 million students whose first language is not English, representing an estimated 20% of the National enrollment (Aud, Fox, & KewalRamani, 2010). Moreover, a school's culture and climate has a profound effect on the educational outcomes of ELLs. In general, ELLs that feel most connected to their school and who have teachers who respect their cultural and educational experiences have a better chance of graduating from high school (McMahon, Wernsman, & Rose, 2009; Scanlan & López, 2012). "A sustainable, positive school climate fosters youth development and learning necessary for productive, contributive, and satisfying life in a democratic society" (Cohen et al., 2009, p. 182).

Despite the increase of social justice work in education, inequitable educational opportunities for ELLs continue to persist (Borman & Dowling, 2010), in particular for those ELLs at the high school level. These students struggle because they have had less

time to learn English; therefore, they struggle to meet the language and academic demands in general education classrooms. The high dropout rate of Latino students has a greater impact on our nation's economy. Boone (2011) asserts that youth that fails to complete their high school education will more likely face long periods of unemployment and or will earn substantially lower wages than a college-educated person.

Ultimately, the purpose of this study is an attempt to raise awareness among administrators, teachers, and counselors to reflect on their roles in working toward a more unified, inclusive practice in their schools. Schools operating from a social justice perspective align themselves with the belief that all students can learn and that they deserve the opportunities to do so. Education for social justice is concerned and seeks to improve the human condition and strives to end the oppression experienced by marginalized groups in our society. Its orientation redirects the focus from the individual, as ELLs are often viewed from a deficit perspective to a more communal good of what is fair and just (Bell, 1997; Marshall & Olivia, 2010; & Nieto, 2010).

My hope is that this study will inspire those working in a school community to develop reflective practices by exploring how they describe their roles in working with ELLs. Additionally, I hope that those who participate in the study will take up the challenge to serve as advocates for ELLs who need their support and encouragement as they learn a new language, acclimate to a new culture and deal with the expectations of attending U.S. schools. Additionally, I hope this study makes a case for continued dialogue among researchers, educators, and policy makers to embark on a quest to create school structures that are fair and equitable for ELLs. In the next section I will highlight some of the potential limitations of the study. My intent is best stated by Cohen et al. (2009) "When educators

and policy makers know, with some certainty, how we can improve schools and learning, it is our moral responsibility to act on that knowledge" (p. 183).

#### Limitations

The purpose of this section is to delineate the limits of this study. Since the purpose of phenomenology is to capture of the lived experiences of individuals in their natural settings (Creswell, 2009), it is more concerned with real-life experiences and not with causality or the impacts of educational interventions. According to this methodology, interpretation is more important than causation (Denzin, 1994). Moreover, it is not vested in giving explanations for things or to generalize beyond an individual's perceptions (Selvi, 2010; Creswell, 2007; 2009).

Since the intent of phenomenology as a form of qualitative inquiry is not to generalize findings to individuals, sites, or places outside of those under study, the first limitation of this research centers on the issue of generalizability (Creswell, 2009). The decisions that I will make in selecting the participants, the number of participants, setting, interviews, and focus group participants, will impact the data that will eventually be collected. Although on a greater scheme of things it would be wise to include more individuals in this study to contribute to their roles in working with ELLs from a social justice orientation, I will purposely select four administrators, four teachers from various disciplines (Math, Science, Social Studies, Language Arts), and one ESL teacher. Additionally, data collection and analysis will be focused on the methodology of increasing awareness to an issue or problem based on its context and not for the purpose of generalizations.

A second limitation of this study is the small sample of participants that will be purposely selected from one geographic area and context. Therefore, the results of this study are not generalizable to other schools and regions of the country. Consequently, the findings will be limited in scope. However, insight to be gained from interviewing administrators, teachers, and counselors has the potential to generate rich and varied descriptions that will contribute to the knowledge base about social justice conceptualizations when individuals in a school setting are faced with a social justice dilemma.

A major limitation to this study will be how I frame the study from my own personal experiences and point of view. Qualitative inquiry begins with the internal search to discover, with an encompassing puzzlement, a passionate desire to know, a devotion and commitment to pursue a question that is strongly connected to one's own identity and selfhood (Moustakas, 2001). My personal background and personal experience will undoubtedly impact my interpretations and reflections throughout this study. In narrowing my focus on how administrators, teachers, and counselors view their roles in working with ELLs, I will be limited to these individuals' perceptions and not have opportunity to explore the roles of other individuals in the school community.

#### How I came to the Research

This study grew out of my personal experience as school counselor in a public school. I started my job in 2007 in a district where a significant number of the students are Hispanic (47%). I was responsible for working with students in the 5<sup>th</sup> grade. At the time, there were approximately 15 English language learners (ELLs) in the school in grade five and six combined. I would follow these students and their families until 8<sup>th</sup>

grade graduation. One of my immediate reactions to the school environment was the small number of Spanish-speaking staff. Most of the teachers were White and monolingual. The only bilingual staff members in the building were myself and two other teachers. Communication between teachers and their students was nonexistent as most teachers and staff spoke only English, including the ESL teacher. To complicate matters, the administration and building secretaries did not speak Spanish.

Over the past seven years, the enrollment of ELLs continued to grow, and I became deeply engaged in raising faculty awareness of the issues faced by ELLs. I made it my goal to make certain that the level of services provided to these students was optimal. As a counselor committed to serving others, I took up the challenge to make a difference in their lives. It was not just the right thing to do for me, it was personal, and I see it as my moral obligation to advocate for ELLs and their families. This passion grew out of the many inequities that I have witnessed in working with ELLs at the school. I had continuous meetings with the principal and teachers who expressed a desire to learn more about how to teach ELLs. Much to my dismay, as a district we failed to consider the needs of these students. The two years that I spent at the middle school, there was never professional development offered to teachers about ELLs. For the most part, it appeared to be my responsibility being that I was bilingual, shared the same culture, and could relate to the students and their families. Often, I served as an interpreter for families entering the district as well as for students. I became a source of information related to the cultural, social and emotional support teachers needed, as well as for the district

In 2012, I received a call from the district offering me the opportunity to move to the high school and I accepted. At the high school, the issues and problems faced by ELLs were even more alarming and a cause for concern. Many of the ELLs have failed to pass state exams, many are over age, under credited, and have failed many of their general education classes. The ELLs receive one period of ESL and one period of English (beginner, intermediate, and advanced level). The rest of the day these students are in general classes with no language or academic support. I started working at the high school in 2011 and was not assigned to work with the ELLs. However, I was constantly requested to translate information in Spanish to parents and students. Noticing the need to assist ELLs and their parents, I spoke to my supervisor and requested that I manage all ELLs (Spanish) speaking students. Most of our ELLs are Spanish speaking. This made sense because I am bilingual and able to communicate with families and students. This year, my counseling caseload consists of all ELLs regardless of native language. I spend most of the time advocating for more supportive services for these students. I feel that it is my sole responsibility to advocate in making certain that they are not left behind.

Often times, I wondered how we, as a district, expect ELLs to succeed if we do not provide them with the necessary academic and language support. Apart from an ESL teacher, ELLs have no other support systems in the school. During my second year at the high school, I continued my endeavor to seek academic supports advocate for services for our ELLs. I have been able to develop a good rapport with many of the teachers and I assist them in developing an understanding of the issues faced by ELLs from a cultural perspective and from an academic view point. From my personal conversations with teachers, the majority feel unprepared to teach and to successfully reach their ELLs. I

have also encountered resistance from some faculty, members which has been disheartening. In general, I have had the misfortune of hearing teachers refer to ELLs as "lazy" and "unmotivated." I have witnessed teachers who make little effort to work with ELLs.

My unwavering commitment to help ELLs continues. In 2012, I reached out to the superintendent to express my concerns about our district's ELLs. Many of our ELLs were failing courses and the general education teachers' lack of knowledge, and the number of students who consider dropping out of school was cause for concern. As a result of this, the superintendent, principal, ESL teacher, and our director of curriculum and instruction met to discuss possible solutions to the current of our ELLs. At this meeting, I was charged with the responsibility to research schools that have implemented the Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol (SIOP) model, a sheltered instruction approach geared toward providing support for ELLs in general education classes. Although external factors continued to take precedence over the need to address our ESL population, I encouraged the principal to visit a model (SIOP) school. In 2012, the principal of the school, myself, and the ESL teacher visited a school in North Jersey. Although we had a favorable visit and there was interest to add instructional support for ELL students along with teacher training, we had a setback. There was a change in administration and the ESL teacher transferred to another school. At the present time, I continue to work with our administration and the Director of Elementary Education to advocate for services, such as teacher training and academic support for our ELLs. My own personal experiences and those within the school have contributed to the design and ideas for this study. I will highlight my positionality below.

#### Positionality

In a qualitative study, the researcher is the main instrument to make sense of phenomena (Merriam, 2009). As such, recognizing the researchers' positionality, the lens from which the researcher formulated his or her study is critical to the readers understanding of the assumptions that influence how the research evolved, analysis, and represents the findings of the study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

As a school counselor, educator, and of Hispanic descent, I have experienced the public school system in the U.S. in various capacities. Who I am as a researcher and person is a direct result of my race, class, gender and my close relationship to the students and families that I have served throughout my career as a school counselor. I have a strong bias toward the inclusive practices of all students, especially of ELLs. I firmly believe that everyone in a school system has the responsibility and plays an essential role in educating and meeting the needs of ELLs.

My perspective as a researcher, my beliefs about research, the methodologies I choose, and the question I will attempt to address, have been built on my prior knowledge, personal experiences, and professional biases which influence how I approach each situation.

"Interpretive research begins with and ends with the biography and self of the researcher" (Denzin, 1986, p. 12). This study emerged as I observed school practices related to ELLs, personal conversations with teachers, and review of data related to low-achieving ELLs.

#### Conclusion

The rapidly changing demographics in the U.S. public schools will require significant changes in how schools operate. U.S. schools are responsible for meeting the educational needs of an increasingly diverse student population (U.S. Department of Education, 2010). Moreover, an estimated 5 million ELLs were enrolled in U.S. schools during the 2010-2011 school years (Aud et al., 2013). ELLs are a diverse and growing school-aged population in K-12 schools, with varied linguistic, economic, and cultural backgrounds which present a unique need and challenges to a school community (DeCapua & Marshall & Olivia, 2010). Nationwide, the number of ELLs in the U.S. has increased by more than 10% in the past decade, although variations exist across states.

The challenges that these circumstances present can be particularly significant at the secondary level, where an increasing number of ELLs are entering the U.S. school system for the first time (Dutro, Levy, Moore, 2011; & Peercy, 2012), including those with interrupted formal education or limited native language literacy (Juarez & Hayes, 2010). Additionally, "long-term ELLs," which includes students that have been enrolled in U.S. schools for many years without exiting ELL status, are also a challenge for many secondary schools (Menken, Kleyn, & Chae, 2012). ELLs at the high school are less likely to pass high school proficiency tests and are more likely to drop out of school than their English-speaking peers (García Bedolla, 2012).

Researchers and scholars have noted that the educational success of ELLs is comprised of the services and opportunities, incorporating funds of knowledge, and practicing culturally responsive teaching and learning that embrace the whole student (Araujo, 2009). In many cases, teacher education programs treat the teaching of second

language learners as an afterthought or as the responsibility of ELL teachers (Sowa, 2009). With the increase of ELLs in general education classrooms, it is imperative to prepare all teachers to teach ELLs (Sowa, 2009; Lucas, Villegas, Freedson-Gonzalez, 2008).

#### Overview

Chapter 2 provides a review of the scholarly literature that relates to this study. This section includes a brief overview of the demographic landscape in the U.S., as well as information regarding the number of ELLs that currently make up in U.S. public schools. In addition, literature on culturally responsive teaching and teacher education programs are discussed. Studies relative to meeting the needs of ELLs are also conveyed. Social justice is further explored in this section which provides the lens from which this study is supported.

Chapter 3 provides a detailed description of the methodology and procedures chosen for this study. This section includes a description of the context of the study, including the school, district, and community, an overview of the chosen population and participants, the methodological approach, the data collection process and sources of data, and the data analysis.

Chapter 4 presents the findings of this study. Chapter 5 presents the conclusions of the study. It describes the implications for teachers, administrators, school counselors, and policy makers and future directions for research related to ELLs in high schools.

#### Chapter 2

#### **Review of Literature**

As the growing number of ELLs in U.S. public schools continues to increase, it is essential for school principals, counselors, and teachers to critically reflect on meeting the needs of ELLs from a social justice perspective. There are six bodies of literature that ground this study of how teachers, principals, and counselors describe their roles in working with ELLs. The first body of literature focuses attention on the changing demographics in U.S. schools, situating the need for paying closer attention to the academic success of ELLs. The second body of literature considers what research studies say about teachers' attitudes, perceptions, and beliefs toward ELLs. The third body of literature focuses on teacher education programs for pre-service and in-service teachers in preparing them to teach a diverse group of students. The fourth body of literature examines the impact of educational policy with regards to ELLs in U.S. public schools. The sixth body of literature concerns the need for social justice in schools and how this requires a change in thinking about ELLs.

#### The Landscape of ELLs in U.S. Classrooms

The demographics of the U.S. classrooms have changed, becoming more diverse at a rapid rate. Schools are now serving a greater majority of ELLs: both native and nonnative born students. The number of ELLs is expected to grow significantly in the next decade. Between the fall 2011 and projections for fall 2021, the number of White students enrolled in U.S. public schools is projected to decrease, from 25.9 million to 25.3 million, and their share of enrollment is expected to decline to 48%. The number of

Hispanic public school students is projected to increase from 7.9 million in 2011 to 14.2 million in 2021, representing a 27% share of enrollment (The Condition of Education, 2013). An estimated 16.7% of Hispanic students in U.S. schools are ELLs and the population is expected to grow to 40% by 2050 (Weyers, 2015). According to the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES, 2012), in many U.S. schools, on average, White students represent only 52% of the students of the school population, and 21% of the students speak a language other than English at home. Given these statistics of the growing numbers of ELLs in the United States school-age population, teacher educators need to act to prepare all future teachers to effectively work with ELLs (Lucas et al., 2008; Roy-Campbell, 2013).

#### **ELLs: A Diverse Population**

Language diversity. Of the dozen or so language spoken in today's schools, Spanish is the most widely used. Over 73% of the ELLs in U.S. public schools are native Spanish speakers (Migration Policy Institute, 2015). Although Spanish is the predominant language used by many ELLs in 43 states, Chinese, Somali, and American Indian languages are the languages most spoken by ELLs respectively in Montana, North Dakota, Maine, South Dakota, Vermont, Hawaii, and Alaska (Migration Policy Institute, 2015). In fact, there are over 400 languages spoken in U.S. schools (García et al., 2010; Roy-Campbell, 2013). The demographics of the U.S. are changing, and the number of ELLs is expected to increase in both rural and urban public schools in the U.S. (Hyland, 2010; Madhlangobe & Gordon, 2012). Consequently, language diversity reflects both long and recent historical and demographic trends in U.S. schools around the country.

ELLs come from countries from around the world. Children of immigrants are the fastest growing population and are transforming the current landscape in American public schools by making it more culturally and linguistically diverse (Ates, Kim, & Grigsby, 2015). About two-thirds of ELLs are from low-income families. Most ELLs were born in the U.S. and often are second or third generation U.S. citizens. Many have little to no knowledge of the English language when they arrive, and some may have had different levels of schooling (de Schonewise Almanza & Klingner, 2012). The majorities of these students have a difficult time negotiating classroom expectations, perform poorly on state-tests, and drop-out before receiving a high school diploma (García Bedolla, 2012). The diversity of ELLs is such that some may have attended school in their native country, are educated and are ready to meet the demands of grade-level work. Therefore, teachers must consider a student's cultural, linguistic, and educational background when planning classroom instruction. In addition, teachers will need to develop the skills and strategies for connecting with students who differ from their own backgrounds (Gay, 2010; Nieto, 2010). Heineke, Coleman, Ferrell, and Kersemeier (2012) posit that teachers must acknowledge and address the challenges and issues related to linguistic diversity if they are to improve the academic outcomes of ELLs.

According to several scholars, linguistic diversity is most apparent in U. S. schools (Linn & Hemmer, 2011; Nelson & Guerra, 2014). This diverse representation of languages creates a tremendous challenge on local schools that have the responsibility for educating these students. In fact, it is well documented in the literature that educational systems struggle to support the needs of culturally diverse students (Collins, 2014; Sailes, 2008), in particular ELLs (Heineke et al., 2012). ELLs must learn English while

simultaneously being expected to meet the demands of understanding academic content. Consequently, ELLs often do not fare well academically compared to their English only peers. This is most apparent and especially troubling at the secondary level where the content is more challenging and English language proficiency is necessary for academic success (Peercey, 2012; de Schonwise & Klingner, 2012).

Furthermore, as the diversity in student body continues to change from year to year, our teacher population does not reflect this diverse student population. Eighty to ninety percent of the teaching population is White and female and speak only English (Brown-Jeffy & Cooper, 2011; Feistritzer, 2011; Lowenstein, 2009). The method of instruction is mainly monolingual, taught by teachers who have little to no preparation or knowledge in second language acquisition (Berg, Petrón, Greybeck, 2012; Calderón, et al., 2011) and have little to no direct interaction with people from diverse cultural backgrounds (de Oliveira & Athaneses, 2007; Feistritzer, 2011; Rodriguez et al., 2010). ELLs do not seem well supported in the classroom because many teachers lack the understanding of how their roles and teaching approaches can best support ELLs' needs (Yoon, 2008). Through their research, Dove and Honigsfeld (2010) have found that teachers often admit that they lack understanding of ELLs sociocultural, linguistic, academic, and social needs. Additionally, they concluded that teachers work in isolation without much support, which precludes them from knowing how to best assist their ELLs.

It is evident that such a disparity in understanding, knowledge, and experience in educating ELLs is cause for concern. As the number of linguistically diverse students continues to grow, Heineke et al. (2012) assert that, "educators must acknowledge and

address the challenges and issues related to linguistic difference" (p. 130). Based on their research, Heineke and colleagues offer recommendations necessary for building linguistically responsive schools. This includes negotiating language policy and practice, laying the ideological groundwork for school change; building school structures and support systems; and fostering collaborative communities of learners.

#### **Cultural Diversity**

The cultural diversity ELLs bring to school is tied into their linguistic development, and as such, needs to be considered when developing curriculum and instruction (de Schonewise & Klingner, 2012; Nieto, 2000). Students identified as culturally and linguistically diverse represent a large majority of the U.S. student population (Sullivan, 2011), with ELLs comprising the fastest subgroup (Honigsfeld, 2009). ELLs come to school with diverse cultural experiences and languages; these characteristics need to be considered in order to fully support the academic needs of this population (Goldenberg, 2008). Culture is critical for learning as cultural practices shape cognitive processes that serve the foundation for learning both in and out of school (Han & Bridglall, 2009). Therefore, schools need to critically reflect on building meaningful learning environments that will be enhanced through the recognition of students' background and identities in instruction (Echevarria & Vogt, 2010).

Furthermore, the cultural deprivation explanation views low-income and minority students' cultural capital in the home and communities as a major factor that explains their low academic achievement (Gay, 2010; Souto-Manning & Mitchell, 2010). The cultural deficit mentality continues to be present in schools today, is internalized by teachers, and results in low teacher expectation and uninspiring teaching in schools

(Greene, 2004). Nelson and Guerra (2014) for example, conducted a qualitative study of 111 teachers and educational leaders at two school districts in Texas and Michigan that examined educator beliefs and cultural knowledge about diverse students and families. They reported that most participants appear to have a general awareness of culture, but also hold a number of deficit beliefs about diverse students and families. Other studies have reported similar findings (e.g., Castro, 2010; Gay, 2010). Unfortunately, differences in culture, race, and nation of origin are often conceived of as educational obstacles, rather than resources (Grainger & Jones, 2013). Sullivan and Bal (2013) posits "this ideology is reflected in educational practices that tend to reify White, monolingual, U.S. born students as the norm and present ELL students as the "other" (p. 387). In order to address the impact of deficits in schools, teachers need better preparation through teacher education programs and professional development programs. García and Guerra (2011) state that it is important for teachers to have a full understanding of the subject matter they will teach. However, it is more important for teachers to understand the students they will teach, and to enhance their understanding of how to deconstruct deficit thinking through professional development. Moreover, Van Roekel (2011), in his National Education Association (NEA) policy brief, affirms that in order to maximize achievement opportunities for ELLs, educators must understand and appreciate students' different cultural backgrounds.

Contrary to the deficit perspectives regarding culture, there are promising efforts made by teacher education programs to examine the significance of developing teacher candidates with the knowledge of cultural diversity. Research studies have confirmed that schools that operate to understand and appreciate cultural and linguistic diversity have

students that are more engaged and are more academically successful (Gay, 2010). As a result of shifts in ethnicity and culture in today' schools, multicultural education has become an imperative means of addressing the diverse cultures that exists in U.S. public schools, (Assaf, Garza, & Battle's (2010). Research in the field of teacher education asserts that it is important to examine teacher educators' beliefs and attitudes about diversity because they play a pivotal role in the shaping beliefs and attitudes of future teachers. For example, Assaf et al. (2010) self-study examined the perceptions, practices, and coherence in one teacher education program at a southwestern university. Fourteen teacher educators including two of the authors participated in the study. They utilized Cochran-Smith's (2003) multicultural conceptual framework to examine the beliefs and attitudes of teacher educators. Findings revealed that all the teacher educators held the belief that multicultural education should build on students' ethnic and linguistic differences. However, many expressed concerns about the ethnic differences between candidates and the students they will teach in schools. In order to be responsive, some believed that teacher candidates should learn to take an interest in their students' ethnic backgrounds through field-experiences. One teacher noted, "If we get a student and we are not sure about their culture, instead of judging them right away, I think we need to do a little research or look something up." Another suggested bringing in experts in the field to talk to teacher candidates: "Maybe bring in some experts that have taught people of these cultures and have them share how they learn in their country or what are some of the important things...you know they can advise us" (p. 128). Through their study, participants became more cognizant of the importance of talking about racism in relation to multicultural teaching and learning, and how colorblind perspectives, often

unintentional, can negatively affect student learning. More importantly, these findings suggest that the teacher educators' varied perspectives and practices may not reflect a coherent program in which faculty members have a collective purpose and a central focus for multiculturalism in school settings. Assaf and colleagues note, "if teacher educators hope to positively influence the success of culturally and linguistically diverse students, then we must continuously assess our thinking and classroom practice to improve the way we educate future teachers" (p. 130). The authors offer the following recommendations for teacher education programs: 1) deans of colleges and chairs of teacher education programs should provide teacher educators' the time and professional support to develop coherent programs; 2) since teacher education programs work closely with school districts and community groups, a cohesive program should consider the goals and needs of the local community; and 3) teacher educators should volunteer in community-based field experiences to gain valuable resources for understanding students, for understanding contextual factors significant to learning in diverse school settings, and for providing opportunities for linking community, schools, and university goals.

# Achievement Gap

The academic disparities between ELLs and English peers continue to plague our educational system even though efforts to the contrary have been documented to reduce the achievement gap among students (Sandy & Duncan, 2010). Researchers consistently find wide disparities between the academic achievement of ELLs and their Englishproficient counterparts. These gaps signal a need for increased teacher and staff preparation, a whole-school commitment to the English learner population, and the need for home-school linkages and collaborations, so that schools can more effectively address

the needs of these students' language, literacy, and core content needs (Calderón et al., 2011, p. 106).

Furthermore, the academic success of ELLs is significantly affected by the low number of ESL teachers, and the lack of teacher preparation in comparison to the varied needs of ELLs (Bunch, 2013). It is estimated that 7,000 students drop out of school each day, and nationwide only about 70% of students graduate with a high school diploma (Boone, 2011). Moreover, The National Center of Education Statistics (2012) reports that on reading assessments (NAEP), 69% of ELLs scored below the basic range with only 31% scoring at or above the proficient level. On the other hand, 44% of White students scored at or above the proficient level (Hussar & Bailey, 2011). These statistics further support (Calderón et al., 2011) the assertion that closing the achievement gaps means closing similar gaps in teacher education programs and ongoing professional development.

## The Education of ELLs in U.S. Schools

The education of ELLs has been of great concern throughout our nation's history. The implications for schools and teachers is great as ELLs are a linguistically, culturally, and educationally heterogeneous population (DeCapua & Marshall, 2011), as well as varying in social, and emotional needs (Roy-Campbell, 2013). Scholars and researchers alike have noted that upon arrival to the U.S., public schools are the first meaningful experience they receive in the English language and acculturation. The most common program model serving ELLs students in U.S. schools is the "pull-out" model. In this model, students spend most of their day in general education classrooms with native speakers English-speaking peers and teachers. At some point during the day they are

pulled out for ESL instruction. Further, schools are expected and required to assist these students to acclimate to the school culture, learn English, and most importantly graduate from high school. English language learners in high school present schools with an even greater challenge. These students are not only expected to master academic content, often with minimal background knowledge or preparation, but also have fewer years to master the English language (Calderón et al., 2011).

A number of scholarly articles are available in the literature that specifically focuses on effective strategies and instructional practices that teachers could utilize to promote and support ELLs learning. These articles include content specific instructional strategies to more general recommendations for administrators and teachers to effectively work with ELLs (e.g. Calderón et al., 2011; DelliCarpini & Dailey, 2009; Helfrich & Bosh, 2011). For example, from their experience as teachers of English as a Second Language, DelliCarpini and Dailey (2009) summarized their ideas of best practices with ELLs. They include: to compassionately understand ELLs, educators must fully experience language for themselves, ELLs must feel welcomed into the English-speaking culture, particularly in the early stages, social activities, and connections can launch the language learning experience. When there is sufficient scaffold input, language is actually acquired not just learned. Although teachers have at their disposal numerous articles and books that specifically address their academic, social, and personal needs, ELLs continue to underachieve (Hopkins et al., 2013).

Moreover, throughout the literature, consensus has established some key research findings for teaching ELLs, which emphasize the development of oral language

(McGraner & Saenz, 2009), focus on academic language (Aimny & Karanthanos, 2011), and emphasize culturally inclusive practices (Gay, 2010; Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011).

Unfortunately, this necessary knowledge is often not present in the requirements of teacher education programs (Bunch, 2013), in state certification exams, or in school based teacher evaluations (Samson & Collins, 2012). The obstacles faced by ELLs in schools are well documented in the literature. An examination of school characteristics and educational outcomes reveals pervasive disparities in resources (Nagel, 2016), opportunities to learn, access and representation in honors or advanced placement courses (Callahan, Wilkinson, & Muller, 2010) relative to their White peers (Braboy, Castagno, & Maughan, 2007); inadequate teacher training (Gandara & Hopkins, 2010); and curricular isolation (Fraturra & Capper, 2007; Dove & Honigsfeld, 2010). Jiménez-Castellanos and García (2017) review of the cost study literature revealed that: 1) states are not allocating sufficient funds to adequately support K-12 ELL population; 2) ELLs are inconsistently addressed across the cost study literature, and 3) current costing out methods need to be adapted better to account for the diverse and complex needs of ELLs (p. 204).

Additionally, within the ESL context, Dove and Honigsfeld (2010) observed that in many districts ESL directors are preoccupied with managing a program, which often takes precedence over instructional practices, and are not readily available to assist teachers or provide ongoing professional support. The education ELLs should receive is of paramount importance and one of the most difficult challenges in public education (Cavanaugh, 2009). Unfortunately, it is well documented that a school's capacity to support ELLs has not kept pace with the ongoing needs of ELLs academic and linguistic

needs (Hopkins et al., 2013). The lack of teacher knowledge about second language acquisition and inconsistent school practices in securing the best possible ELL model complicates the matter for both students and teachers (McIntyre et al., 2010; Beldon, 2010; de Oliveira & Athanases, 2007; Stufft & Brogadir, 2011).

The ongoing debate about the use of a student's native language leads to further discrepancies in the type of instruction that ELLs receive in U.S. schools. Many argue that allowing students to use their native language interferes with their English learning. On the contrary, numerous research studies have shown that using a student's native language during academic instruction is vital to the academic development of ELLs (August, Goldenberg, & Rueda, 2010 & Karanthanos, 2009). In fact, being fluent in two languages enhances cognitive and social growth (Hakuta, 2011). However, many schools around the U.S. continue to place ELLs in all English classrooms with little to no language support in their native language. Studies have consistently shown that students who are able to use their native language have greater academic gains than students who are placed in English only classrooms (Hakuta, 2011).

Through his work in language development, Cummins (2001) asserts that teachers have the misconception and do not fully comprehend ELL students' language development; with many believing it takes 2 to 3 years to develop oral language fluency in second language acquisition. Cummins contributed to an understanding of the language students brings to the school as Basic Interpersonal Communications Skills (BICS) or social language. From there students move on to develop what he refers to as Cognitive Academic Language Proficiency (CALP). Researchers note that a large majority of ELLs may have a good command of the social language, which leads teachers

and others to believe that they know enough English to succeed in the classroom. While this is useful for day-to-day conversations, it is not enough for students to meet the demands and expectations in academic content. Experts in the field of second language explain that it takes 4 to 7 years to develop cognitive academic language proficiency in another language (Cummins, 2000 & Goldenberg, 2008).

Researchers and proponents of the use of native language argue that students who are learning English should receive content instruction in their native language until they achieve academic proficiency in English. In fact, with respect to home-language (L1) proficiency, it is well documented that home language literacy development supports second language literacy (Bunch, 2013; Cummins, 2001). The use of a student's native language would give ELLs the opportunity to compete academically with their English only peers (August, Goldenberg, & Rueda, 2010 & Karanthanos, 2009).

As aforementioned, these arguments set the stage for U.S. public schools, policymakers and those in authority to advocate for social justice and to pursue a culturally relevant education for ELLs. As Lazar (2013) notes, teaching for social justice entails taking a critical look at understanding students and advocating for them.

### Language Acquisition Policies

In classrooms across the U.S., language policies guide how teachers support and develop the language abilities of students identified as ELLs. As part of the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), which made accountability greater for those teaching ELLs, legislators changed the federal directives for teaching ELLs by replacing the Bilingual Education Act with the English Language Acquisition Act, demonstrating a shift in language education from multilingual to monolingual (Heineke & Cameron, 2013). The

English-only movement began in 1981 with Senator Samuel Ichiye Hayakawa in which he introduced a constitutional amendment to establish English as the official language of the U.S. In his speech to Congress, Senator Hayakawa asserted that it was necessary to declare English as the sole language because "separate languages can fracture and fragment a society." Although his amendment failed at the federal level, the state governments took matters into their own hands. In the year 2014, thirty-one states have enacted such official English laws (O'Sullivan, 2015). States like California (Proposition 227), Arizona (Proposition, 203), and Massachusetts (Questions 2)-have officially passed and enforced English-only language policies. In Arizona and California, Bilingual Education was replaced with Sheltered English Immersion (SEI) model. This model is designed to include native language support; however, the SEI model mandated in Arizona and California cannot exceed one year and limits native language support (Lopez & McEneaney, 2012; O'Sullivan, 2015). Arizona's model is designed to accelerate the learning of the English language with the goal for ELLs to become fluent or proficient in English in one year.

The literature on language policy indicates that the dilemma is not about ELLs learning English; it is about whether language policies address the needs of ELLs. Research studies conducted on the nature and outcome of language policies of ELLs reveals that these students have not made much academic progress. There is also agreement among teachers that policies in general do not advance an ELLs proficiency in English. Rios-Aguilar, González-Canché, and Moll, (2010) conducted a study of 880 elementary and secondary teachers from 8 districts that examined teachers' beliefs, opinions, and knowledge regarding effective pedagogical and curricular strategies to

teach ELLs in a 4- hour block in an English Immersion model. Teacher surveys revealed that many teachers felt that the goals of the program were not met, adding that there was little to no acceleration of ELLs English proficiency. Additionally, most teachers believed that ELL students would not be able to gain English proficiency in one year. Moreover, most teachers thought that the 4-hour block was not effective in providing access to the academic content needed to succeed in school. Teachers reported that less than 50% of their ELL students met grade-level standards. Data from this study and others reveal that ELLs have not made significant academic improvement as a result of changes in language policies (Gandara & Hopkins, 2010). For example, a five-year study conducted by the California Department of Education showed inconclusive changes in ELL progress (O'Sullivan, 2015). This data raises serious questions about the ELLs future academic path. The authors questioned how and when they would be provided with the opportunity to catch up with their English-speaking peers? López and McEneaney (2012) note that one of the key issues in failing to address the needs of ELLs is that implementation of language acquisition model depends much on the political and ideological context of individual school systems and on the part of educators. O' Sullivan (2015) writes:

"By abandoning bilingual education in favor of the new model of English immersion, California arguably turned its students' worlds upside down with little forethought and only a backward glance" (p. 703).

Studies that have shown improvement in language policy are based on the type of resources and supports teachers received as language policies are enacted. This is shown in Lopez and McEneaney's (2012) study, which examined reading achievement scores in

the context of implementation of language acquisition policies across states. Findings indicated that ELLs in states with strong bilingual emphasis had significantly higher reading achievement. Additionally, teachers who received significant pre-service training on ELL issues and more professional development for working with diverse students had a significant effect on reading achievement.

Furthermore, teacher sentiments regarding language policies have also been explored. For example, Heineke and Cameron (2013) conducted a study with eight teachers trained by Teach for America in the Phoenix metropolitan area urban school. In their study, they sought to understand the teacher's role in English-only language policy implementation; specifically, they were interested in examining how teachers' affiliation to the TFA organization affected their appropriation of Arizona language policy. The findings from this study revealed that (a) teachers openly critiqued the language policy, (b) teachers rejected the status quo and appropriated the language policy in their classrooms, and (c) teachers conceptualized the role of teacher as integral to sustained educational change.

Sullivan (2011) states that societal and systemic factors further shape these students' educational experiences; these factors include English-only legislation, the availability of language supports, and the widespread decrease in the number of bilingual educators. In fact, approximately 30% of students identified as ELLs reside in states where English-only legislation dictates the type and amount of language support received by these students. Such limitations in learning opportunities can result in a number of negative outcomes (e.g. behavioral, referral to special education, grade retention, and low

academic engagement). Honigsfeld (2010) states: "Limiting language support for ELLs to one-year immersion programs raise significant civil rights problems" (p. 168).

As a democratic society built on the premise of educating all students and having equal access to educational opportunities our educational system, educational policies have done little to promote the necessary supports needed by ELLs in schools. Many of the rights afforded to ELLs have come in the way of lawsuits. The first and only Supreme Court case to deal with ELLs (O'Sullivan, 2015) was Lau vs Nichols (1974), a class action suit brought on behalf of a student in the San Francisco Unified School District. The suit claimed that the district failed to provide access to ELLs or to a meaningful curriculum for children who were limited English proficient and that this violated Title IV of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The U.S. Supreme Court ruled that "there is no equal treatment by providing students with the same facilities, textbooks, teachers, and curriculum; for students who do not understand English are effectively foreclosed from any meaningful education" (Hakuta, 2011, p. 163).

Important to this case was that ELLs became a protected class and that schools bore an affirmative obligation to address both the language and curricular needs of these students. However, Lau did not require schools to adopt any one particular language program; they differed somewhat on the standard to be applied in determining whether a state or local had created a suitable accommodation for ELLs (O'Sullivan, 2015). It did require educators in schools to identify students with limited English proficiency, and implement services designed to assist ELLs (Callahan et al., 2010).

#### **Teacher Attitudes, Perceptions, and Beliefs about ELLs**

Rios-Aguilar (2010) states, "teachers play a central role in ELL students' education and research has shown that both teachers' perception of their own skills and abilities can influence student outcomes" (p. 5). Educational researchers and scholars have offered several reasons and explanations for why ELLs have not met with success, such as, low parental education, lack of formal education, and poverty. In many cases, ELLs are taught by teachers who have little or no understanding of their educational and cultural experiences (Rodriguez, Manner & Darcy, 2010). Additionally, a large majority of teachers lack the necessary pedagogical knowledge or training in properly instructing ELLs (Bunch, 2013). Others argue that schools are not inclusive of ELLs (Nagel, 2016) and are often placed in lower academic courses because they are often viewed from a deficit model (Hyland, 2010). Additionally, research has shown that ELLs are disproportionately identified as having learning disability; therefore, more likely to be referred for special education services. Sullivan (2011) study explored the extent of disproportionality in the identification and placement of cultural and linguistic diverse students identified as ELLs in special education. The results indicated that these students are increasingly likely to be identified as having learning disabilities or mental retardation and are less likely to be identified to be served in either the least or most restrictive educational environment relative to their White peers. These findings are consistent with other studies that report a high incidence of ELLs being over-identified for learning disabilities (Artiles & Bal, 2008; Samson & Lesaux, 2009).

In addition, the relationship between teacher and ELLs is critical to the academic success of students. Nelson and Guerra (2014) stated:

"Personal beliefs and perceptions are considered to be powerful filters that shape how an individual sees the world, sees other people, and sees oneself" (p. 2).

Researchers affirm that teacher attitudes and beliefs toward ELLs can affect what these students will learn (Medina, Hathaway, & Pilonieta, 2015). Several studies have been conducted that explore teachers' beliefs regarding ELLs and their teaching practices. These studies include teacher attitudes toward inclusion, assumptions about ELLs, and teacher dispositions (Han & Bridglall, 2009; Lazar, 2013; Yoon, 2007, 2008). For example, Yoon's (2008) study examined regular classroom teachers' views of their roles regarding ELLs and the relationship between their teaching approaches and the students' reactions and positioning of them in the classroom.

Yoon's study revealed that teachers can intentionally and unintentionally position students in more positive or negative ways through their teaching approaches. Moreover, teachers might position ELLs without realizing how they might be limiting the students' opportunities to develop a positive sense of themselves as learners. Furthermore, his study leads to the conclusion that teachers' positioning of ELLs is as important and teachers' response to their needs is crucial to be able to view them positively, which might influence their participation in learning. Yoon asserts that teachers who take the moral responsibility for students' learning aim to accomplish three main goals: to help students be academically strong, to become culturally competent, and to be sociopolitically critical.

This aspect is importantly critical to the academic success for culturally and linguistically diverse students, such as ELLs who need more academic, social, and emotional support. Baum, Castro, Field, & Morowski (2016) contend that educators are

in the best position to build relationships that foster educational aspirations and performance. In their article the authors challenge teachers to build connections with students which can lead to a better understanding of students' challenges, home environment, and community that form who they are as individuals. Moreover, it has become clear that successful teachers of ELLs must not only incorporate and respect cultural practices and values but must be able to understand and challenge the oppressive relationship between the dominant culture and the students' cultural heritage (Banks, 2009; Ladson-Billings, 2009).

Other implications to the learning of ELLs cited throughout the literature is related to the lack of diversity in the teaching population. In 2011, the United States Department of Education reported that an estimated 83% of teachers in U.S. schools are European American, have between 15 to 20 years of experience, and are monolingual. The implications of this reports and others illustrates that many ELLs are being taught by teachers who may not be able to assimilate their experiences to effectively instruct ELLs (Taylor, 2010; Nelson & Guerra, 2010). While that may be true, educational research has provided accounts of teachers that had enacted culturally relevant pedagogy and been successful in teaching students from historically marginalized groups (Hyland, 2009).

Markos (2012) conducted a study that investigated pre-service teachers' beliefs about and understanding of ELLs. His focus was on teachers' initial responses to the following question: "When you hear the words English language learner, what comes to mind?" One respondent remarked "I know them; they're gang bangers. I went to high school with a bunch of them. They're lazy; don't want to learn English". The results presented in this study reveal how teachers' dispositions about their students affect their

instruction and personal relationship with ELLs. On a broader scale, this study draws significant attention to the need of teacher education programs and teacher educators to develop programs that build in reflective practice in serving the needs of ELLs.

Rodriguez et al., (2010) investigated the perceptions of 11 teachers from a rural public elementary school in North Carolina and how these perceptions affect the learning experience of ELLs. The teachers in this study completed a survey at the beginning and end of the course. On the pre-course survey, participants completed questions regarding their demographic information, attitudes toward educating ELLs, and a content-based assessment regarding their knowledge of methods of instructing ELLs. Overall, teacher's capacity and perceptions of self-efficacy were low and aligned with perceptions that their preparation programs had failed to provide them with appropriate theoretical framework as well as insufficient experiences to support their readiness in instructing ELLs.

Although there are teachers who take their role as an educator for all students and not just for the privileged seriously, many continue to hold deficit views of ELLs. Not only are these students' linguistic resources ignored, low English language proficiency is often seen as the sole cause of the "achievement gap" (Shapiro, 2014).

#### **Teacher Education**

Despite the increasing number of ELLs across U.S. public schools, many teachers are underprepared to deal with the varied challenges faced by ELLs and the complex issues concerning the linguistic and culturally relevant education (Markos, 2012; Rosa & Orey, 2010; Darling-Hammond, 2010) of these students. It is well documented in the literature, that the education of ELLs is a challenge for many schools around the nation. The fact that the nation's teachers are and will encounter a diverse range of learners

requires that every teacher has sufficient breadth and knowledge and range of skills to be able to meet needs of all students, including ELLs (Samson & Collins, 2012). Although there are specialist teachers, such as Bilingual teachers, English as Second Language teachers, who have the expertise in supporting ELLs, many teachers do not. In particular, the need of general education teachers is of critical importance (García et al., 2010). While general education teachers need to understand and know their content and pedagogy to teach grade level standards, they will also need specific skills to help ELLs access the curricula (Samson & Collins, 2012). Moreover, there is widespread agreement among scholars and researchers that the need for well-prepared teachers is crucial to the academic success of ELLs (García et al., 2010).

Research studies have consistently shown that teachers are more successful in teaching ELLs as a result of a solid educational experience and knowledge gained in universities and colleges that emphasize and build on what research says about educating ELLs (Goldenberg, 2008). Karanthanos' (2010) study illustrates the significance of educational practices that reinforce and address the needs of teachers of ELLs in university programs. Karanthanos explored to what extent two groups of general education teachers in the Midwestern region of the U.S. with differing degrees of English language learner specific university preparation reportedly engaged in practices that incorporated the native languages of English language learners in instruction. The findings indicated that while both groups of teachers engaged in practices that promoted English language use to some extent, teachers with at least three courses of English language learner specific university preparation appeared to engage in these to a greater extent than those that without such preparation.

Today, many schools of education face many challenges, one of the greatest challenges is to ensure that teacher candidates are familiar with the needs of ELLs and are well prepared to provide the necessary instruction that will help ELLs build their linguistic, social, and academic growth (Baecher, 2012). The biggest misconception cited throughout the literature is the belief that ELLs can be taught the same way as native speakers of English, "just good teaching" (Harper & DeJong, 2009). Honigsfeld (2009) contends that the one size fits all mentality is detrimental to the academic success of ELLs. Samson and Collins (2012) note:

"To date, there has been relatively little attention paid to the essential standards, knowledge, and skills that general education teachers ought to possess in order to provide effective instruction to ELLs placed in their classroom" (p. 215).

Furthermore, in many states teachers are not required to take courses in areas such as second language acquisition. In fact, only four states that require that teachers take specific courses to work with ELLs. These include Arizona, Florida, New York, and California (Ballantyne, Sanderman, & Levy, 2008). Samson and Collins (2012) further state that "by making sure that the special needs of ELLs are addressed at multiple stages of the teacher-preparation process, schools may gain higher quality teachers and more importantly, higher outcomes for ELLs" (p. 9).

Teacher education programs have been criticized for not adequately preparing inservice and pre-service teachers with the skills needed to teach for diversity, the knowledge, and skills and dispositions needed to successfully educate and support lowincome, English-language learners. However, some teacher education programs have made it their goal to reexamine their programs with the intention to improve their service

delivery to consider what teachers will need to successfully meet the instructional needs of ELLs. One such study by Baecher (2012), explored the extent to which a teacher education curriculum at one institution was addressing the instructional needs of ELLs. Curricula were defined as the including all the required activities, from reading, assignments, projects, to fieldwork teaching and observation, across each course in a program. They examined the curricula from three different points: evaluation of syllabi, reports from faculty, and reports from teacher candidates. The findings of this study revealed that overall there was little formal attention to ELLs in the curricula, although candidates believed that some of the topics had been briefly addressed in their course activities. Additionally, this study brought attention to the need for teacher education programs to fully explore meaningful ways of incorporating the needs of faculty as well as those of teacher candidates. Although the results indicated that minimal attention was paid to ELLs, there was willingness, interest, and some meaningful curricular components already taking place that could enhance this preparation.

Most studies that explore teacher beliefs and views towards ELLs show that teachers hold negative views about cultural and linguistic diversity (Katz, Scott, & Hadijoamnou, 2009). Recommendations for improving teacher attitudes toward ELLs have included the need to incorporate reflective practice. Developing positive attitudes toward ELLs is essential for developing effective and appropriate teaching practices (Calderón & Minaya-Rowe, 2010). This will allow teachers to examine their assumptions about teaching ELLs. Sowa (2009) utilized action research projects to socialize teachers to the teaching of ELLs as well as help teachers develop reflective practice. By using action research projects with ELLs and reflection papers as data, the study explored the

teachers' statements about the impact of the course work and the projects on their teaching and their beliefs about teaching ELLs. The purpose of the study was to examine the ways in which conducting action research projects involving ELL helped graduate students in a large Midwestern city in the United States, gain insights into teaching linguistically diverse children and to reflect upon their teaching. Major themes that emerged from the data were a deeper understanding of ELLs, the impact of the course work (project and readings) on teaching, teacher reflection, and recognition of the need for positive teacher dispositions. In fact, all the teachers noted their experiences had made them more reflective and critical about their teaching. As far as the impact of their dispositions to teach ELLs, one teacher noted that "communicating and getting to know the student is the key to helping them learn" (p. 1030).

In teacher preparation programs across the U.S., researchers and scholars conclude that early field experiences are an effective method for providing pre-service teachers with opportunities to observe and interact with culturally and linguistically diverse students (NCATE, 2010). A common approach involves exposing teachers to linguistic diversity through internships and service learning (Fitts & Gross, 2012). Several researchers (Alfaro & Quezada, 2010; Polat, 2010; Medina et al., 2015) assert that teacher candidates who participate in study abroad programs develop greater empathy and understanding of diverse students and ELLs. Studies reveal that partnerships between universities and schools are also beneficial to helping teacher candidates develop positive dispositions toward ELLs (Riojas-Cortez & Flores, 2009). These opportunities are designed to broaden teachers' socio-cultural understanding and shape their ability to address the needs of diverse learners. Fitts and Gross's (2012) study examined the growth of pre-service teacher candidates' beliefs, attitudes, and knowledge about school age ELLs in the context of early field experience. Data from a teacher survey revealed that participants had initially limited personal experience in interacting with culturally and linguistically diverse children. After participating in the study teachers returned from their experiences with more empathy for diverse students and ELLs.

Medina, Hathaway, and Pilonieta (2015) found similar results in their study of 16 pre-service teachers participating in a study abroad experience in Germany. Through personal reflections teachers documented their feelings about the experience. The most common elements present dealt with cultural differences, language, and customs. One of the teachers wrote, "The postal worker told me to that I had to ask for my package in German for her to give it to me. I was very confused at first. I had told her that I couldn't speak German, but she insisted that I speak German to get my package" (p. 83). Feelings of frustration, discomfort, and intimidation were common results of the teachers struggle with the language. Upon their return to the U.S. teachers were asked to think about their experiences in Germany and identify what they learned that they thought would make them better teachers of ELLs and what ideas the planned to implement in the classroom. Changes in disposition and advocacy, as well as changes in their understanding and knowledge about teaching ELLs became the focus of their attention. One of the teachers reflected, "This experience has made me realize just how hard it could be to not know the culture and language of a country and to feel like a complete "outsider". Another stressed that "No one makes fun of my ELLs; I will make sure that ALL my students understand how to respect each other" (p. 84). "I now know that it is very difficult and frustrating when you don't know the language and it is my duty to prevent this feeling and to help a

child overcome this feeling in order to learn". The findings of this study point to the fact that regardless of prior experiences with "others", studying abroad offers opportunities that can shift teachers' perceptions of "others" and potentially affect how they will teach ELL students in their future classes. The authors conclude that teacher education programs should strive to provide future teachers opportunities to study abroad and live the experience of being the "other".

## **Effective Schools for English Language Learners**

The literature on effective schools for ELLs builds on the notion of culturally responsive teaching (Gay, 2010). The emphasis is on building school cultures that utilizes language and linguistic diversity as an avenue to improve the social, emotional, and academic needs of students. School climate refers to the quality and character of school life. There is consensus throughout the literature that a positive school climate fosters the development and learning necessary for a productive, contributive, and satisfying life in a democratic society. This climate includes norms, values, and expectations that support feeling socially, emotionally, and physically safe (Cohen et al., 2009; Sailes 2008).

In school settings where students are appreciated and respected for who they are, they experience academic success, take pride in their work, and are less likely to drop out (Uzzell et al., 2014). In these schools, students, families, and educators work together to develop, live, and contribute to a shared school vision (Lezotte & Snyder, 2011). Educators model and nurture an attitude that emphasizes the benefits of, and satisfaction from learning. Additionally, successful schools make connecting and valuing the strengths of ELLs families a priority (Cohen et al., 2009; Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011).

Each individual contributes to the operations of the school and the care of the physical environment. Heineke et al. (2012) note that when teachers, administrators, counselors, families, and community members work together they can work to improve, and promote the social, cultural, linguistic, and academic achievement of bilingual students. Furthermore, research studies have documented that co-teaching is a necessary element for improved academic achievement and ongoing school success for ELLs (DelliCarpini & Dailey, 2009). This is illustrated in Dove and Honigsfeld (2010) study, which explored the benefits of co-teaching and collaborative practices, which can lead to the emergence of teacher-leaders and enhanced student learning. Participating teachers showed a great appreciation and concern for the learning of ELLs. In this study, two educators built a successful learning environment on a foundation of shared philosophies about how children learn best and by carefully and consistently discussing and preparing lesson plans together. As a result of participation in the study, one of the teachers continues her effort to engage in joint lesson planning with fellow ESL and mainstream teachers and frequently "parallel teaches" with them so that the ELLs in her class will not miss content of skills during pull-our periods.

Cohen et al. (2009) examined the relationship between school-culture related research findings on the one hand and educational policy, practice, and teacher education. Their review of the literature on school climate reveals that a growing body of empirical research indicates that positive school climate is associated with and predictive of academic achievement, school success, effective violence prevention, students' healthy development, and teacher retention. Their review of research, practitioner, and scholarly

writing suggests four major aspects of school life that shape school climate. These include safety, teaching and learning, relationships, and environmental-structural.

Furthermore, Calderón et al., (2011) assert that the quality of instruction is what matters most in educating ELLs. Based on their review of the literature on school reform and evidence of effective practices they conclude that effective programs include four structural elements, 1) constant collection and use of ongoing formative data on learning, teaching, attendance, behavior, 2) strong focus on professional development for all staff members, including administrators, 3) standards of behavior and effective strategies for classroom and school management, 4) leadership focused on building a "high reliability organization" that shares information widely, monitors quality of teaching and learning carefully, and holds all staff responsible for progress toward shared goals. They further note, "schools that serve English learners and other language-minority children, especially in regions where most families are struggling economically, provide children with their best and perhaps only chance to achieve economic security." (p. 109). Expanding on this list of effective programs of ELLs, Stufft and Brogadir (2011) include the importance of setting high expectations for all students. Moreover, Araujo, (2009) asserts that developing a connection with students' families and cultures through culturally relevant teaching methods and curriculum is essential to the academic success of ELLs. Araujo provides a set of best practices and strategies for working and collaborating with diverse families. These include (a) incorporating funds of knowledge, (b) practicing culturally relevant teaching, (c) fostering effective communication, and (d) extending and accepting assistance.

## **Culturally Responsive Teaching**

"Culturally responsive teaching and learning are necessary and worth pursuit" (Gay, 2010, p. 10). Hyland (2010) describes that culturally relevant teacher's share a belief that children are capable of academic excellence, which is matched with classroom practices that insure high academic performance. They view knowledge as socially constructed and teach their students to critically analyze information. Finally, learning is rooted in issues relevant to the students' lives and help students make connections between their home and community and broader national and global issues (p. 97). Gay (2010) defines culturally relevant teaching as "using the cultural knowledge, prior experiences, frames of reference, and performance styles of ethnically diverse students to make learning encounters more relevant to and effective for them" (p. 3).

Culturally responsive practices in schools and classrooms have been proven to be effective in addressing the academic achievement gap as well as the disproportionate representation of culturally linguistic students in special education (Griner & Stewart, 2013 & Lue, 2013; Bennett, 2013; Siwatu, 2011). It has been proven to be an effective set of principles upon which teachers can base their instruction of diverse students (Ladson-Billings, 1995). The use of culturally relevant pedagogy is a way for schools to acknowledge the home community culture of the students, and through sensitivity to culture nuances integrate these cultural experiences, values, and understandings into the teaching and environment (Brown-Jeffy & Cooper, 2011; Bennett, 2013). However, it has been noted by scholars and researchers that culturally responsive practices, multicultural approaches, and bilingual instruction have been largely replaced by standardized curriculum, common core standards and pedagogy from neoliberal business

model of school reform (Sleeter, 2012). Many question the value of teacher education programs and professional development for pre-service and in-service teachers is practically nonexistent (Wei, Darling-Hammond & Adamson, 2010).

Scholars concerned with the lack of teacher knowledge about culturally responsive practices have proposed strategies to assist teachers in working with and interacting with ELLs in their classrooms. An area that has received much attention is culturally responsive teaching. Proponents (e.g., Gay, 2002; Ladson-Billings, 1995; Nieto, 2004) posit that culturally responsive teachers need to be non-judgmental and inclusive of the cultural backgrounds of their students in order to be effective facilitators of optimal learning in the classroom. These scholars have written extensively on the role that the intersection of home-school community culture does and should play in the delivery of instruction in schools. They further note that the discontinuity between school culture, home, and community are an important factor in low academic achievement. Consequently, the academic achievement of these students will increase if schools and teachers reflect and drawn on ELLs cultural and linguistic strengths.

The fact that teachers spend a greater amount of time on testing and following a scripted curriculum they have little time to form valuable relationships with students (Sleeter, 2012). In his essay, Sleeter mentions three factors that contribute to the marginalization of culturally responsive pedagogy: (a) persistence of faculty and simplistic conceptions of what culturally responsive pedagogy is, (b) too little research connecting its use with student achievement, and (c) elite White fear of losing national and global hegemony. She notes, "what makes more sense for teachers is to bring to the

classroom an awareness of diverse cultural possibilities that might relate to their students, but then to get to know the students themselves" (Sleeter 2012, p. 571).

Furthermore, compelling research studies demonstrate that school achievement is enhanced when protocols and programs of teaching are synchronized with the mental schema, learning styles, work habits, and background experiences of diverse ethnic groups (Gay, 2010). Several researchers argue that teachers need best practices and teaching methods to achieve culturally responsive teaching (Castro, 2010; Ladson-Billings, 1995, 2009). Others feel that field experiences can help develop an increase in affirmative beliefs toward students from diverse backgrounds and an improved understanding of diversity (Castro, 2010; Wiggins, Follo, & Eberly, 2007). Bennet (2012) explored culturally relevant pedagogy through a lens of three basic tenets identified with culturally relevant pedagogy (Ladson-Billings, 1995). The three principles are as follows: 1) teachers recognize conceptions of self and other, 2) teachers understand the significance of social interaction and promote social engagement in the classroom, and 3) teachers consider the conception of knowledge. Eight pre-service teachers enrolled in a university course participated in a field experience that included an after school tutoring program working with elementary age students from diverse backgrounds. Through interviews and reflections, teachers demonstrated a modest understanding of culturally responsive teaching. Most pre-service teachers thought they should acknowledge the different cultural background of their students and utilize those cultures to integrate into lessons. The teachers in the study had time to reflect and overtime had expanded from simple cultural awareness to a broader understanding of culturally relevant teaching. For example, one teacher said, "I think culturally responsive teaching is about teachers'

ability to connect on a deeper level with each student and to have a better understanding of the student as a person, um...not strictly based on personality, and whether they're good at one subject or another subject. But, what them who they are...". Another noted a change in her definition and understanding of culturally responsive teaching. She stated, "and it still is that you need to connect with your students in your classroom too, but I feel like more now that even if the students' aren't of a different culture, it's still important to be culturally responsive because it affects how they view other people in the future..." (p. 394). Although there are limitations to this study, it does contribute to the literature on using field experiences to produce teachers that can effectively teach in culturally responsive ways.

### Social Justice and the Education of ELLs

"A commitment to social justice begins with a recognition that injustice has occurred and that we will address that injustice through the vision we create and the actions we take to ensure the success of all students" (Hirsh, 2010, p. 72). Due to the ongoing issues of social inequality in U.S. public schools, and an increase in the number of culturally and linguistic diversity among students, teacher education programs have focused their attention on preparing teacher candidates to become advocates for social justice in schools. The concept of teaching for social justice has been present in teacher education programs (Cochran-Smith, 2010), school and university partnerships, recruitment efforts, and other initiatives (Cochran-Smith et al., 2009). Too many individuals want to equate it with cultural diversity training or equal opportunity, and it is more than that (Hirsch, 2010). The definition of what it means to teach for social justice has been highly debated in teacher education programs. The term "Social Justice" has

been regarded as ambiguous without any concise definition. However, researchers in the field have been able to identify central ideas behind the theme of social justice that are and should be present in teacher education programs. According to The National Council of Accreditation of Teacher Education (NCATE, 2010) description of socially just schools, they have two basic dispositions for teachers: "fairness and a belief that all children can learn". This leads to the assumption that teachers will work to adopt policy, curricular, and make instructional decisions leading to equitable learning for all students (Chubbuck, 2010).

Burrell Storms (2015) contends that infusing social justice into an action research curriculum and incorporating social justice pedagogy into the classroom can prepare teacher candidates to become advocates and advance the emancipatory goals of this form of inquiry. Storm examined teacher candidates' perceptions of how their experiences in a graduate level action research course promoted their readiness to embark on social justice advocacy. Ten teacher candidates participated in an action research course for one semester. They were six females and one male who identifies as White and one Asian female, one Hispanic female, one female who identified as other. Students used a required textbook along with being required to read articles related to social justice. Each student selected a research project of their choice. Participant responses to the action research course were very positive. They indicated that it was meaningful and relevant to their lives, helped them to become reflective about their teaching practices, and provided them with a process for social change.

As teacher education programs continue to respond to the ongoing concern of educating more sensitive, socially oriented teachers. Some colleges and universities have

made it their mission to reevaluate their programs, making efforts to help teachers develop a better understanding of diversity into curriculum, and provide a greater awareness and emphasis on multiculturalism, equity and social justice (Lynn & Smith-Maddox, 2007).

Scholars and researchers can agree that teachers that are well-prepared to face the challenges of meeting the needs of ELLs fare better; for the most part these students make great academic gains as well (Apple, 2011; Knutsen-Miller, Gomez, Strage, Knutson-Miller, & García-Nevarez, 2009; Reeves, 2009). While the knowledge that teachers gain in such programs builds their capacity to develop the skills needed to prepare students to achieve academic performance, it is unlikely that such experiences alone are sufficient to build a teacher workforce that is attentive to issues of social justice and equity. Researchers argue that teacher education programs need to embed classes where teacher candidates can reflect on practice and their personal beliefs about the students they will eventually teach.

Lynn and Smith-Maddox (2007) studied pre-service teachers engagement in an inquiry-based course at a large urban university on the West Coast of the U.S. They hypothesized that a situated learning experience such as "inquiry" would enable perspective teachers to develop pedagogical habits and skills necessary for self-directed professional growth and socialize them, individually and collectively, to participate as full partners of teaching while dialoguing about issues related to equity and social justice. After participating, teachers were asked about their experiences. Teachers expressed how a learning space such as inquiry helped them to confront their own biases and to consider critical perspectives that led to their self-actualization. One teacher stated:

"Well, we're putting our ideas on the table. And we're helping each other, talk about the myths we may have about teaching and learning. For example, if I had an opinion about a certain ethnic group, or an attitude toward something that I didn't see as being racist prejudiced, or stereotypic, by presenting it to the inquiry group, it helped me not be colour-blind. When you're teaching you may blame the kids for not learning, but the teacher may be the problem." (p. 101).

In this type of learning context, the authors suggest that teacher education may need to concentrate on developing both a repertoire of good things to do in the classroom and multiple ways in which student teachers can articulate their misconceptions, naive thinking, hidden assumptions and prejudices, and analyze their perceptions of teaching, learning, schools, and children.

Theoharis (2007), Fraturra and Capper (2007) contend that social justice cannot be achieved without creating inclusive services. Theoharis and O'Toole (2011) explain that inclusive practices for ELLs involve valuing students' learning and positioning them and their families, languages and culture as central, integral aspects of the school community. Furthermore, Jean-Marie et al. (2009) and others agree that educational leaders are in the best position to positively affect the educational outcomes of ELLs. Scholars posit that one of the most critical attributes of effective schools for ELLs is strong school leadership (Apple, 2011; Theoharis, 2011; & Ryan, 2010). However, the concern has been whether or not school leaders are well prepared to create schools that advocate for the education of all students, in particular ELLs. As part of a national research effort to study the perceptions of practitioner, both principals and superintendents across the USA, about their leadership practices, Place et al., (2010)

found that most principals agreed that schools can longer ignore some students as they did before and that principals need to use power available to them to intervene on behalf of students. This study reaffirmed that principals have a moral obligation to intervene on behalf of all students, especially those identified as ELLs.

Theoharis's (2010) qualitative study with 6 principals illustrates that social justice in schools is necessary to create more just and equitable schools. Although they were met with resistance from teachers, they engaged in practices to disrupt four kinds of school injustices: (1) school structures that marginalize, segregate, and impede achievement, such as pull out programs; (2) a deprofessionalized teaching staff who could benefit from focused staff development; (3) a school climate that needs to be more welcoming to marginalized families and community; and (4) disparate student achievement levels. For example, these principals eliminated pull-out/ segregated programs, provided ongoing staff development on building equity, and worked to create a warm and welcoming climate. Results of this study concluded that: social justice is a must and can be achieved; that inclusive schooling is necessary and enriching component to enacting justice; that increasing staff capacity is essential to carry out a comprehensive agenda focused on equity; and that creating a climate that deeply values racial, cultural, and economic diversity is a key strategy to enacting justice in schools. Also, such efforts resulted in higher academic achievement for marginalized students. Similarly, Ryan (2010) takes it a step further and asserts that principals who want their teachers to be inclusive-minded, require additional resources for the underrepresented students, or see the need to develop equity-friendly district wide policies may have no choice but to play the political game. In his study, Ryan explored ways in which principals use their political understanding to

promote social justice in their schools. Employing face-face interviews with 28 principals who had worked in a variety of schools, the study examined the principals' efforts to understand their political contexts, the way they employ their knowledge in the strategies they used, and the ways in which they strategically monitor their actions as they worked toward equity. This study concluded that principals need to acknowledge the importance of engaging in political activity in their organizations. More importantly, they need to combine their intellect and strategic abilities with personal and social qualities like courage, boldness and care if they are to move their social justice agendas.

## Conclusion

This literature review illustrates how our educational system has evolved in relation to the growing number of ELLs in U.S. public schools. Today, ELLs continue to be a big part of the school community and data indicates that eventually ELLs will be the majority. According to the Center on Educational Policy (2010) ELLs are the fastest growing population in U.S. public school students are ELLs. Although we are more aware of what ELLs need, our schools continue to fall short in providing ELLs with a fair and equitable education. The literature on the issues of social justice clearly advocates for the need to develop a teaching workforce that is committed and sensitive to the needs of culturally diverse students. Theoharis (2010) posits that social justice is a must and should be achieved; that inclusive schooling is necessary and enriching component to enacting justice; that increasing staff capacity is essential to carry out a comprehensive agenda focused on equity; and that creating a climate that deeply values racial, cultural, and economic diversity is a key strategy to enacting justice in schools. There is a gap in the literature that needs to be addressed. We need to engage in conversations that move

beyond techniques and recommendations of best practices to inquiring into how individuals in a school view their role in working with ELLs. Although there is agreement among scholars that the principal is able to enact social justice within a school; there is a need to challenge other worldviews about what is just and right to meet the needs of ELLs. This study attempts to fill in the gaps that exist in the literature by looking at how teachers, counselors, and administrators define their role in working with ELLs.

#### Chapter 3

## Methods

The purpose of this study will be to explore how teachers, administrators, and counselors describe their role in working with ELLs. As the number of ELLs continues to increase in schools across the U.S., it is important to have a continuous dialogue about the impact of educational reform on linguistically and culturally diverse students. I enter this study with the hope of raising the consciousness of teachers, administrators, and counselors to reflect on their role in developing inclusive practices for ELLs. In order to accomplish this, I interviewed nine participants to understand from their lived experiences (Moustakas, 1994) how they define their role in working with ELLs.

I chose a qualitative research approach because it allows me to study things in a natural setting, attempt to make sense of, or interpret, phenomena in terms of the meanings people bring to them (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005). Phenomenology, an approach within qualitative traditions (Creswell, 2007), guided my investigation of how individuals in a school setting describe their role in working with ELLs. Phenomenological research studies primarily focus on the essence and structure of an experience that is shared by individuals in a setting. A phenomenological method is selected for this study because of its ability to produce significant data through in-depth-interviews that can then be utilized to understand a phenomenon and to assist in making decisions that will enhance the learning of ELLs.

### **Research Questions**

The main research question that guides this study was grounded in the central tenets of social justice. The following question was designed to gain an understanding of the meanings and experiences of the study participants: How do administrators, teachers, and counselors describe their roles in working with ELLs? This is followed by the following sub question: How do administrators, teachers, and counselors describe the benefits and challenges in working with ELLs?

This chapter provides a description of the phenomenological qualitative method of inquiry I utilized to explore how teachers, counselors, and administrators define their role in working with ELLs. In addition, I have included details about the setting, participants, and qualitative instruments that used in data collection.

### **Qualitative Research Design**

Qualitative research is primarily concerned with the study of research problems inquiring into the meaning individuals or groups of people ascribe to a social or human problem (Creswell, 2007). Shank (2006) sums up three basic tenets within qualitative research. First, the *researcher matters*. The researchers are not merely gatherers of information; they are an active part of the process itself. Their actions, interpretations, and decisions are often an integral part of the research procedures and the research findings as well. He further states that qualitative research is often grounded and shaped by issues of culture, society, history, gender, and the like. Second, *inquiry into meaning is in the service of understanding* not just to build theories and other generalizations about knowledge; often researchers have critical agendas as well. Qualitative researchers go beyond trying to understand what they see. They also seek to change things for the better.

The final tenet is that *qualitative inquiry embraces new ways of looking at the world* (p. 10).

The tenets described above provide the significance of this study in a broader context. An understanding of how teachers, counselors, and administrators define their roles in working with ELLs can help to address the exclusionary, discriminatory ideologies that continue to persist in our educational system. The historically marginalized, the poor, minority, and English language learners, remain largely ignored. The tenets described above align with the purpose of this study, which is to enlighten others about the critical role of ensuring access and equity for a fair education for all students, in particular ELLs.

According to Moustakas (2001), qualitative inquiry begins with the internal search to discover, with an encompassing puzzlement, and a passionate desire to know, devotion, and commitment to pursue a question that is strongly connected to one's own identity and selfhood. Since I am highly committed to the advancement of educational access for ELLs, a qualitative research design seemed appropriate in answering the research question of how teachers, administrators, and counselors describe their roles in working with ELLs.

This research study employed a phenomenological qualitative research design (Creswell, 2007; Schram, 2003) to explore how principals, teachers, and counselors describe their roles in working with ELLs. From a phenomenological perspective, this study focused on a small group of individual's experiences as they are lived every day, viewing these experiences as conscious (Van Manen, 1990). Ultimately, arriving at a description of these experiences, rather than explanations or analyses (Moustakas, 1994)

from the standpoint of a concept or phenomena. The goal in phenomenology is to grasp and elucidate the meaning, structure, and essence of lived experience of a phenomenon for a person or a group of people (Patton, 2002).

According to Gibbs (2008) qualitative research is intended to approach the world "out there" (not in specialized research settings such as laboratories) and to comprehend, describe and at times explain social phenomena "from the inside" (Gibbs, 2008). Creswell (2009) describes qualitative research as a "means for exploring and understanding how individual or groups attribute to a social or human problem" (p. 4). As such, the insights derived from the data take the reader into the time and place where individual experiences occurred. They capture and communicate someone else's experience of the world in his or her own words (Patton, 2002). Phenomenological researchers ask the question: what is the essence of this phenomenon as experienced by an individual, and what does it mean to them? (Polit & Beck, 2004).

## **Context of the Study**

This study will take place at Star Gate High School (a pseudonym), a 9-12 school, which is centrally located between a suburban and an urban school districts in Southern New Jersey. The school district is comprised of eight elementary schools, one junior high, one middle school, and a high school. There is a total enrollment of 4, 300 students in the district. An estimated 1,340 students are enrolled in the high school. Star Gate High School is a Title I school. Title I schools are defined by the number of students that receive free or reduced lunch program. Schools where at least 40% of the student body is enrolled in the free or reduced lunch program (New Jersey Department of Education, 2012).

Star Gate high school is racially and economically diverse. It has a racial composition of approximately 47% Hispanic, 32% Black, 15% White, and 6% Asian (Genesis, 2016). During the current school year (2015-2016) an estimated, 85% of the student body receives free and/or reduced lunch. An estimated 80% of the students speak another language other than English at home. Spanish is the predominant language spoken in many households. In the year 2014-2015, there was an estimated enrollment of about 1,364 students in grades 9-12. Forty - three percent were identified as ESL students. These students range in classification as beginners (no English), intermediate (some English) and advanced levels (Proficient). Over the years, this school has experienced a steady increase in the number of ELL learners. For example, during this current school year (2015-2016) there over 65 (5.19%) students in the ESL program compared to 3.4% the previous year (Genesis, 2016).

This school has 119 teachers on staff. The teaching staff consists of 92% Caucasian, 4% Black, 1% Hispanic, and 3% other (Genesis, 2016). The district employs six counselors, three Caucasian, two African American, and one Hispanic. There are two bilingual staff members, one a counselor and one world language teacher. They both speak English and Spanish and can communicate with the students and families. Through personal conversions, several faculty members have expressed that the school needs to dedicate more time, resources, and support for ELLs.

I chose this school because it is representative of the landscape of many schools around the nation. In addition, as an employee of the district, I have access to staff members for this study. Additionally, from personal experience, the gradual increase in the number of ELLs in the district; particularly at the high school has been a cause of

concern. The steady increase in the number of ELLs is significant and like many schools, this high school may be unprepared to deal with the complex diverse academic and language needs of these students. In this school, ELLs receive one period of ESL and one period of English each day. ELLs attend general education classes for the remainder of the day with no language support. The needs and supports of ELLs in this school is a highly debated topic. Many teachers appear divided about whether it is their role to serve as language development teachers in general education classrooms. Through personal contact with several general education teachers, many have expressed a desire to provide better instructional support to ELLs. Furthermore, many have expressed frustration at not being able to meet the needs of ELLs because they lack the necessary training and/or support to instruct them. The ELLs at this school receive no additional academic or language support outside of their respective ESL classes. It is worth noting that in the (2014-2015) school year out of 36 ELLs in the school 20 failed one or more of their general education classes (Genesis, 2016).

## **Participants**

For this study, I chose to use a purposeful sample to "intentionally select individuals and sites to learn and understand the central phenomena" (Creswell, 2012, p. 206). Patton (2002) stated that purposeful sampling is ideal because it includes a sampling that is "information rich" and illuminative, that is, they offer useful manifestations of the phenomena of interest; sampling, then is aimed at insight about the phenomenon, not empirical generalizations from a sample to a population (p. 40).

Qualitative research typically focuses on relatively small samples, selected purposefully to permit inquiry into and understanding of a phenomenon "in depth" (Patton, 2002, p. 46). Creswell (1998) recommends interviews with up to 10 participants for a phenomenological study; therefore, a sample size of nine seemed reasonable for this study. I conducted interviews with nine (N= 9) participants. I included four (n = 4) teachers from various disciplines (Math, Science, Social Studies, and English). One (n = 1) counselor, 3 (n = 3) administrators, and one (n = 1) ESL teacher. The selection of these nine participants allowed me to attain rich and thick data focused on a small group that represents a cross section of the school population. See table 1 for an overview of the demographic information that each participant reported.

# Table 1

## Participant Demographics

Participant	Position	Ethnicity	Language(s) Spoken	Degree	Years Teaching
Mr. Albert	Principal	African	English	Masters/Seco	ndary 25
		American		English Certif	fication
Ms. Bee	Assistant	African	English	Masters Educ	ational 24
	Principal	American		Leadership/K	-8
				Teaching Cer	tification

Participant	Position	Ethnicity	Language(s) Spoken	Degree Years Teaching
Mr. Castro	Assistant Principal	Hispanic	English/ Spanish	Masters Educational 30 Leadership
Mr. Deer	Counselor	Caucasian	English	Masters Student 33
Ms. Ellen	ESL Teacher	Caucasian	English	PersonnelESL Certification10Bachelors Secondary
Ms. Far	English	Caucasian	English	Education Bachelor of Science 9 Language Arts
Mr. Gray	History	Caucasian	English	Masters Arts 13
Mr. Holmes	Teacher Science Teacher	Caucasian	English	Bachelors/ 20 Science
Ms. Iris	Math	Caucasian	English	Masters/Math 19

I selected nine research participants for this study based on the following criteria: General education teachers from the four academic disciplines (English, math, science, and social studies that teach ELLs were invited to participate. Additionally, in order to explore and gain multiple perspectives from the school community a former ESL counselor, grade level administrators (9-12), and an ESL teacher were included in the study. In phenomenological studies, the selection of participants needs to be carefully chosen to be individuals who have all experienced the phenomenon being explored, and can articulate their lived experience (Creswell, 2007). These nine participants are deemed appropriate because they have experienced the same phenomenon and secondly, they can articulate their own unique perspectives based on their current positions. Through purposeful sampling (Patton, 2002), I can gain an understanding of how teachers, administrators, counselor, and ESL teacher describe their role in working with ELLs.

# **Qualitative Data Collection**

In phenomenological studies, the most common method of data collection consists of in-depth interviews with participants (Creswell, 2007). Additional sources of data include narratives from interviews, diaries and protocols, participant observation, and reflective diaries or researcher's own introspective accounts.

Phenomenology can include single or multiple interviews with participants (Creswell, 2007). In this study, the primary source of data collection included verbal responses from single interviews with each participant. A researcher journal and field notes from an interview protocol was used throughout the research. The researcher journal and field notes served to provide a detailed account of time on-site, and in

transcription and analysis phase. Throughout the research process, I intended to chronicle my own thinking, feelings, experiences, and perceptions by way of a researcher journal.

# **Semi-Structured Interviews**

Interviewing, according to Seidman (2006), allows people to freely share their stories. Patton (2002) suggests that to get deeper meanings and preserve context, face- to-face interaction is both "necessary and desirable" (p. 49). Semi- structured interviews were conducted within a 3-week period at the Star Gate High School (pseudonym). This will include 30 - 45-minute interviews with each participant. These interviews were conducted face- to- face in a private location within the school. The personal interviews allowed me the opportunity to have an in-depth conversation about participants' experience, ideas, notions, and how they describe their roles in working with ELLs.

Semi-structured interviews were used in this study because it fosters an authentic relationship between interviewer and interviewee (Creswell, 2007). In phenomenological studies, interviewing is well suited for the exploration of the perceptions and opinions of respondents regarding sensitive issues and enables probing as a way to gather further information and clarification of answers (Rubin & Rubin, 2005). The topics covered in the interviews were guided by the research question and the literature. McNamara's (2009) recommendations was used to develop questions that would engage the participant in an open dialogue with me. He recommends the following: (a) wording should be openended (respondents should be able to choose their own terms when answering questions; (b) questions should be neutral as possible (avoid wording that might influence answers, e.g., evocative, judgmental wording); (c) questions should be asked one at a time; (d)

questions should be worded clearly (this includes knowing any terms particular to the program or respondents' culture); and (e) be careful asking "why" questions.

The construction of an interview protocol as noted by Creswell (2007) enabled me to take notes during the interview about the responses of the interviewee. It also aided in guiding and organizing my thoughts on items such as, headings, information about the starting interview, concluding ideas, information on ending the interview, and thanking the respondent. An interview protocol (see Appendix A) was designed to include openended questions, with ample space to write responses to the interviewee's comments. The interview protocol allowed the researcher to reflect on aspects that might not be adequately represented in the recording and transcription (Miles & Huberman, 1994).

McNamara's (2009) principles to an effective interview were used prior to conducting interviews, to establish rapport and to maximize time with participants. This was accomplished by, (1) selecting a setting with little distraction; (2) explain the purpose of the interview; (3) address confidentiality; (4) explain the format of the interview; (5) indicate how long the interview will take; (6) tell them how to get in touch with you later if they want to; (7) ask them if they have any questions before you both get started with the interview; and (8) don't count on your memory to recall their answers. All participants were provided with an informed consent (See Appendix B).

All interviews were taped-recorded, then transcribed into narrative text, and data was analyzed using phenomenological methods outlined by Moustakas (1994). In order to establish the validity of the transcripts (Kvale, 2009, Janesick, 2004) member checks were conducted. Therefore, participants were provided with a copy of the verbatim

transcripts after the interview to check for accuracy (MacLean, Meyer & Stable, 2004) and asked to return them with any changes.

### **Researcher Journal**

Traditionally, what researchers bring to their study from their backgrounds and identities has been regarded as "bias", such influence needs to be eliminated from the design, rather than a valuable component (Maxwell, 2008 p. 225). However, one's identity and experience in a study has been regarded as valuable information that can be considered in analysis of the data (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Jansen & Peshkin, 1992). Maxwell (2008) posits that using this experience in one's research can provide a major source of insights, hypotheses, and validity checks. He also asserts that this is not a license to impose one's assumptions and values uncritically on the research.

In phenomenological studies, it is important for the researcher to be aware of his or her own stance toward the phenomenon under study (Moustakas, 1994). Therefore, the use of a researcher journal allowed me to reflect on my personal thoughts, biases, and interpretations throughout my interviews and field experiences. Most importantly, it made my position transparent to the readers and bring to consciousness the different aspects of how my personal experiences have influenced my choice of topic, decisions regarding what I choose to focus on, and in selecting the data for analysis and the interpretation of that data. As noted by Maxwell (2008), a researcher journal can generate unexpected insights and connections, as well as create a valuable record of the research process. Janesick (2004) uses the metaphor of a reflective journal as a method for "checks and balances" during the entire research process (p. 149). According to Morrow and Smith (2000), the use of a researcher journal adds rigor to qualitative research inquiry as the researcher can record his or her reactions, assumptions, expectations, and biases about the research process.

# **Field Notes**

In qualitative research, field notes or "memoing" is considered an essential data source (Miles & Huberman, 1984). Throughout the course of this research, I recorded my own thoughts, experiences, and what I observe throughout collecting and reflecting on the process. According to Lofland and Lofland (1999) field notes by the researcher are crucial in qualitative research to retain data gathered during interviews. During the interviewing process, field notes served to keep the researcher focused on what the participants share (Seidman, 2006), as well as to record my own thoughts and feelings. Bailey (1996) further recommends that researchers write descriptive and reflective notes, such as, hunches, impressions, feelings and so forth. Miles and Huberman (1984) emphasize that field notes should be dated so that the researcher can later correlate them with the data that has been collected. I took field notes during all interviews on the interview protocol to capture my observations, which may include my personal and subjective responses to and interpretations of each encounter (Saldaña, 2009).

# **Data Analysis and Interpretation**

Coffey and Atkinson (1996) regard analysis as a systematic procedure that assists researchers in identifying essential features and relationships with the data. It is a way of transforming the data through interpretation. Merriam (1998) and Marshall and Rossman (1989) contend that data collection and data analysis must be a simultaneous process in qualitative research. Gibbs (2008) recommends that qualitative researchers use early data as a way of raising new research issues and questions. The flexibility involved in this

process allows analysis to begin early even before interviews, or other data that is collected.

Patton (1980) states:

The data generated by qualitative methods are voluminous. I have found no way of preparing students for the sheer massive volumes of information, which they will find themselves confronted when data collection has ended. Sitting down to make sense out of pages of interviews and whole files of field notes can be overwhelming. (p. 297)

In order to make sense of the data, I followed Moustakas's (1994) steps to data analysis. This included the following: Organizing the data into file folders, index cards, or computer files. I continued by initially reading through the data, making notes in the margins of the documents, developing initial codes, followed by reducing the information to significant statements or quotes and combining them into themes. During the process of coding, classifying, and developing themes, I began to "make sense of the data" and "interpret" the codes and themes to the significance of the data. Next, I described the essence of the phenomenon "what participants experienced" and "how they experienced it in terms of the conditions, situations, or context. The final step includes a narrative description of the "essence" of the experience in tables, figures, or discussion. Agar (1980), for example, suggests that researchers "read the transcripts in its entirety several times. Immerse yourself in the details, trying to get a sense of the interview as a whole before breaking it into parts" (p. 103). Creswell (2007) suggests that researchers write memos within the margins of field notes or transcripts that help in exploring the data. The memos

are short phrases, ideas, or keys concepts that occur to the reader. According to Creswell (2009), self-memos "facilitate reflection and analytic insight".

# **Data Analysis Procedure**

Moustakas's (1994) phenomenological method was employed in analyzing participants' transcripts. Moustakas's approach was chosen because it has specific steps in the data analysis procedure and guidelines for assembling the textural "what participants experienced" and structural "how they experienced the phenomenon" descriptions. The following steps were followed:

- 1. Bracketing or Epoche Phenomenological reduction
- 2. Delineating units of meaning
- 3. Clusters of units of meanings into themes
- 4. Assemble a narrative description of what they experienced (textural description) and how they experienced in to (structural description)
- The two descriptions in step four were combined to describe the "essence" of their experience.

Each step is furthered described below.

## Bracketing

Bracketing (or epoche) is the process by which a researcher suspends his/her own presuppositions and not allow their own meanings and interpretations or theoretical concepts to enter the unique world of the participant (Creswell, 1998; Moustakas, 1994). In order to explore the research phenomenon, any biases, and preconceptions were set aside, as well as any previous knowledge or experiences will be bracketed and placed within the context of the study. For example, in Chapter 1, I included a discussion on my positionality, which talks, about my personal journey with this phenomenon. In phenomenological studies, an awareness of one's stance toward the phenomenon is critical therefore, this process will be kept constant throughout the research study.

## **Delineating Units of Meaning**

During this phase, significant statements or words were extracted from the data that are seen to be related to the researched phenomenon (Creswell, 1998). The lists of units are carefully reviewed, and redundant units are eliminated (Moustakas, 1994). This is accomplished by considering the number of times (the significance) a word was mentioned. I went through the data (e.g. transcripts and other data sources) and highlight "significant statements", sentences, or quotes that provide an understanding of how teachers, administrators, and counselor define their role in working with ELLs. I engaged in this iterative process until the meaning from the participants becomes clearly defined. After eliminating the redundant units and statements, the remaining statements were clustered into themes and organized into a coherent textural description for the next step in the process.

# **Clustering of Meanings into Themes**

During this step I returned to the transcripts, look at the themes more closely, and identify situations or contexts in which the themes appeared (Creswell, Hanson, Plano & Morales, 2007). Clusters of themes are typically formed by grouping units of meaning together (Creswell, 1998; Moustakas, 1994) and the researcher identifies significant topics. Significant statements were grouped into larger units of information; called "meaning units" or themes. These meaning units came directly from the statement's participants make regarding the phenomenon during the interviews. After multiple

readings, redundant meanings or statements unrelated to the topic were discarded. From this process, the remaining statements were clustered into themes and organized into the textural and structural description.

# **Textural and Structural Description**

In this step, I took significant statements and themes to write a description of what the participants experienced (textural description). I also used these statements to write a description of the context or setting that influenced how the participants experienced the phenomenon, referred to as imaginative variation or (structural description) (Creswell, 2007). This included verbatim examples from the transcript interviews.

# **Description of the Overall Essence of the Experience**

From the synthesis of the structural and textural descriptions, I wrote a narrative that reflected the context from which the themes emerged (Moustakas, 1994 and Creswell, 1998). In the end, this phenomenological study presented a description of the experiences of each participant and their common, as well as their individual differences of how they define their role in working with ELLs. The ultimate goal is to have readers walk away with the feeling, "I understand better what it is like for someone to experience that" (Polkinghorne, 1989, p. 46).

## **Coding the Data**

Saldaña's (2009) strategy of in vivo coding was applied to the interviews, my researcher journal, and field notes. In vivo codes are statements, words, or phrases that are taken directly from what participants say and are placed in quotation marks. After reading through the interview transcripts, field notes, and researcher journal, I kept close attention to words and phrases that seemed to call for bolding, underlining, and italicizing, highlighting, or vocal emphasis if spoken aloud. In vivo codes, "can provide a crucial check on whether you have grasped what is significant to the participant and may help "crystallize and condense meanings" (Charmaz, 2006, p. 57). Saldaña (2009) recommends that researchers keep track of codes that are participant inspired rather than "researcher generated" by always putting in vivo codes in quotation marks. The use of in vivo coding along with the data analysis presented by Moustakas (1994) is an appropriate method because it allowed me to immerse myself in the language, perspectives, and viewpoints of my participants.

According to Defelice and Janesick (2015) phenomenological research requires interviews, multiple re-readings of collected text and multiple interactions with the text. The process of collecting, creating, and analyzing the data can be challenging. In their article Understanding the Marriage of Technology and Phenomenological Research: From Design to Analysis they recommend the following programs Audacity, Express Scribe, Microsoft Word, and Excel to reduce and analyze the data. They posit that these programs help to preserve the essence of the phenomenological process and gives the researcher the opportunity to expand time and learning about the lived experience of the participants. As such, I followed the procedures outline by these authors to assist in

reducing and making sense of the data. First, the recorded interviews were converted into an mp3 file, and then opened using Audacity. Audacity is an audio-editing program that will enable me to remove sections, which are not relevant to the study, loop parts and export finished work as mp3 files. After completion, the mp3 files were imported into Express Scribe a transcription program. This program allowed me to efficiently and accurately complete the transcription process by slowing down the speed making transcribing easier and more efficient. Next, I copied and paste sections from express scribe into Microsoft Word and save it as an additional backup to my work.

## **Ethical Considerations**

Creswell (2009) notes that in anticipation of data collection, researchers need to respect the participants and the sites for research. As such, the participants in this study were assured confidentiality. All transcripts were free of all identifying information. The researcher protected the anonymity of the participants by using pseudonyms to refer to each participant. In addition, an informed consent form was used to address the following: the nature and goal of the study; confidentiality; and brief explanation of the study. At the beginning of each interview, participants were given information about the study and permission to record. They were informed that participation is voluntary, and they may withdraw at any time. All recordings were stored in an Apple iPhone then transferred to the researcher's personal computer with a secured password. All transcripts, field notes, and researcher's journal were secured in a locked file cabinet in the researcher's office. The recordings and transcripts used pseudonyms and all identifiers were removed when written up.

### **Ensuring Rigor in the Study**

Regardless of the approach to inquiry, a qualitative researcher can encounter ethical issues that surface during data collection in the field and in analysis and dissemination of qualitative reports (Creswell, 2007). Therefore, methodological rigor was attained through the application of reliability, validity, and transferability (Creswell, 2009).

## Validation

According to Creswell (2009) qualitative validity means that the researcher checks for the accuracy of the findings by employing certain procedures. In phenomenological studies, Polkinghorne (1989) refers to validation as an idea that is well grounded and well supported. He asks, "Does the general structural description provide an accurate portrait of the common features and structural connections that are manifest in the examples collected? (p. 57).

After each interview, member checks were conducted to verify the accuracy of what participants shared with me during their interviews. Similarly, conducting member checks can help validate themes (Van Manen, 1990) and to check the accuracy of specific descriptions with participants (Creswell, 2009) about their experiences of the phenomena (Doyle, 2007; Miles & Huberman, 1994). In this study, participants were given the opportunity to read the transcripts to ensure that they have been accurately recorded and therefore credible. This allowed them to acknowledge and comment on the findings.

Triangulation involves the researcher making use of multiple and different sources, methods, investigators, and theories to provide corroborating evidence (Miles & Huberman, 1994; Patton, 1990). In this study, data obtained from multiple participants

were used to build a coherent justification for themes (Creswell, 2009). Additionally, this process involved corroborating evidence from different sources to shed light on a theme or perspective, researcher journal, interview transcripts, and field notes. According to Creswell and Plano (2011) triangulation between participant interviews, researcher journal, and field notes can help to reduce the threats to internal and external validity.

Clarification of researcher bias is important so that readers understand the researcher's position and any biases or assumptions that impact the inquiry (Merriam, 1998). Creswell (2009) asserts that self-reflection creates an open and honest narrative that will resonate well with readers. As such, I maintained a personal journal that included accounts of how the researcher's background, such as, culture, and personal interests brought them to the research and demonstrate how decisions were made throughout the research process. In order to fully describe how participants, view the phenomenon, as recommended by Creswell (2007) the researcher bracketed out, as much as possible, their own experience.

## Reliability

To ensure reliability in this study, three techniques outlined by (Creswell, 2007) were employed in this study. First, the researcher provided a detailed account of the procedures of data analysis in phenomenology, such as (Moustakas, 1994), provide thick description of the experience, the context from which it occurred, and the researcher's role (reflexivity). Second, triangulation or multiple methods of data collection and analysis were used, which helped to strengthen the study's reliability as well as internal validity (Merriam, 1988).

Maintaining a personal journal can be an important expression of reflexivity (Patton, 1990). Through 'epoche' or bracketing the researcher attempted to put out of action the general position which belongs to the essence of the natural attitude (Husserl, 1993). Therefore, in this study, I consciously attempted to describe the phenomenon as it is experienced by the participants as free and unprejudiced as possible, so that it can be clearly understood and described (Dowling, 2007). This reflexive journal included highlights of how my personal history and personal interests brought me to the research and demonstrated how the theoretical perspective impacted the data collection and the research process (Van Manen, 1990).

# Transferability

In qualitative studies, transferability lies in demonstrating that the results of the study can be applied to a wider population. Merriam (1998) posits that it is "concerned with the extent to which the findings of one study can be applied to other situations" (p. 39). Shenton (2005) argues that it is nearly impossible to demonstrate that the findings and conclusions are applicable to other situations and populations. However, Stake (1995) suggests that, although each case may be unique, it is an example within a broader group and, as a result, the prospect of transferability should not be rejected.

Lincoln and Guba (1985) recommend that researchers provide sufficient contextual description about the site which will enable the reader to determine transferability. Therefore, I provided detailed information about the research site, in addition to providing a rich, thick description of the phenomenon of how teachers, administrators, and counselors view their role in working with ELLs. With such detailed description, the researcher enables the readers to transfer information to other settings

and to determine whether the findings can be transferred "because of shared characteristics" (Erlandson et al., 1993, P. 32). Additionally, a rich and rigorous presentation of the findings, together with direct quotations, also helps to enhance transferability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). For example, the researcher provided detailed and appropriate descriptions so that readers could make informed decisions regarding the applicability of the findings to specific contexts. The purpose of qualitative research, including this study, is to gain in depth knowledge about how individuals in a school setting view their roles in working with ELLs, not knowledge that can be generalized (Creswell, 2007).

#### Chapter 4

# Findings

## How Participants Describe Their Roles with ELLs

Research question one focused on how administrators, teachers, and counselors define their role in working with ELLs. The theoretical framework for this phenomenological study draws on the tenets of social justice theory by Theoharis (2007). The data revealed that participants, comprised of five teachers, one counselor, and three administrators, viewed their role exclusively based on their respective positions at the school. The counselor and ESL teacher were the only educators in the building who expressed a willingness to extend themselves beyond their everyday responsibilities to advocate on behalf of the ELLs. Five themes were revealed in the data analysis: (a) advocate, (b) disposition of empathy and support, (c) teaching content, (d) disciplinarian.

# Advocating on Behalf of ELLs

The counselor and the ESL teacher were the only study participants who took steps toward advocating for the ELLs at the school. The counselor regarded ELLs with much respect and considered ELLs some of his closest students. "Over time, they have become possibly some of the best students in our building. I'm talking about academically; socially just well-rounded students and they have worked hard to achieve such status. Many are so appreciative" (Mr. Deer, interview transcription, 10/24/16). Mr. Deer also explained how as the ELL counselor he served as the students' "go to person" Mr. Deer was the assigned counselor responsible for ELLs in the school. He served in this position for 10 years until 2012 when the district hired a bilingual counselor. He noted that it is a major responsibility to think and respond to ELLs in the most efficient and appropriate manner. Mr. Deer is monolingual, and this limited in his ability to communicate with his ELLs. He stated, "My role was to think of and prepare and put students in the best setting that I could" (Mr. Deer, interview transcription, 10/24/16). During his time as the ELL counselor, he described how he worked closely with the school's former ESL teacher. He would often meet with her to discuss student needs and academic progress.

Mr. Deer also acknowledged his own lack of understanding on issues related to ELLs: "It's a big challenge because I don't walk in their shoes. So, I'm trying to capture how they're feeling, understanding how they're feeling and explaining it to someone that isn't seeing it firsthand. What's even more difficult is to explain the level of frustration that ELLs experience to administration, it is difficult" (Mr. Deer, interview transcription, 10/24/16). Although Mr. Deer is monolingual and lacked a full understanding of issues faced by ELLs, this did not deter him from taking on the role of advocate. He described this role as challenging and at times frustrating; however, his genuine concern toward ELLs made him more determined. For example, Mr. Deer attempted to challenge the status quo by directly approaching administration with his concerns about the academic and personal struggles faced by ELLs at the school (Mr. Deer, interview transcription, 10/24/2016).

Ms. Ellen, the school's only ESL teacher, expressed her frustration and desire to secure more resources and support for ELLs. Ms. Ellen was hired as a 9<sup>th</sup> grade language arts teacher in 2006. After two years, she was reassigned to teach ESL. She has been teaching ESL in the district for 10 years. She explained:

I have asked for resources and I don't really have any; that is why I'm here making copies of anything I have to use. I don't have a textbook that is realistic to use. I don't have online subscriptions to help the kids, the technology is not set up. I'm one of the last classrooms in the building that doesn't have a mounted Smartboard (Ms. Ellen, interview transcription, 12/2/16).

Furthermore, Ms. Ellen. stated, "I go to the principal …. There have been many glitches in that" (Ms. Ellen, interview transcription, 12/2/16). The "glitches" referred to her concerns about how some leaders in the building, such as the supervisor of language arts, administrators, and superintendent's office, dismissed her appeals to access resources for ELLs at the school. By appealing to the principal first, Ms. Ellen hoped it would expedite bringing in the necessary materials and resources she desperately wanted for the ELLs in her classroom. However, her appeal to the principal was met with resistance and no follow through.

Aside from the counselor and the ESL teacher, there were two general education teachers who directly talked about advocating on behalf of ELLs. For example, Mr. Holmes, who taught science, shared how he directly approached his supervisor and administrators asking for textbooks in Spanish. Unfortunately, his request was denied. "In this class we have textbooks [that are available by the publisher] in Spanish and in other languages. I was asking the supervisor and administrators if I could purchase copies, so the students could recognize the content but unfortunately it was declined" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/16). He was given the following reason that teachers needed to continue working with ELLs on their English language through his content instruction. In his words, he "was extremely disappointed" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription,

10/4/2016). In a similar example, Mr. Gray, a social studies teacher, explained how he approached the topic of textbooks at a department meeting. "Yes, I have brought it to my department. To be honest, our department is short on textbooks, [but] I know Spanish versions exist. If we could have a certain number of Spanish volumes that would be great" (Mr. Gray, interview transcription, 10/17/16). Even though Mr. Gray made the effort to ask administrators for resources, he was unable to secure history books in Spanish for his ELL students.

None of the three administrators who participated in the study directly spoke about ways they could advocate on behalf of ELLs at the school or at the district level. One of the administrators said, "In most cases if an ELL comes to me is because there's a bump in the road. I would say typically that is what it looks like for me" (Mr. Albert, interview transcription, 9/30/16). Mr. Albert is the school's lead administrator who is responsible for making sure the school is operating in the most efficient manner. His responsibilities include student discipline and overseeing curriculum and instruction. The above comment by Mr. Albert, the school's main administrator, provides evidence of how ELLs did not appear to be a priority at this school. Although principals could articulate what was wrong with the school system and had some understanding of what ELLs needed, there were no mention of a plan to attain the appropriate academic support for ELLs at the school or district level. For example, Ms. Bee another administrator noted, "personally I think we could utilize more bilingual and ESL programs. I would like to see more bilingual teachers" (Ms. Bee, interview transcription, 10/31/2016). Mr. Castro. added, "we need more technology, ELLs need more exposure, students going out

and having different experiences, parent involvement, and presentations with guest speakers" (Mr. Castro, interview transcription, 10/14/2016).

Ms. Bee's and Mr. Castro's comments provided an example of how the school was failing to support ELLs. Most notably, they both expressed what type of supports were needed at the school and district level; however, there was no mention of advocating on behalf of ELLs. Furthermore, taking on the role of advocate was either difficult or nonexistent among all participants. For instance, Ms. Iris, a math teacher, stated that she had not thought about it or had any idea of how to address this. When I asked if things should be brought up in department meetings she stated, "You are right it should be brought up. I think the teachers that are frustrated should do that. I have never thought of bringing it up because it has worked out for me" (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/25/16). Ms. Iris shared that, unlike other teachers, she had developed strategies to work with ELLs and spoke some Spanish to assist ELLs with content. Ms. Iris's feelings about the role of advocacy was based on her own personal experiences as a teacher. She felt confident because of her previous successes in teaching ELLs, therefore she had not considered bringing other teachers' concerns to department meetings.

#### **Disposition of Empathy and Support**

Some participants articulated a disposition of empathy and support toward ELL students. Providing a solid support system for ELLs is important not just for their academic success, but also for their social and emotional development (Cohen et al., 2009; Theohari & O'Toole, 2011). For example, Ms. Iris, a math teacher, displayed empathy and support toward ELLs inability to communicate in English. She stated:

Last year I had a significant number of Latino students in my classroom, so I got myself an English/Spanish dictionary. I did have some Spanish in high school and in college, so I knew a few words. Their face when you could explain something to them and they could do the work. That you could sit with them and try to teach even if it with mixed English and Spanish, amazing (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/5/16).

Ms. Iris's empathy toward her ELL students' language barriers in communicating and understanding content prompted her to seek ways to accommodate their needs. She described purchasing an English/Spanish dictionary to communicate and support ELLs in understanding content. Her desire to create an environment of acceptance and support gave ELLs the tools to experience academic success.

Mr. Holmes, a science teacher, was another teacher that expressed having a deep compassion for ELLs and their struggles. This may be connected to Mr. Holmes's experience as an immigrant from England. He acknowledged how difficult it is to navigate the system, to understand the rules and the culture of a school in the U.S.

When I [Mr. Holmes] first arrived from Europe to a school in the U.S. I felt isolated from the rest of the general population. It was difficult for me. Like me, ELLs at this school are unable to find their own way, they don't know how to integrate and are unable to communicate with people from different backgrounds. At this school, there is less emphasis on working to help Ells to successfully integrate into the school setting (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/16).

Mr. Holmes's positive disposition toward ELLs was connected to his own personal experience as an immigrant entering the country for the first time. He described

how difficult it was for him to acclimate to a new environment and how he felt isolated from the rest of the population. As such, he was more empathetic and supportive toward ELLs as they worked to navigate through a school system that appeared less welcoming or supportive.

Both Ms. Iris and Mr. Holmes had a caring disposition toward ELLs and responded to them with respect and support. They attempted to make connections with their ELL students, and carefully guided them through understanding content. Engendering caring attitudes is essential for ELLs to grow, feel connected, and enables them to succeed academically (DelliCarpini & Dailey, 2009; Nelson & Guerra, 2014; Rios-Aguilar et al., 2010).

The teachers in this study acknowledged that the school had not established a program for academic support for ELLs. Ms. Iris stated: "I don't think [the school] supports [students] as much as we should. In our school, I think we sometimes lean more toward the majority than the minority. I think that's like everything else in life" (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/5/16). Thus, teachers in this study offered extra help after school, paired ELLs with other bilingual students for academic support, and showing sensitivity toward the circumstances that ELLs found themselves in (Fieldnotes, 10/5/2016). For example, Ms. Iris talked about making accommodations for ELLs in math by considering their English levels and excluding beginner ELLs from word problems until they had a better understanding of the English language (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/5/2016). Ms. Iris's empathetic response to the needs of ELLs by excluding them from word problems showed her interest in making it possible for ELLs to meet with academic success.

Most of the teachers mentioned how difficult it must be for someone to come to this country and be expected to learn the subject matter in English. For example, three teachers, Mr. Gray, Mr. Holmes, and Ms. Iris, all talked about making a conscious effort to provide as much academic support as possible by translating content into the students' native language. Mr. Gray noted "As far as the teacher's role, we have to try to open the doors even when there is a language barrier. Students [ELLs] should be taught on the English they know. Initially, teachers should present the material in English/Spanish to help ELLs in understanding the content" (Mr. Gray, interview transcription, 10/17/16). These teachers noted that some of what they did was not within the norm of the school's policy or practice; however, this did not prevent them from providing the necessary supports to the ELLs in their class.

One administrator out of the three interviewed talked about supporting ELLs when there was an issue to be resolved. Mr. Albert stated: "In my experience of support, I can be supportive of them. If an ELL comes to me it's either they're having a difficulty in a course or a situation" (Mr. Albert, interview transcription, 9/30/2016). The other two administrators remained focused on their duties as disciplinarians. The literature reports that when ELLs feel emotionally connected and experience positive support from members of the school community, they are more likely to experience academic success (Nelson & Guerra, 2014); however, Ms. Bee and Mr. Castro focused their attention on discipline, which overshadowed the opportunity to create personal relationships with ELLs at the school. A school climate where students feel appreciated and respected for who they are, experience academic success, take pride in their work, and are less likely to drop out (Uzzell et al., 2014).

ELLs at this school spend one period of ESL daily and the rest in general education classrooms with no academic or language support. All five teachers, including the ESL teacher, expressed frustration at the lack of support they received from administration. They also indicated that they felt stressed about their ELLs' performance. Throughout the interviews, the teachers and administrators said that they relied on the few bilingual staff members to provide support for students. These staff members included a counselor, a Spanish teacher, and a non-teaching assistant. These staff members served as interpreters for ELLs, parent conferences and were often called upon to translate instructional materials for teachers. These staff members received no compensation for their services. It is important to point out that the school's largest student population is Hispanic (47%); however, the school has only three individuals on staff (out of 116) that fluently speak both English and Spanish. This includes a nonteaching assistant, Spanish teacher, and a school counselor. The lack of bilingual staff was expressed by Mr. Albert, principal of the school, who stated, "We have a large population of ELLs, but we have minimal teachers working toward catering toward their needs" (Mr. Albert, interview transcription, 9/30/16).

### **Teaching Content**

Aside from providing as much a support as possible, the teachers in this study were concerned with getting through the curriculum, giving benchmarks, and meeting content standards established by the administration. Mr. Holmes explained, "Honestly, it is frustrating not having enough time to prepare" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/16). Mr. Holmes explained that administration should consider that teachers need more time to prepare lessons to adequately instruct ELLs. Additionally, the demands on

teachers were so great that it left very little time to focus their attention on effectively planning to meet the needs of ELLs. Rios-Aguilar, Gonzalez-Canché, & Moll (2012) stated, "Teachers play a central role in ELL students' education and research has shown that both teachers' perception of their own skills and abilities can influence student outcomes" (p.5).

Teachers in this study, including the ESL teacher, felt ill prepared to deal with the varying degrees of language barriers and academic levels to effectively instruct ELLs. Two of the four general education teachers interviewed voluntarily participated in the district's Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol (SIOP) training, an approach that seeks to integrate language and content learning for ELLs. Ms. Iris, a math teacher and Ms. Far, a language arts teacher did not participate in the SIOP training. Ms. Far, a language arts teacher, stated, "It is difficult for me because I was not formally trained. I feel like if I had formal training it would be easier to try to group students based on language for support" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/16). Although she had no formal training, Ms. Far mentioned that she provided beginner ELLs with lower level reading materials to help them gain confidence and build their language skills. She frequently visited with the school's former ESL teacher for guidance and support. Although Ms. Far wanted to support ELLs and went above and beyond to try to seek resources, she still felt she was not able to meet their needs.

Not being able to provide an adequate support system for ELLs in their classrooms was very frustrating to the teacher participants. Mr. Gray, a social studies teacher, shared, "The level of frustration goes up and down because I don't know their academic levels" (Mr. Gray, interview transcription, 10/17/16). This sentiment was

expressed by most of the teachers in this study. They wished that the administrators would provide better indicators to determine the academic levels of the students. Unfortunately, in some cases, students were left to their own devices. As expressed by Mr. Holmes, "The mentality in this school is sink or swim, which is a disgrace for the academic success of students" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/16). Ms. Bee, a vice principal, shared the same sentiment: "They sink or swim or have to partner up with other students" (Ms. Bee, interview transcription, 10/31/16). There was consensus among teachers and administrators that the sink or swim mentality is detrimental to the academic success of ELLs. In contrast, teachers felt that the school administrators should develop structures to support ELLs in general education classes where they struggle the most. Mr. Holmes was particularly frustrated with the administration's lack of interest in providing support and training to general education teachers.

The remarks made by teachers revealed that there are challenges in dealing with ELLs; however, teachers are expected to find their own way without much support. It is well documented in the literature that educational systems struggle to support the needs of ELLs (Heinke, Coleman, Ferrell, & Kersemeier, 2012); consequently, ELLs do not fare well compared to their English-only peers. Teachers in this study were more than willing to provide ELLs with content in their native language; however, the school's practice and policy maintained an English-only approach to teaching ELLs. The sink or swim mentality that teachers and administrators expressed is a detriment to the academic success and eventual graduation from high school. As Ms. Ellen stated, "we are setting them up for failure" (Ms. Ellen, interview transcription, 12/2/16). Ms. Ellen was referring

to the inconsistencies in the school's practices and policies that have not addressed the necessary academic supports needed by ELLs.

### Disciplinarian

School administrators are in a strong position to affect the educational outcomes of ELLs. Leaders' success in supporting ELLs is predicated on some essential elements: developing district wide policies that emphasize equity, engaging in practices that disrupt school injustices, and increasing staff capacity (Brooks, 2009; Ryan, 2010; Theoharis, 2010). However, administrators that do not lead a school with strong leadership and an emphasis on equity have been shown to adversely affect the educational experiences for ELLs.

For example, Ms. Bee stated: "Being a disciplinarian, sometimes when I have an ELL with an infraction for discipline, we may need another student to translate for us. These are my experiences" (Ms. Bee, interview transcription, 10/31/2016). Ms. Bee described herself as a disciplinarian and within this role her interaction with ELLs was limited only to disciplinary referrals. In general, ELLs could benefit from positive interactions with school staff; however, Mr. Bee's comment reflects how ELLs at this school may have less of an opportunity to engage in positive relationships with administration. Mr. Castro, the only Spanish-speaking administrator, was also only involved with ELLs when they had committed some type of infraction. His conversations centered on what the school was not doing without offering to be part of the solution. He said: "I truly believe that they are not getting a fair share, people know it and the district knows it" (Mr. Castro, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). He went on to say, "The student support services are very minimal here. There is only one Latino administrator in

this school. That speaks volumes with 1400 students with over 47% Latino." Mr. Castro expressed frustration with the school's failure to provide appropriate and consistent support for ELLs. As the only Spanish speaking administrator, Mr. Castro desired more for ELLs; however, from his personal experience he felt that ELLs were not receiving the necessary supports they needed to meet with academic success.

The interactions between ELLs and administrators in this school indicated a lack of sensitivity of which, Cohen et al. (2009) posit is crucial toward the creation of supportive school environments, especially for ELLs. Furthermore, ELLs social and emotional development is enhanced when they feel respected and welcomed by members of the school community. The data collected in this case study indicated the opposite. Although the administrators expressed concerns about the needs of ELLs, and noted ways to improve outcomes for ELLs, none took a direct role in taking further action. One administrator admitted, "I don't think we are equipped" (Ms. Bee, interview transcription, 10/31/16). Ms. Bee added that when meeting with an ELL student she tries to make them feel comfortable. Although Ms. Bee attempts to make ELLs feel more comfortable at the school, her acknowledgement that the school has failed to appropriately support ELLs is a cause for concern.

All three administrators' only contact with ELLs was limited to when they had violated a school rule or regulation. The data indicated that ELLs were not on the administration's radar unless they got into a disciplinary problem. ELLs need to feel secure and understood within a school setting, however administrators' initial contact with an ELL came only after an infraction was committed. Van Roekel (2011) posits that to maximize achievement opportunities for ELLs, educators must understand and

appreciate students' different cultural backgrounds; but in this case, the students' experiences with administrators were framed in negativity.

# Participants' Views of the Benefits and Challenges of ELLs

Research question two was designed to explore participant's perceptions of the benefits and challenges of ELLs within the school context. A major theme running across all participants' responses was the rich diversity that ELLs bring to the school. They viewed diversity as an asset for both the school and the students. The main challenges were: communication, resources and support, lack of professional development, and organizational structures to support ELLs.

# Benefits

**Diversity.** All participants agreed that the greatest benefit is the diversity that ELLs bring to the school. Participants were particularly proud of the fact that the school had students from all parts of the world. The cultural and linguistic diversity among the student body provided a place for students to learn from each other. Ms. Far shared her experience with diversity in her class and the lessons that can be learned from students of different backgrounds. Ms. Far shared: "I had a Muslim student in my class and he taught us about their customs and shared that they are peaceful people" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). According to Ms. Far, the activity helped students understand Muslim student is invaluable" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Mr. Gray added: "Our school is the one of the most diverse schools in the state. I try to impress upon my students that we all from different cultures, immigrants from another place. We put flags of the different cultures in the class" (Mr. Gray, interview

transcription, 10/17/2016). Both Ms. Far and Mr. Gray celebrated and appreciated the diversity within their classrooms. They took advantage of the opportunity to create inclusive classrooms where all students, including ELLs felt welcomed. These opportunities exemplify what Gay (2010) and Hyland (2010) referred to as culturally responsive teaching, which is matched with classroom practices that insure academic performance for ELLs.

Mr. Albert, the school's main principal stated, "America being a melting pot. Having people recently from other places bringing their language, traditions and customs, the blending of the best of everything makes us a richer environment" (Mr. Albert, interview transcription, 9/30/2016). Ms. Iris described the school as a pot of soup where there are all kinds of vegetables. "What I love about our school is that most, but not all are very accepting" (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/5/2016). Mr. Castro, an assistant principal, added, "Our kids get to see different kids from different cultural backgrounds. An opportunity to learn about different languages, traditions, holidays, and cuisines that various students bring to our school" (Mr. Castro, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Ms. Ellen, an assistant principal noted: "It's good to look around the classroom and see that everybody is so different and not the same." Ms. Ellen's sentiment on cultural awareness was based on her strong conviction that people need to be more open-minded when working with individuals from different cultures. She added: "We get caught up in our own cultural or religious background and that it clouds your judgment and our expectations of what people bring to the table" (Ms. Ellen, interview transcription, 12/2/2016). The administrators, like the teacher participants, recognized the value of

diversity and how it brings students together from different backgrounds. Mr. Holmes said it best: "I learn a lot from them" (Ms. Far, interview transcript, 10/14/2016).

At this school, ELLs are recognized as part of the school community on two separate occasions. Participants shared that ELLs cultural heritage is celebrated on multicultural day and during Hispanic heritage month (Fieldnote, 12/2/2016). For example, Mr. Holmes remarked, "We have a special day where students can show their heritage--that is multicultural day. The students themselves want to show their heritage" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/2016). Besides these two events, at the school level there were no structures in place to recognize the academic achievement of ELLs. Mr. Gray stated: "As far as ELLs I don't know how they are recognized" (Mr. Gray, interview transcription, 10/17/2016). Mr. Deer shared that during his time as the ELL counselor he noticed how difficult it was for ELLs to be recognized for achieving mastery of the English language or for any academic award. Mr. Deer felt that the school should incorporate more opportunities to share ELL's cultural heritage and to recognize their academic accomplishments.

# Challenges

In exploring the challenges that the participants perceived relating to ELL students, the major themes that emerged during data analysis were: (a) communication, (b) resources and support, and (c) a lack of professional development.

**Communication.** Participants agreed that communication was the biggest challenge they faced at this school. The school has one Hispanic administrator, who is fluent in English and Spanish. The other two administrators are monolingual. Most of the teaching staff is monolingual and White. A report by the Council of Great Schools found

that about half of large city school districts either have a shortage of teachers for those learning English or will have on within the next five years (Uro & Barrio, 2013). Hence, since a language barrier exists, participants were most concerned with their inability to communicate with ELLs and their parents in their native language. At this school, teachers rely on other students to translate content for ELLs. In addition, the school's few bilingual staff members are utilized for translation and communication between the school and parents.

Another significant concern for teachers, the counselor and school administrators were the lack of bilingual classroom assistants. The literature states that societal and systemic factors further shape the educational experiences of ELLs; this includes the widespread decrease in the number of bilingual educators (Sullivan, 2011). Teachers in this study expressed how difficult it is for them to communicate with ELLs in their native language. The absence of bilingual assistants that could support them and the ELLs in the classroom was a major concern. For example, Ms. Far, an English teacher, said, "I wish I spoke their language. They miss out on text and interpretation if they don't understand the language" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Mr. Holmes noted, "Honestly it is frustrating not being able to make connections with them (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/2016). Mr. Gray reiterated this thought: "The biggest challenge is that I don't speak Spanish. It would be beneficial to have more bilingual teachers. If the school could offer a Spanish class to teachers to increase our understanding of language. I have a limited idea of language there is only so much I can do in my classroom" (Mr. Gray, interview transcription, 10/17/2016). Mr. Gray's lack of

proficiency in the students' home language and inability to communicate with ELLs compelled him to desire more professional development.

Four out of the five teachers in this study spoke about wanting to learn Spanish and suggested that the school district pay for course work to engage teachers in learning the language that is most spoken at the school (Fieldnote, 12/3/2016). The teachers in this school desired what DelliCarpini and Dailey (2009) concluded in their study of best practices: to compassionately understand ELLs, educators must fully experience language learning themselves.

The level of frustration expressed by Ms. Far, Mr. Holmes, and Mr. Gray was a reality for them and they desired more knowledge with respect to language to properly support ELLs in the classroom (Fieldnote, 10/17/2016). Teachers wanted what Heinke, Coleman, Ferrell, and Kersemeier (2012) suggest for building linguistically responsive schools. This includes negotiating language policy and practice, laying the ideological groundwork for school change, building school structures and support systems, and; fostering collaborative communities of learners.

**Resources and support.** The discussion among teachers included the lack of appropriate textbooks; that the school did not embed additional academic and language support throughout the day or after school; and the lack of bilingual assistants to support ELLs in the general education classes. These concerns are consistent with what is reported in the literature in which ELLs receive less than favorable educational resources (Nagel, 2016); opportunities to learn, access, and representation in honor or advanced level courses (Callahan et al., 2010) relative to their White peers (Braboy et al., 2007); inadequate teacher training (Gandara & Hopkins, 2010); and curricular isolation (Fraturra

& Cappers, 2007; Honigsfeld & Dove, 2012). These findings from the literature were echoed in what was reported by teachers and the counselor at this school. The data revealed that general education teachers at this school were struggling to teach ELLs because they have not received the adequate training to support ELLs. Mr. Castro, an assistant principal spoke directly about this by saying: "We need to provide them the same education, level the playing field, highly effective teachers" (Mr. Castro, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Mr. Castro felt compassion for ELLs because he believed that ELLs were not being afforded the same educational opportunities as other students at the school. He wished for more opportunities and knowledgeable teachers for ELLs.

Although teachers made attempts to understand, support, and instruct ELLs, they felt discouraged by the lack of support from administration and at the district level. For example, Ms. Ellen, the school's ESL teacher, expressed dissatisfaction with her inability to instruct ELLs without the necessary instructional materials. She shared, "I'm here making copies of anything I could use. I don't have a textbook, no ESL curriculum, and no online subscriptions that I can use to help the kids [ELLs]. I'm one of the last classrooms without a mounted smartboard" (Ms. Ellen, interview transcription, 12/2/2016). Ms. Far noted "Everything that I have done on my own or with the literacy coach. At the district level, I have not noticed any supports" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, (10/14/2016). In addition, Mr. Deer the schools former ELL counselor noted: "When I was the ELL counselor we were not successful in obtaining resources. The former ESL teacher and I tried to get dictionaries and it was difficult" (Mr. Deer, interview transcription, 10/24/2016).

Unfortunately, the educational needs of ELLs have always required much attention; however, they often receive the least attention in schools (Barrera, 2016). For instance, Mr. Holmes was concerned that ELLs were not being considered within a school-wide plan. He said, "I don't think there is a plan to address the increasing numbers of ELLs within this district. I believe there should be more of a comprehensive plan to a situation that is developing and getting larger" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/2016). As reported in the literature, ELLs are the fastest growing student population in the nation, their academic success in both content and language is critical for their participation in college, careers, and citizenship in U.S. society and the global community (Llosa et al., 2016). Hence, Mr. Holmes was adamant that the district incorporate a plan that would address the needs of ELLs.

Lack of professional development. In most schools, ELLs are taught by teachers who have little or no understanding of their educational and cultural experiences (Rodriguez, Manner, & Darcy, 2010) and a large majority of teachers lack the necessary pedagogical training in properly instructing ELLs (Bunch, 2013). At this school, teachers reported that they are not provided with the necessary ongoing professional development to address how to best educate ELLs. Like the teachers in this study, the education of ELLs has been of great concern throughout our nation's history. The implications for schools and teachers is great as ELLs are linguistically, culturally, and educationally heterogeneous population (DeCapua & Marshall, 2011), as well as varying in social, and emotional needs (Roy-Campbell, 2013). Although, teachers in this study had good intentions, their lack of knowledge about second language acquisition and effective strategies created an environment that was less than ideal for ELLs. For example, Ms. Iris

had this to say, "We need more training, teachers are frustrated. Every teacher here wants their students to be successful, without training it is impossible to do your job until the district identifies this as an issue we are just going to be in the same place" (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/2/2016). Ms. Far continued, "I feel like it's difficult for me because I was not formally trained" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Ms. Iris and Ms. Far were especially concerned that without the necessary training and skills they would not be able to move ELLs forward.

It is well documented that a school's capacity to support ELLs has not kept pace with the ongoing needs of ELLs academic and linguistic needs (Hopkins et al., 2013). The lack of teacher knowledge about second language acquisition and inconsistent school practices in securing the best possible ELL model complicates the matter for both students and teachers (McIntyre et al., 2010; de Oliveira & Athanases, 2007; Stufft & Brogadir, 2011). For example, Ms. Iris shared: "I think you need to have someone that knows how language is learned and could address the needs and concern of the teachers who have [ELLs] in their classrooms" (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/2/2016).

The lack of professional training left teachers feeling incompetent and frustrated. Ms. Iris added, "unfortunately, I know there are a lot of teachers who complain that these kids [ELLs] are in their class and they don't know what to do with them. It's not like we have ever had an in-service on how you can help your ELLs to be successful" (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/4/2016). As reported in the literature, many teachers are underprepared to deal with the culturally and linguistic diversity of ELLs (Markos, 2012; Rosa & Orey, 2010; Darling-Hammond, 2010). Ms. Iris noted that she and other general education face significant challenges in instructing ELLs.

Mr. Gray expressed, "up until last year, I have not noticed any specific professional development for teachers. For me to be here 12 years teaching history it seems like a long time not to address teacher needs" (Mr. Gray, interview transcription, 10/17/2016). Ms. Iris stated "It has never been addressed at a faculty meeting, or in a department meeting. Unless I have forgotten, I don't recall any faculty or department meeting that have addressed ELLs" (Ms. Iris, interview transcription, 10/5/2016). Both Mr. Gray and Ms. Iris expressed disappointment with the school's failure to provide them with the appropriate professional development. Consequently, the unresponsive climate at this school creates academic barriers and obstacles to authentic learning and academic success, thus limiting opportunities for ELLs (Webb & Barrera, 2017).

"A commitment to social justice begins with the recognition that an injustice has occurred and that we will address that injustice through the vision we create and the actions we take to ensure the success of all students" (Hirsch, 2010, p. 72). The data revealed that participants felt that the lack of resources and support for ELLs nonexistent therefore ELLs were not being provided with a fair and equitable educational opportunity. On this topic Ms. Far, described her ideal school for ELLs, "If we can bring the Montessori aspect. Small classes where they can learn English, slowly putting them in inclusion" (Ms. Far, Interview transcription, 10/14/16). Mr. Castro shared his thoughts about how he perceived ELLs experiences at this school. Mr. Castro shared the following:

Difficult. Think about you going to another country and people not willing to help you. Those are major challenges, or you not being provided with a thorough and efficient education that you should be getting compared to students that speak English. That's my opinion. I have seen that last year in this school not being accepted by English speaking students. From what I observed kids generally get along with each other but there is a polarization when you see a group of Latino students sitting on one table and not assimilating with other students this tells you that they don't feel comfortable yet, that they have not been accepted (Mr. Castro, interview transcription, 10/14/2016).

Furthermore, Mr. Holmes expressed how the district is not paying enough attention to the issues surrounding the ELLs at the school. He noted, "I just believe this particular district does not address the issues and I believe we need training now. They need to make sure they [the school] has a plan in place to welcome, monitor [ELLs'] performance like other students that don't have a language barrier" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/2016). Mr. Albert, the school's main principal depicted a school culture where only certain teachers would be willing to work with ELLs. He communicated: "I have a few not many that champion the rights and the needs of ELLs. Overall, the environment is neutral. A minority of people do actively seek to engage the ESL population and seeking resources and work toward advancing their education" (Mr. Albert, interview transcription, 9/30/2016). Both Mr. Holmes and Mr. Albert had an awareness of what is transpiring at the school that seems inequitable toward ELLs. Mr.

Holmes expressed how ELLs need to receive the same treatment as their Englishspeaking peers and how important training is for teachers. On the other hand, Mr. Albert, the school's principal, described a neutral environment that offered very little support from most of his staff.

# **Organizational Structures for ELLs**

The qualitative data revealed that the teachers and the counselor in this study were dissatisfied with how ELLs are positioned in the school compared to their native-English speaking peers. The lack of a unified vision and direction from administrators in advancing opportunities for ELLs was viewed as an obstacle to the academic achievement of ELLs at this school. Lezotte and Snyder (2011) posit that the outcomes for ELLs are more positive in school settings where all stakeholders work together to develop a shared school vision. In addition, ELLs fare better academically in schools where educators model and value the strengths of ELLs families (Cohen et al., 2009; Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011). However, the teachers and the counselor in this study expressed concern that without a shared vision, ELLs will continue to lag behind their monolingual English-speaking peers. For example, Mr. Holmes stated,

I don't think there is enough in the way of support. I think it is based on the structure and the planning of the school district as a whole. It doesn't seem to be an important part of the culture of the school, for many years, no matter whether it is Latino, Asian, or African American students from different backgrounds are expected to integrate on their own without much support (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/2016).

Mr. Holmes and Ms. Iris had similar concerns regarding the lack of support that is embedded into the school culture and that addressing the needs of ELLs does not seem to be a priority. Ms. Iris noted "we [school] tend to lean more on the majority" (Mr. Iris, interview transcription, 10/5/2016). Another teacher, Ms. Far, spoke about the need for the school to reduce class size, increasing resources and involving parents in the process

(Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/16). Parent involvement has been regarded as an important element for the academic success of ELLs (Heineke et al., 2012). Mr. Castro noted that it is "very important to have parental involvement, as many of these parents do not speak English" (Mr. Castro, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Mr. Holmes also agreed by saying: "Involve parents and educating them to what is required is important" (Mr. Holmes, interview transcription, 10/4/2016). From my observation, ELL parents' involvement in the school is limited to back to school nights and extracurricular activities (Fieldnotes, 10/6/2016).

Mr. Deer, a former ELL counselor, shared that his biggest challenge was getting ELLs the same recognitions [academic awards] that all students receive in the building (Mr. Deer, interview transcription, 10/24/16). He explained that he had a difficult time getting administration to understand ELLs' experiences and that they deserve to be recognized. He also shared that it was frustrating when trying to place an ELL in the best position possible when creating a class schedule. He further noted that he specifically picked teachers that would support ELLs. Recognizing the efforts and achievement of ELLs is essential for building capacity among ELLs without it ELLs feel disconnected from the school (Cohen et al., 2009) and are more likely to drop out of school (Bedolla, 2012).

Teachers in this study reported that the lack of time, resources, and support at the school or district level challenged them in educating ELLs. They were also concerned with how ELLs were neglected by administration. This is a pattern that is consistent among other schools where the education of ELLs is not a priority. Even though research and policy have provided educators a better understanding of what is needed, schools

continue to fall short in providing a fair and equitable education for ELLs (Center on Educational Policy, 2010). In addition, the responses of the teachers and the counselor was also consistent with what Sullivan (2011) described as systemic factors that shape the educational experiences; these factors include the availability of language supports, and how educational policies have done little to promote the necessary supports needed by ELLs in schools (Honigsfeld, 2010).

The literature on effective schools emphasizes the importance on building school cultures that utilize language and linguistic diversity as an avenue to improve social, emotional, and academic needs of a diverse population (Gay, 2010). However, the participants in this study described a scenario in which ELLs are underserved. For example, one interview question asked participants to think about what it is like to be an ELL at this school. All nine participants described ELLs experiences as possibly frustrating, scary, strange or isolating (Fieldnote, 12/2/2016). Ms. Bee, an assistant principal, connected the students' feelings with how educators should respond: "I feel it is difficult and we have to be tolerant and patient" (Ms. Bee, interview transcription, 10/31/2016). Ms. Far, a language arts teacher, described the school as a tunnel where there is a lot of noise and ELLs have a difficult time making sense of things. She noted, "It would be hard to think in a classroom where there was all that noise and static" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Ms. Far felt great empathy for ELLs because she understood how difficult it must be for ELLs to acclimate to the expectations in a high school where not much support was being provided. Another teacher could not even imagine being an ELL. She shared, "I can't imagine coming to a country and not

understanding or not being able to read signs. How do you? I don't know how you do that" (Ms. Iris, interview transcript, 10/5/2016).

It is documented in the literature that a positive school climate fosters the development and learning necessary for a productive, contributive, and satisfying life in a democratic society. This climate includes norms, values, and expectations that support feeling socially, emotionally, and physically safe (Cohen et al., 2009; Sailes, 2008). On this topic Ms. Ellen added:

I think the school should play more of a role in the social/emotional development of ELLs then they do right now. In general, we have gotten away from the social development and more focused on testing. There is a lack of sensitivity for ELLs. We don't worry as much anymore about how these kids [ELLs] feel when we just dump them in the cafeteria for lunch with no one to talk to. We have someone following them around for one day and that's it and then you are thrown into the wolves (Ms. Ellen, interview transcript, 12/2/2016).

Ms. Ellen expressed frustration that the school had not developed a long-term plan to support ELLs when they first enter the school. She described the students as being "thrown into the wolves," which is analogous to a dangerous situation newly arrived ELLs (Ms. Ellen, Fieldnote, 12/2/2016). Furthermore, Mr. Albert's comments did not provide a clear road map on how the school would support ELLs and their families. Similarly, Mr. Albert, the principal of the school said,

I should make them a priority I guess. They don't come to me even if I invite them [ELL parents]. I'm very open to talking to people but rarely do these parents call me or come in even if I call someone to come in. If it's not good enough for my child, then it's not good enough for them. We must remove the barriers" (Mr. Albert, interview transcription, 9/30/16).

Based on his own personal feelings, Mr. Albert realized that it is important to remove the barriers that exist by making ELLs a priority. However, he felt that ELL parents were unresponsive and was not clear as to how to invite ELL parents into the school. On the contrary, teachers, the counselor, and two other administrators in this study felt that the school culture needed to embrace and establish a more inclusive environment for ELLs and their parents (Fieldnote, 12/2/2016).

There was widespread agreement among participants that the school should play a significant role in the social and emotional development of ELLs as it could open doors for the in the future. Mr. Albert, the principal, went on to say:

If the primary language is not English this may be the only opportunity [for students] practice without fear. Opportunity to build confidence in using language to network and make connections with the community. In the social development aspect having a safe environment meets new friends and communicate with people who may not be of your family's native origin. Opportunity to expand your horizon. To be exposed to different people and different cultures and I guess become Americanized in a sense (Mr. Albert, interview transcription, 9/30/2016).

According to Brown-Jeff (2011) and Bennett (2013) it is important to acknowledge the home culture of ELL students and to strategically integrate these cultural experiences, values, and understandings into the teaching and environment. However, Mr. Albert's interpretation of what constituted support for ELLs social/emotional development meant that ELLs needed to assimilate to the customs and traditions associated with the U.S.

Mr. Castro, assistant principal stated: "I believe those students [ELLs] need exposure in and exposure out. It's my feeling that social and emotional learning is needed with [ELLs]. The unfortunate thing is that we are focused a lot on testing and the kids lose out because there isn't enough individualization and tailoring of their education" (Mr. Castro, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). ELLs require more time from teachers, however as reported in the literature, teachers spend so much time on testing and following scripted curriculum that they have little time to form valuable relationships with students (Sleeter, 2012). Mr. Castro perceived that ELLs needed more opportunities to engage in school activities that promote their well-being. Mr. Castro was concerned with the school's lack of resources and desired to see ELLs as part of the school in a more meaningful way.

Ms. Far agreed that the school should play a bigger role in developing ELLs' academic and social development. "I don't think they are given enough opportunities to have a strong understanding of the academic and social aspect of speaking English with peers" (Ms. Far, interview transcription, 10/14/2016). Ms. Far was concerned that ELLs were not being afforded opportunities to advance their academic/social development within the school's organizational structure. Additionally, she noted that other than the school counselor no one seemed to be advocating for ELLs. Mr. Gray stated, "the school should play a key role in the academic/social development of ELLs" (Mr. Gray, interview transcription, 10/17/2016). The former ELL counselor Mr. Deer continued: "I think we need to be socially inclusive of everyone and we want everyone to feel that they are in a

caring and safe environment. I think that is the school's role" (Mr. Deer, interview transcription, 10/21/2016). Ms. Far, Mr. Gray, and Mr. Deer shared a strong conviction that ELLs needed more academic support and the school has the responsibility to provide them with opportunities to expand their horizons.

# Conclusion

According to Theoharis and O'Toole (2011) creating inclusive practices for ELLs involves valuing students learning, positioning them and their families, languages, and culture as integral aspects of the school community. This includes members of the school community embracing the challenge to advancing the needs of ELLs through advocacy (Anderson, 2009). In research question one, teacher participants (n = 5) and the counselor (n = 1) collectively agreed that ELLs were not positioned fairly and that their needs were being not being addressed accordingly. Additionally, two teachers out of five felt that ELL parents were left out of meaningful conversations and information regarding their child's education. Furthermore, the counselor and the ESL teacher extended themselves beyond their duties to advocate on behalf of the ELLs at this school. Additionally, two teachers became advocates by approaching administration and supervisors for additional resources for ELLs. The remaining teachers (n = 2) and administration (n = 3) regarded their role with ELLs at specific to teaching or discipline. Berg, Petron, and Greybeck (2012) posit that the education of ELLs is everyone's responsibility and when members of the school community work together to create inclusive environments ELLs fair better.

Furthermore, according to Stepanek, Raphael, Autio, Deussen, and Thompson (2010) school administrators are in a strong position to affect positive change on behalf of ELLs through advocacy and by challenging the status quo. The results of research

question one revealed that teacher participants' (n = 5) and the counselor (n = 1) shared a strong conviction that administration were less than willing to support teachers and that the climate failed to include norms, values, and expectations that would create more positive experiences for ELLs. According to Gay (2010) ELLs school achievement is enhanced when protocols and programs of teaching are synchronized with the mental schema, learning styles, work habits, and background of diverse students. Therefore, when the school fails to recognize ELLs as important, they feel disconnected and are less likely to engage in learning.

Moreover, despite the increasing number of ELLs in U.S. public schools, many teachers are unprepared to deal with the varied educational needs of ELLs (Markos, 2012; Rosa, 2015; & Darling-Hammond, 2010). The results of research question two generated findings which, illustrated that teacher participants (n = 5) were concerned with the lack of pedagogical knowledge of second language acquisition and ongoing professional development that could improve instructional techniques that would support ELLs in general education classrooms. Additionally, the results indicated a lack of cohesiveness among school personnel in collaborating to address the academic, social/emotional needs of ELLs. The teachers and the counselor talked about how they worked in isolation to resolve issues related to ELLs advancement in school. They also expressed disappointed with administrator's minimal efforts in securing the tools and support teachers needed to do an effective job in instructing ELLs. The literature explicitly states and supports that school staff, teachers, counselors, and administrators play a significant role in creating inclusive environments where ELLs feel safe, respected, and afforded the opportunities to excel academically (Cohen et al., 2009; Gay,

2010; Sailes, 2008). Moreover, ELLs that have teachers that are well prepared with the necessary knowledge and skills to support them have positive outcomes (Calderón& Minaya-Rowe, 2010).

#### Chapter 5

# **Discussion and Implications**

As identified in the literature review, the demographics of the U.S. classrooms are becoming more diverse. Between the fall of 2001 and projections for fall of 2021, the number of White students enrolled in U.S. public schools is projected to decrease, whereas the number of Hispanic students is expected to increase from 7.9 million to 14.2 million in 2021 (The Condition of Education, 2013). About an estimated 60% of Hispanic students are ELLs (NCES, 2012). As the number of ELLs continues to increase across U.S. schools, it is critical to raise the consciousness of teachers, administrators, and counselors to reflect on their role in developing inclusive environments practices for ELLs. This is especially critical as the literature on effective schools emphasizes the need for schools to create more socially just schools that are equipped with the necessary supports and advocacy for ELLs (Gay, 2010; Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011).

The objective of this phenomenological study was to explore how teachers, administrators, and counselors define their role in working with ELLs. The aim was to continue the conversation that exists in the literature about the need to create inclusive schools and practices that place the needs of ELLs first. The knowledge gained from hearing the collective responses of teachers, administrators, and counselor that work directly with ELLs daily may benefit other schools that may be struggling to help ELLs meet their academic potential. These findings can also inform practice, policy, and future research in creating inclusive schools for ELLs. The education of ELLs has been of great concern in our nation's history. It is well documented in the literature that educational

systems struggle to meet the needs of culturally diverse students which includes ELLs (Collins, 2014; Sailes, 2008; Heineke et al., 2012).

This study was guided by two research questions:

- 1. How do teachers, administrators, and counselors describe their roles in working with ELLs?
- 2. How do teachers, administrators, and counselors describe the benefits and challenges of ELLs in the school?

By employing Moustakas (1994) five steps, the essence of the teachers, administrators, and counselors' lived experiences relative to their role in working with ELLs was captured. The process involved epoche, phenomenological reduction, and synthesizing the structural and textural descriptions, to arrive at the essence of the phenomena. After the data was transcribed, organized, coded, and analyzed, significant statements were discussed, and themes identified. In chapter four the themes were reported in detail along with a narrative of the lived experiences of the nine participants.

In this chapter, a brief summary of the findings is presented followed by a discussion of the findings in relation to the theoretical framework and relevant literature. Moreover, in this chapter, I discuss the implications of the study and recommendations for future research.

An analysis of the data revealed five themes that directly related to administrators', teachers', and counselors' perceived roles in working with ELLs: (a) advocate, (b) disposition of empathy and support, (c) teaching content, (d) disciplinarian, and (e) organizational structure. Additionally, it was discovered that diversity in the student body was regarded as important to the school. While, challenges in communication, lack of professional development and training, limited resources, and support structures were seen as obstacles that prevented participants from successfully working ELLs.

# **Research Question 1**

In terms of research question one, which explored how administrators, teachers, and counselor view their role in working with ELLs, the analysis suggested that the participants related to ELLs from their respective role at the school. For example, the teachers focused their time and efforts on instruction and making content comprehensible to ELLs. On the other hand, the administrators were solely involved with ELLs through discipline. The counselor was able to advocate and on placing ELLs with the appropriate teachers through scheduling. Examples of advocacy included requesting bilingual textbooks and dictionaries, as well a request by the ESL teacher to develop a curriculum that would assist ELLs in learning English like their monolingual peers.

While there are no established guidelines or rules for the role administrators, teachers, and counselors should embark on with ELLs, the literature on effective schools provides a foundation for understanding the crucial need for advocacy among school personnel. While most of the participants expressed a genuine desire in meeting the needs of ELLs there were minimal examples of continued advocacy on behalf of ELLs. For example, three of the five teachers and the counselor at some point attempted to secure instructional materials directly through supervisors and/or administrators without much success. After being denied, participants seemed less likely to challenge the status quo in making certain that they had the necessary tools and resources to help ELLs. Instead, teachers and counselor worked in isolation. The notion of working in collaboration

among teachers, counselor, and administrators appears to contradict what Heineke et al. (2012) noted: when teachers, administrators, counselors, and community members work together they can work to improve the social, linguistic, and academic achievement of ELLs. Moreover, the findings seemed to echo what Honigsfeld and Dove (2012) concluded in their study, which may explain the reason why the teachers and the counselor were less likely to engage in advocacy on behalf of ELLs. They concluded that teachers often lack the understanding of ELLs' sociocultural, linguistic, academic, and social needs to properly advocate on behalf of ELLs. Moreover, Honigsfeld and Dove's study concluded that teachers often work in isolation without much support, which precludes them from being effective teachers for ELLs.

Furthermore, there exists a body of evidence that teacher education programs should place more emphasis on issues related to equity and social justice in order to develop teacher candidates that become advocates and work to advance the needs of ELLs (Calderón & Minaya- Rowe, 2010; Medina et al., 2015). While the teachers and the counselor in this study had much empathy and were supportive in their own way toward ELLs, they were less informed on how to advocate for what they considered important for ELLs to address the academic, social, and emotional well-being of ELLs at this school.

The teachers and the counselor perceived that the administration was disengaged with the needs of ELLs and disinterested in obtaining appropriate materials, such as bilingual textbooks, and in securing bilingual assistants in general education classes. Regrettably, ELLs also experience higher levels of poverty and are more likely to attend segregated, lower resourced, and unsafe schools, compared to their non-ELL counterparts

(Soto, 2011). In an examination of school characteristics and educational outcomes revealed pervasive disparities for ELLs in resources (Nagel, 2016), opportunities to learn, access, and representation in honors or advanced placement classes (Callahan, Wilkinson, & Muller, 2010), relative to their White peers (Braboy et al., 2007).

Although teachers at this high school received no direct support or guidance, they provided support in teaching content to ELLs by using other students to translate instructional material when possible to make content more comprehensible. Teachers voiced frustration in their inability to accommodate ELLs without knowing their ELLs' academic levels and educational backgrounds. The teachers and the counselor agreed that ELLs shortcomings in English hindered them from accessing the content and therefore are not able to compete academically with their monolingual English-speaking students. This is a legitimate concern expressed by the participants and consistent with de Schonewise Almanza and Klingner (2012), who report that many ELLs have little to no knowledge of the English language when they arrive, and some have had several different levels of schooling. Additionally, as reported by teachers and confirmed through the literature, many ELLs have a difficult time negotiating classroom expectations, perform poorly on state tests, and often drop out before receiving a high school diploma (García Bedolla, 2012). The teachers and counselor were most concerned with the lack of urgency on the part of administrators in the district in securing an appropriate ELL program model and support services for ELLs. In spite of this, teachers and the counselor relied on the ESL teacher when possible for academic support for ELLs.

Moreover, at this school ELLs receive one period of ESL the rest of the day they are in general education classes. According to the teachers and the counselor, ELLs are

expected to acquire the language by being immersed in an all English curriculum without language support. The teachers expressed concern with their lack of knowledge regarding language development and agreed that ELLs needed more attention and academic support. The teachers found it difficult to teach the content to ELLs without having the necessary knowledge of how ELLs acquire language. It is well noted in the literature that ELLs need to comprehend the content without minimal background knowledge or preparation, but also have fewer years to master the English language (Calderón et al., 2011). This analysis supports findings that suggest that a school's capacity to support ELLs has not kept pace with the ongoing needs of ELLs academic and linguistic needs (Hopkins et al., 2013) and the most difficult challenges facing U.S. public schools (Cavanaugh, 2009).

The teachers in this study noted that they are expected to get through a scripted curriculum without being provided ample time to prepare meaningful instructional lesson for their ELLs. In addition, the analysis revealed that administrators did not take opportunities to forge meaningful relationships with ELLs. Their only encounters with ELLs came following a disciplinary referral. All three administrators regarded ELLs as important and valuable to the school environment; however, they spent much of their time attending to discipline and less on understanding ELLs experiences. There is evidence in the literature that recognizes the importance of recognizing the intersecting elements that influence family, community, and societal contexts that influence the lived experiences of ELLs to create optimal learning opportunities for students from diverse backgrounds (Cohen et al.,2009; Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011). Without such attention to these elements, optimizing the development and learning of ELLs cannot be fully

understood, and institutionally embedded interventions to foster learning will fall critically short of their learning and equity goals (Jimenez-Castellanos & García, 2017).

Throughout the interviews, it became apparent that administrators had an awareness of some of the school's shortcomings, such as, lack of resources, academic support, and opportunities offered to ELLs to feel connected to their peers and the wider school community. They acknowledged that more attention needs to be devoted toward the academic, social, and emotional well-being of ELLs. One administrator voiced his concern that ELLs were not given a fair shot with positive exposure to become lifelong learners beyond high school. This apparent disconnect from administrators is detrimental to the success of ELLs. According to Stepanek et al. (2010), school administrators are in the best position to effect positive change on behalf of ELLs through advocacy and by challenging the status quo. The power that administrators possess to change a school culture is illustrated by Theoharis's (2010) qualitative study in which six principals embarked on creating a more just and equitable school experience for ELLs. They sought to disrupt four kinds of social injustices: 1) school structure that marginalized, segregated, and impeded achievement, such as pull-out program; 2) deprofessionalized teaching- focused on staff development; 3) school climate that needs to be more welcoming to marginalized families and communities; 4) disparate student achievement levels. Results of this study and others (Ryan, 2010; Theoharis & O'Toole, 2011) concluded that social justice is a must and can be achieved; that inclusive schooling is necessary and enriching component to enacting justice; that increasing staff capacity is essential to carry out a comprehensive agenda focused on equity, and that creating a climate that deeply values racial, cultural, and economic diversity is key to enacting

social justice in schools. Contrary to this, the data analysis showed that during a typical school day administrators rarely engaged with ELLs. In many cases, their only contact with an ELL was for disciplinary reasons. At this school, administrators maintained to the role of disciplinarian, maintaining order, and assuring that teachers follow the curriculum.

The literature suggests that school administrators that make a conscious effort to promote the needs of ELLs by supporting teachers, creating inclusive environments and engaging families through community partnerships have seen greater academic gains. In addition, ELLs' social/emotional development is enhanced by the feeling of respect received by those in the school community (Stepanek et al., 2010).

# **Research Question 2**

In response to research question two, the analysis suggested that there has been a major shift in the number of ELLs at the school. According to participants, the school has more than doubled in the number of ELLs and continues to grow. The teachers and the counselor feared that without a comprehensive plan from the district or the school to address the needs of such a diverse group of learners, ELLs will be excluded from receiving a fair and equitable education. This finding is consistent with the literature which reports that the demographics of US schools are becoming more culturally and linguistically diverse (Hyland, 2010; Madlangobe & Gordon, 2012; & Ates et al., 2015). In addition, it is well documented that teachers and schools struggle to support the needs of culturally diverse students (Collins, 2014; Sailes, 2008), in particular, ELLs (Heineke et al., 2012).

In speaking about the diversity in the student population, the teachers, the counselor, and the administrators agreed that ELLs are a great addition to the school.

They spoke highly of the linguistic and cultural diversity that ELLs bring to the school. According to researchers, it is critical for schools to should celebrate diversity and more importantly to incorporate such diversity when developing curriculum and instruction (García Bedolla, 2012; de Schonewise Almanza & Klingner, 2012; Nieto, 2000; & Goldenberg, 2008). However, the data revealed that ELLs followed a monolingual curriculum that did not include the students' personal background. Also, when participants shared about how diversity is celebrated and incorporated into the daily activities of the school, participants shared that ELLs experienced a connection to the school and their peers during the school's annual multicultural event held in March and during the Hispanic heritage assembly held in October. According to participants, ELLs are not fully integrated into the school and usually stay together without engaging in conversations with their monolingual English-speaking peers. Also, the teachers and the counselor, and one administrator noted that ELLs accomplishments were not recognized by the school; therefore, ELLs feel isolated and disconnected from the school. They mutually agreed that school practices are not inclusive of ELLs' presence in the school and their individual efforts are not being recognized. Such negative experiences have shown to diminish ELLs chances of being more engaged and academically successful (Gay, 2010; DelliCarpini & Dailey, 2009). Overall, the teachers, administrators, and the counselor noted that most students get along with ELLs in the school. Some teachers reported that on occasions some students are not as sensitive to the needs of ELLs. In general, the teachers were most concerned that ELLs may not feel welcomed or comfortable in the school.

It is important to point out that while the school can increase their efforts in creating a more inclusive environment, a few of the teachers in this study drew on their students' background during instruction. These efforts seem to back up the various assertions in the literature that the importance of connecting on a personal level and using culture when planning classroom instruction is critical to ELLs' academic success. Gay (2010) and Calderón, Minaya-Rowe (2010) among others emphasize how important it is for teachers to develop the necessary skills and strategies for connecting with students who differ from their own backgrounds. By building such meaningful learning environments through the recognition of students' background and identities in instruction, ELLs have greater academic gains in language development (Echevarria & Vogt, 2010). This is further emphasized by Van Roekel (2011) in which he affirms that in order to maximize the achievement opportunities for ELLs, educators must understand and appreciate students' cultural backgrounds.

#### **Challenges in Educating ELLs**

In response to question two, the analysis suggested that there are some serious challenges being faced by the teachers, counselor, and administrators at this school. The challenges that teachers and counselor spoke of were less than optimal support structures for ELLs, lack of in-service and professional development, minimal resources, and communication as a major problem in communicating with students and their families. Additionally, all participants agreed that not having bilingual staff or aides in general education classes to assist ELLs was a major obstacle. This finding corroborates what researchers and scholars have noted about the challenges that many schools face in working with ELLs. The fact that much of the staff is monolingual and White places

ELLs at a disadvantage and unable to compete with their English-speaking peers. According to a report by the Council of Great Schools about half of the large city school districts have a shortage of teachers for those learning English or will have one within the next five years (Uro & Barrio, 2013). The literature states that societal and systemic factors like those described by participants further shape the educational experiences of ELLs, this includes the widespread decrease in the number of bilingual educators (Sullivan, 2011). According to experts in the field, this trend severely affects the outcomes of culturally diverse students, especially ELLs who need more academic, social, and emotional support. At least three out of the four teachers and the counselor wish they spoke Spanish in order to facilitate ELLs learning. Like many general education teachers of ELLs in U.S. schools, the teachers at Stargate High School faced a real challenge in educating ELLs. The analysis revealed that teachers were extremely frustrated and acknowledged that they had received less than adequate training in supporting ELLs through instruction. With more than twenty years combined of teaching experience, participants could not recall a time when they had professional development or an in-service to teach them about ELLs. For general education teachers, past research has consistently shown that ELLs are taught by teachers with little or no understanding of their educational and cultural experiences (Rodriguez et al., 2010). Likewise, Hyland (2010) reported that a large majority of teachers lack the necessary pedagogical knowledge or training in properly instructing ELLs.

# Implications

School structures. The findings suggest that contextual factors such as limited resources, poor communication among school staff about ELLs, and relationships (lack of collaboration) create complex dynamics that impede teachers for creating optimal learning environments for ELLs. According to participants, the policies and practices that guide the school are at best limited and weak. The teachers and the counselor agreed that at the school and district level there had been no conversation about ELLs and how to address their needs. Therefore, the creation of a task force to specifically address ELLs at this school would benefit teachers in voicing their concerns. It would also allow teachers the opportunity to collaborate with school personnel in creating a curriculum, accessing resources, and developing a shared vision for the success of ELLs at this school.

The literature reports that in most U.S. schools ELLs are at a disadvantage and tend to perform poorly academically compared to their English-speaking peers. The lack of support and guidance that participants spoke of indicates that issues of equity and access for ELLs are compromised at this school. The literature and research studies reinforce the need to create inclusive environments where all students, especially, ELLs, could thrive. For example, Theoharis's (2010) found that social justice in schools is necessary to create more just and equitable schools. Theoharis's study regards principals as the catalyst for change in schools. In his study six principals' sought to disrupt injustices. Theoharis concluded that social justice is a must and can be achieved; that inclusive schooling is necessary and enriching component to enacting justice; that increasing staff efficacy is essential to carry out a comprehensive agenda focused on equity; and that creating a climate that deeply values racial, cultural, and economic

diversity is a key to enacting justice in schools. The greatest outcome is that such efforts resulted in higher academic achievement for marginalized students. Participants in this study mutually agreed that ELLs should not be ignored and hoped that school administrators could provide them with the necessary tools to level the playing field for ELLs. As such, this school should work to promote a school-wide culture that supports and embraces inclusive practices. Such an approach will help to create an environment where all students, including ELLs feel connected, safe, and welcomed.

The teachers in this study continually expressed how difficult it was for them to teach ELLs without the necessary support and instructional tools from administration and supervisors. Integration of ELLs into general education classrooms has its benefits, however, teachers need support and training in order to address the needs of ELLs. Therefore, it is important for the administration to provide teachers with the necessary inservice and professional development regarding best practices for ELLs. From their perspective, ELLs and their families are not integrated accordingly to support their academic, social, and emotional well-being. For example, one of the teachers stated: "We are setting them up for failure" (Ms. Ellen, interview transcript, 2016). What was more alarming was some administrators acknowledged that the school operated on a "sink or swim mentality". More specifically, that ELLs needed to learn the language and navigate through the school system on their own. From the teachers and counselor's perspective, the lack of unified vision and direction from administrators in advancing opportunities for ELLs was seen as a major obstacle to the academic success of ELLs and eventual graduation from high school. Therefore, adopting school practices that benefit all students, especially for ELLs is and should be a priority (Echevarria & Graves, 2007;

Rios-Aguilar 2010; Gay, 2010; Rios-Aguilar et al., 2012). Therefore, the school should work to have a designated space for ELLs to receive academic support through additional tutoring and language support. Also, the school should consider developing a mentoring program for newly arrived ELLs to help them acquire the necessary skills to navigate successfully throughout their high school career and beyond. Additionally, these opportunities will allow ELLs to feel safe and welcomed in an environment that for many are unfamiliar to many of them.

Teacher participants expressed how difficult it is to teach in a school where ELLs do not appear to be a priority and where their repeated requests for support and resources seemed to be ignored. This supports what the literature suggests; even though research and policy have provided educators a better understanding of what is needed, schools continue to fall short in providing a fair and equitable education for ELLs (Center on Educational Policy, 2010; Honigsfeld, 2010). Likewise, the lack of language support and minimal support services directly supports Sullivan's (2011) description of the systemic factors that close off ELLs from experiencing success and feeling more connected to their school. According to researchers and scholars, the education of ELLs has always required much attention, however they often receive the least attention in schools (Barren, 2016).

A positive school climate has been regarded as the most important element that fosters the development for productive, contributive, and satisfying life in a democratic society. This climate includes norms, values, and expectations that support social, emotional, and physical safety (Cohen et al., 2009; Sailes, 2008). The quality of instruction is what matters in educating ELLs (Calderón et al., 2011). Based on their review of the literature on school reform and effective practices, Calderón, Slavin, and

Sailes concluded that effective programs include four structural elements that benefit ELLs: 1) constant collection and use data on learning, teaching, attendance, and behavior, (2) strong focus on professional development for all staff members, including administrators, 3) standards of behavior and effective strategies for classroom and school management, (4) leadership focused on building a "high reliability organization" that shares information widely, monitors quality of teaching and learning carefully, and holds all staff accountable for progress toward established goals in addition to, setting high expectations for all students (Stufft & Brogadir, 2011). The above recommendations by Calderón, Slavin, and Sailes could serve administrators at this school by providing them with concrete evidence based structural elements that would give ELLs are a more positive educational experience.

Moreover, developing connections with students' families and cultures through culturally relevant teaching methods and curriculum is essential to the academic success of ELLs. For example, Araujo (2009) identified and described a set of practices and strategies for working and collaborating with diverse families. These include: (a) incorporating funds of knowledge, (b) practicing culturally relevant teaching, (c) fostering effective communication, and (d) extending and accepting assistance. In order to alleviate the concern about the lack of parent involvement, this school should make every effort to increase ELL parent participation in school-wide events. This includes 1) providing translators for parent conferences and school events; 2) making sure that all communication, letters, etc. are sent home in various languages; 3) practicing culturally responsive teaching. Such efforts will ensure that ELLs and their families feel

appreciated and valued by the school. Moreover, ELLs will have a better chance for academic success.

#### **Professional Development**

The literature makes a powerful statement about the need for ongoing professional development for teachers of ELLs, in particular, general education teachers is of critical importance (Bunch, 2013; García et al., 2010). The analysis supports the fact that despite the increasing number of ELLs across U.S. public schools, many teachers are underprepared to deal with the varied challenges presented by ELLs and the complex issues concerning the linguistic and culturally relevant education (Markos, 2012; Rosa, 2015; Darling-Hammond, 2010) of these students. Throughout the interviews, the teachers expressed a desire to learn instructional strategies to help ELLs but felt helpless without the proper training. Although teachers had knowledge of their content and pedagogy to teach their subject matter, their sense of self-efficacy was low when teaching ELLs. Some of the teachers described a scenario in which they had not received any in-service or professional development related to ELLs. One teacher with twelve plus years of experience stated that he had never had training until recently when he volunteered for a SIOP training. Others noted that as far they could remember ELLs were never addressed at faculty or department meetings. This expands on the fact that such neglect creates academic barriers and obstacles to authentic learning and academic success, thus limiting opportunities for ELLs (Calderón et al., 2011). This lack of training by general education teachers is further supported by Samson and Collins's (2012) notion that while general education teachers need to understand and know their

content and pedagogy to teach grade-level standards, they will also need specific skills to help ELLs access the curriculum.

In order to address the lack of professional development that teachers currently receive, administrators should implement professional development and in-service days throughout the school year. Such professional development should focus on the practical strategies for teachers to incorporate appropriate instructions and assessments in the general education classes to meet the needs of ELLs. Also, administrators and department supervisors could ensure that teachers are equipped with the necessary resources in the classroom to reflect the linguistic and cultural diversity in the school. Moreover, administrators should encourage collaboration among general education teachers and ESL specialists. This partnership will assist teachers in preparing lesson plans and in building their instructional and assessment strategies in supporting ELLs as they work to understand the content.

Furthermore, participant narratives uncovered that the lack of professional development, cultural understanding, and knowledge of language acquisition, and inability to communicate with ELLs made for a very challenging and stressful environment. However, they pushed forward by offering academic support after school, translating documents when possible, and used other native speaking students to help with content. In order to address the teacher's inability to communicate with ELLs, the school should hire bilingual assistants that could serve as assistants to support teachers and ELLs in general education classrooms. This finding is cause for concern as scholars and researchers point out that teachers that are well prepared to face the challenges of meeting the needs of ELLs fare better; for the most part these students' make great

academic gains (Apple, 2011; Knutsen-Miller et al., 2009; Reeves, 2009). In addition, scholars (McIntyre et al., 2010; de Oliveira & Athanases, 2007; Stufft & Brogadir, 2011) have found that the lack of teacher knowledge about second language acquisition and inconsistent school practices in securing the best possible ELL model complicates the matter for both students and teachers.

The analysis also showed that ELLs are often referred for discipline, have low academic achievement and may have to repeat courses. A large majority of ELLs are struggling academically with many having to repeat a grade or needing to attend summer school. During the 2016 - 2017 school year, 37 out of 74 students failed one or more courses (Genesis, 2016 - 17). This finding supports what studies have found that limitations in learning opportunities for ELLs can result in several negative outcomes, such as discipline issues, referral to special education, grade retention, and low academic gains (Sullivan, 2011). As mentioned by scholars and researchers in the field, ELLs have difficulty negotiating language, mastering content, and understanding the demands and expectations in the U.S public schools (de Schonewise Almanza & Klingner, 2012; García Bedolla, 2012). Therefore, it is imperative that school administrators use data to review current trends in the academic progress of ELLs. Such information could be used to evaluate ELLs program and implement appropriate academic, social, and emotional support throughout the school.

## **Preservice Teacher Education**

The fact that the nation's teachers will encounter a diverse range of learners requires that every teacher has sufficient breadth and knowledge and range of skills to be able to meet the needs of all students, including ELLs (Samson & Collins, 2012). This is the challenge facing teacher education programs, to ensure that teacher candidates are well prepared to provide ELLs with the necessary instruction to help build their linguistic, social, and academic growth (Baecher, 2012). According to scholars and researchers (Fitts & Gross, 2012), field experiences and cultural immersion programs help preservice teachers develop a better understanding of the issues related to culturally responsive pedagogy. Studies conclude that teacher candidates who participate in study abroad programs develop greater empathy and understanding of diverse students and ELLs (Quezada & Alfaro, 2010; Polat, 2010; Medina et al., 2015). In these contexts, teachers gain the knowledge to make conscious decisions about the type of instruction to meet the needs of ELLs (Gay, 2010). Also, through shared interactions, preservice and in-service teachers become more culturally sensitive and develop empathy toward individuals from backgrounds different from their own. Once teachers are in the field, Sleeter (2012) notes that teachers can bring an awareness of diverse cultures with possibilities of relating to their students. Additionally, Brown-Jeff and Cooper (2011) and Bennett (2013) emphasize that ongoing professional development through integration of cultural experiences, values, and understanding of home culture into the teaching environments is essential for teachers to understand ELLs.

## **Concluding Comments**

This study examined how teachers, administration, and counselor view their roles in working with ELLs. Additionally, it explored teachers, administrators, and counselor views on the challenges and benefits of working with ELLs. Although the literature contains several scholarly articles to assist schools in addressing the needs of ELLs, schools struggle in meeting their academic, social, and emotional needs. It is well documented that teachers and schools struggle to support the needs of culturally diverse students (Sailes, 2008), in particular, ELLs (Heineke et al., 2012). Teachers, administrators, and the counselor indicated several improvements that could be made in the learning and teaching at this school for ELLs which includes: resources, bilingual textbooks, inclusive practices, and professional development. This research makes explicit that Star Gate High School needs to devote more time in making ELLs a priority. The teachers desired to help ELLs in understanding content, however, the lack of professional development made teaching ELLs a challenge. The study showed the importance and need for teachers to engage in continuous professional development about meeting the needs of ELLs. Based on this, school administrators need to ensure that teachers receive adequate ongoing professional development.

It is my hope that my analysis and interpretation of the findings from this study could inspire other schools (teachers, administrators, and counselors) to create a schoolwide culture of inclusivity where all students are afforded the same access and an equitable education. I would also hope that everyone reflects on and is encouraged to engage in social justice and advocacy for ELLs. Further research could focus not just on

the individual roles that administrators, teachers, and counselors play in working with ELLs but in how they connect to the success of ELLs academic experience.

## References

- Agar, M. (1980). Stories, background knowledge and themes: Problems in the analysis of life history narrative. *American Ethnologist*, 7(2), 223-239.
- Alfaro, C., & Quezada, R. L. (2010). International teacher professional development: Teacher reflections of authentic teaching and learning experiences. *Teaching Education*, 21(1), 47-59.
- Aminy, M., & Karathanos, K. (2011). Benefiting the Educator and Student Alike: Effective Strategies for Supporting the Academic Language Development of English Learner (EL) Teacher Candidates. *Issues in Teacher Education*, 20(2), 95-109.
- Anderson, G. L. (2009). Advocacy leadership: *Toward a post-reform agenda in education*. Routledge.
- Apple, M. W. (2011). Global crises, social justice, and teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 62(2), 222-234.
- Araujo, B. E. (2009). Best practices in working with linguistically diverse families. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 45(2), 116-123.
- Artiles, A. J., & Bal, A. (2008). The next generation of disproportionality research: Toward a comparative model in the study of equity in ability differences. *The Journal of Special Education*, 42(1), 4-14.
- Assaf, L. C., Garza, R., & Battle, J. (2010). Multicultural teacher education: Examining the perceptions, practices, and coherence in one teacher preparation program. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 37(2), 115-135.
- Ates, B., Kim, S., & Grigsby, Y. (2015). Cultural narratives in TESOL classrooms: a collaborative reflective team analysis. *Reflective Practice*, *16*(3), 297-311.

- Aud, S., Fox, M. A., & KewalRamani, A. (2010). Status and Trends in the Education of Racial and Ethnic Groups. NCES 2010-015. *National Center for Education Statistics*.
- Aud, S., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., Kristapovich, P., Rathbun, A., Wang, X., & Zhang, J. (2013). The Condition of Education 2013. NCES 2013-037. *National Center for Education Statistics*.
- August, D., Goldenberg, C., & Rueda, R. (2010). Restrictive state language policies: Are they scientifically based. *Forbidden language: English learners and restrictive language policies*, 139-158.
- August, D., & Shanahan, T. (Eds). (2006). *Developing literacy in second-language learners*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Baecher, L. (2012). Pathways to teacher leadership among English-as-a-secondlanguage teachers: professional development by and for emerging teacher leaders. *Professional Development in Education*, 38(2), 317-330.
- Ballantyne, K. G., Sanderman, A. R., & Levy, J. (2008). Educating English Language Learners: Building Teacher Capacity. Roundtable Report. National Clearinghouse for English Language Acquisition & Language Instruction Educational Programs.
- Banks, J. A. (2009). Multicultural education: Dimensions and paradigms. In *The Routledge international companion to multicultural education* (pp. 29-52). Routledge.
- Barrera, E.S., IV. (2016). Not hot enough for English language learners: Instructional challenges at the state, national, and international level. In E. Martinez, & J. Pilgrim, (Eds), *Texas Association of Literacy education yearbook: Literacy, research, and practice* (v. 2, pp. 1- 14). San Antonio, TX: Specialized Literacy Professionals & Tale.
- Baum, M., Castro, A. J., Field, S. L., & Morowski, D. L. (2016). Learning from preservice teachers' thoughts about teaching in urban schools: Implications for teacher educators. *Education and Urban Society*, 48(1), 4-29.

- Bell, L. (1997). Theoretical foundations for social justice education. In M. Adams, L. Bell, & P. Griffin (Eds.), Teaching for diversity and social justice (pp. 3-16). New York: Routledge.
- Bell, L.A. (2007). Theoretical foundations for social justice education. In M. Adams, L.A. Bell, & P. Griffin (Eds.), Teaching for diversity and social justice (2nd). New York, NY: Routledge
- Bennett, S. V. (2013). Effective facets of a field experience that contributed to eight preservice teachers' developing understandings about culturally responsive teaching. *Urban Education*, *48*(3), 380-419.
- Berg, H., Petrón, M., & Greybeck, B. (2012). Setting the foundation for working with English language learners in the secondary classroom. *American Secondary Education*, 34-44.
- Boone, J. H. (2011). ¡ Ya me fui! When English learners consider leaving school. *Education and Urban Society*, 45(4), 415-439.
- Borman, G., & Dowling, M. (2010). Schools and inequality: A multilevel analysis of Coleman's equality of educational opportunity data. *Teachers College Record*, 112(5), 1201-1246.
- Brayboy, B. M. J., Castagno, A. E., & Maughan, E. (2007). Chapter 6 equality and justice for all? Examining race in education scholarship. *Review of research in education*, 31(1), 159-194.
- Brown-Jeffy, S., & Cooper, J. E. (2011). Toward a Conceptual Framework of Culturally Relevant Pedagogy: An Overview of the Conceptual and Theoretical Literature. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 38(1), 65–84.
- Bunch, G. C. (2013). Pedagogical language knowledge: Preparing mainstream teachers for English learners in the new standards era. *Review of Research in Education*, 37(1), 298-341.

- Burrell Storms, S. (2015). Social justice in practice? Exploring teacher candidates' commitment toward change agency through action research. *Action in Teacher Education*, *37*(2), 156-171.
- Calderón, M. E., & Minaya-Rowe, L. (2010). Preventing long-term ELs: *Transforming* schools to meet core standards. Corwin Press.
- Calderón, M., Slavin, R., & Sánchez, M. (2011). Effective instruction for English learners. *The Future of Children*, 103-127.
- Callahan, R., Wilkinson, L., & Muller, C. (2010). Academic achievement and course taking among language minority youth in US schools: Effects of ESL placement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *32*(1), 84-117.
- Castro, A. J. (2010). Themes in the research on preservice teachers' views of cultural diversity: Implications for researching millennial preservice teachers. *Educational Researcher*, *39*(3), 198-210.
- Cavanaugh, C. (2009). Getting students more learning time online: *Distance education in support of expanded learning time in schools*. Washington, DC: Center for American Progress.
- Center on Educational policy. The George Washington University. Washington, DC. Retrieved from https://www.cep-dc.org/CEP-Research-Areas.cfm?DocumentTopicID=6
- Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. Sage.
- Chubbuck, S.M. (2010). Individual and structural orientations in socially just teaching: Conceptualization, implementation, and collaborative effort. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 61, 197-210.
- Cochran-Smith, M. (2003). The multiple meanings of multicultural teacher education: A conceptual framework. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *30*(2), 7-26.

- Cochran-Smith, M. (2010). Toward a theory of teacher education for social justice. In *Second international handbook of educational change* (pp. 445-467). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Cochran-Smith, M., Shakman, K., Jong, C., Terrell, D. G., Barnatt, J., & McQuillan, P. (2009). Good and just teaching: The case for social justice in teacher education. *American Journal of Education*, *115*(3), 347-377.
- Coffey, A., & Atkinson, P. (1996). Making sense of qualitative data analysis: Complementary strategies.
- Cohen, J., McCabe, L., Michelli, N. M., & Pickeral, T. (2009). School climate: Research, policy, practice, and teacher education. *Teachers college record*, *111*(1), 180-213.
- Collins, B. A. (2014). Dual language development of Latino children: Effect of instructional program type and the home and school language environment. *Early childhood research quarterly*, *29*(3), 389-397.
- Cooper, C. W. (2009). Performing cultural work in demographically changing schools: Implications for expanding transformative leadership frameworks. *Educational administration quarterly*, 45(5), 694-724.
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Five qualitative approaches to inquiry. *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*, 2, 53-80.
- Creswell, J. W., Hanson, W. E., Clark Plano, V. L., & Morales, A. (2007). Qualitative research designs: Selection and implementation. *The counseling psychologist*, *35*(2), 236-264.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (Vol. 4). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, P. VL (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*, *2*.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research. *Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research*.
- Cummins, J. (2000). *Language, power, and pedagogy: Bilingual children in the crossfire* (Vol. 23). Multilingual Matters.
- Cummins, J. (2001). HER classic reprint: Empowering minority students: A framework for intervention. *Harvard Educational Review*, 71(4), 649-676.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2010). Teacher education and the American future. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *61*(1-2), 35-47.
- DeCapua, A., & Marshall, H. W. (2010). Serving ELLs with limited or interrupted education: Intervention that works. *TESOL Journal*, 1(1), 49-70.
- DeCapua, A., & Marshall, H. W. (2011). Reaching ELLs at risk: Instruction for students with limited or interrupted formal education. *Preventing school failure: Alternative education for children and youth*, *55*(1), 35-41.
- De Felice, D., & Janesick, V. J. (2015). Understanding the marriage of technology and phenomenological research: From design to analysis. *The qualitative report*, *20*(10), 1576-1593.
- de Oliveira, L. C., & Athanases, S. Z. (2007). Graduates' reports of advocating for English language learners. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 58(3), 202-215.
- de Schonewise, E. A., & Klingner, J. K. (2012). Linguistic and cultural issues in developing disciplinary literacy for adolescent English language learners. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 32(1), 51-68.
- DelliCarpini, M., & Dailey, A. (2009). Success with ELLs: A Decade of ESOL Experience in about a Thousand Words. *The English Journal*, 99(1), 127-129.

Denzin, N. K. (1986). Postmodern social theory. Sociological theory, 4(2), 194-204.

- Denzin, N. K. (1994). Lincoln YS Handbook of Qualitative Research. *Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, 19*(9), 4.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2000). Strategies of inquiry. *Handbook of qualitative research*, *2*, 367-378.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Sage Publications Ltd.
- DiAngelo, R., & Sensoy, O. (2012). Is everyone really equal? An introduction to key concepts in social justice education.
- Dove, M., & Honigsfeld, A. (2010). ESL coteaching and collaboration: Opportunities to develop teacher leadership and enhance student learning. *TESOL journal*, *1*(1), 3-22.
- Dutro, S., Levy, E., & Moore, D. W. (2011). Equipping adolescent English learners for academic achievement: An interview with Susana Dutro and Ellen Levy. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 55(4), 339-342.
- Echevarria, J., & Graves, A. W. (2007). Sheltered content instruction: *Teaching English language learners with diverse abilities*. Los Angeles, CA: Pearson Allyn and Bacon.
- Echevarria, J., & Vogt, M. (2010). Using the SIOP Model to improve literacy for English learners. *New England reading association journal*, 46(1), 8-15.
- Erlandson, D. A., Harris, E. L., Skipper, B. L., & Allen, S. D. (1993). *Doing naturalistic inquiry: A guide to methods*. Sage.
- Evans, A. E. (2007). Horton, Highlander, and leadership education: Lessons for preparing educational leaders for social justice. *Journal of School Leadership*, 17(3), 250.

- Feistritzer, E. C. (2011). Profile of teachers in the United States. *National Center for Education Information*.
- Fitts, S., & Gross, L. A. (2012). Teacher candidates learning from English learners: Constructing concepts of language and culture in Tuesday's tutors afterschool program. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 39(4), 75-95.
- Freire, P., & Ara, A. M. (1998). Pedagogy of the heart. Bloomsbury Publishing USA.
- Fry, R. (2008). The Role of Schools in the English Language Learner Achievement Gap. *Pew Hispanic Center*.
- Frattura, E. M., & Capper, C. A. (2007). New teacher teams to support integrated comprehensive services. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 39(4), 16-21.
- Gándara, P., & Hopkins, M. (2010). English learners and restrictive language policies. New York, Columbia University, Teachers College.
- García, E., Arias, M. B., Harris Murri, N. J., & Serna, C. (2010). Developing responsive teachers: A challenge for a demographic reality. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 61(1-2), 132-142.
- García Bedolla, L. (2012). Latino education, civic engagement, and the public good. *Review of Research in Education*, *36*(1), 23-42.
- García, S. B., & Guerra, P. L. (2004). Deconstructing deficit thinking: Working with educators to create more equitable learning environments. *Education and urban society*, *36*(2), 150-168.
- Gay, G. (2002). Preparing for culturally responsive teaching. *Journal of teacher education*, *53*(2), 106-116.
- Gay, G. (2010). *Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, research, and practice*. Teachers College Press.

Gibbs, G. R. (2018). Analyzing qualitative data (Vol. 6). Sage.

- Goldenberg, C. (2008). Teaching English language learners: What the research does-and does not-say.
- Grainger, K., & Jones, P. E. (2013). The 'Language Deficit 'argument and beyond. *Language and Education*, 27(2), 95-98.
- Greene, M. (2004). Curriculum and consciousness. In D. J. Flinders & S. J. Thornton (Eds.), The curriculum studies reader (2nd ed.) (pp.135-147). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Griner, A. C., & Stewart, M. L. (2013). Addressing the achievement gap and disproportionality through the use of culturally responsive teaching practices. *Urban Education*, 48(4), 585-621.
- Hakuta, K. (2011). Educating language minority students and affirming their equal rights: Research and practical perspectives. *Educational Researcher*, 40(4), 163-174.
- Han, W. J., & Bridglall, B. L. (2009). Assessing school supports for ELL students using the ECLS-K. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *24*(4), 445-462.
- Harper, C. A., & de Jong, E. J. (2009). English language teacher expertise: The elephant in the room. *Language and Education*, 23(2), 137-151.
- Hayes, C., & Juarez, B. (2012). There is no culturally responsive teaching spoken here: A critical race perspective. *Democracy and Education*, 20(1), 1.
- Heineke, A. J., Coleman, E., Ferrell, E., & Kersemeier, C. (2012). Opening doors for bilingual students: Recommendations for building linguistically responsive schools. *Improving Schools*, 15(2), 130-147.
- Heineke, A. J., & Cameron, Q. (2013). Teacher preparation and language policy appropriation: A qualitative investigation of Teach for America teacher in Arizona. *education policy analysis archives*, 21(33).

- Helfrich, S. R., & Bosh, A. J. (2011, July). Teaching English language learners: Strategies for overcoming barriers. In *The Educational Forum* (Vol. 75, No. 3, pp. 260-270). Taylor & Francis Group.
- Hirsch Jr, E. D. (2010). The schools we need: *And why we don't have them*. Anchor.
- Honigsfeld, A. (2009). ELL programs: Not 'one size fits all'. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 45(4), 166-171.
- Honigsfeld, A. G, M. (2010). *Collaboration and co-teaching: strategies for English learners*.
- Honigsfeld, A., & Dove, M. G. (2012). Collaborative Practices to Support All Students. *Principal Leadership*, 12(6), 40-44.
- Hopkins, M., Thompson, K. D., Linquanti, R., Hakuta, K., & August, D. (2013). Fully accounting for English learner performance: A key issue in ESEA reauthorization. *Educational Researcher*, *42*(2), 101-108.
- Hoppey, D., & McLeskey, J. (2013). A case study of principal leadership in an effective inclusive school. *The Journal of Special Education*, 46(4), 245-256.
- Hussar, W. J., & Bailey, T. M. (2011). National center for education statistics, 2011. *Projections of education statistics to*, 2020.
- Hyland, N. (2010). Social justice in early childhood classrooms: What the research tells *us. Young Children, 65(1), 82-90.*
- Hytten, K., & Bettez, S. C. (2011). Understanding Education for Social Justice. *Educational Foundations*, 25, 7-24.
- Iddings, A. C. D., Combs, M. C., & Moll, L. (2012). In the arid zone: Drying out educational resources for English language learners through policy and practice. *Urban Education*, 47(2), 495-514.

- Janesick, V. J. (2004). 'Stretching' exercises for qualitative researchers (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.
- Jansen, G., & Peshkin, A. (1992). Subjectivity in qualitative research. *The handbook of qualitative research in education*, 681-725.
- Jean-Marie, G., Normore, A., & Brooks, J. S. (2009). Leadership for social justice: Preparing 21st century school leaders for a new social order. Journal of Research on Leadership in Education, 4(1), 1–31.
- Jiménez-Castellanos, O. H., & García, D. (2017). School expenditures and academic achievement differences between high-ELL-performing and low-ELL-performing high schools. *Bilingual Research Journal*, 40(3), 318-330.
- Juárez, B. G., & Hayes, C. (2010). Social justice is not spoken here: Considering the nexus of knowledge, power and the education of future teachers in the United States. *Power and Education*, 2(3), 233-252.
- Karathanos, K. (2009). Exploring US mainstream teachers' perspectives on use of the native language in instruction with English language learner students. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, 12(6), 615-633.
- Karathanos, K. A. (2010). Teaching English language learner students in US mainstream schools: Intersections of language, pedagogy, and power. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14(1), 49-65.
- Katz, L., Scott, J. C., & Hadjioannou, X. (2009). Exploring attitudes toward language differences: Implications for teacher education programs. In *Affirming Students' Right to their Own Language* (pp. 123-140). Routledge.
- Knutsen-Miller, K., Gomez, S., Strage, A., Knutson-Miller, K., & Garcia-Nevarez, A. (2009). Meeting the need for K-8 teachers for classrooms with culturally and linguistically diverse students: The promise and challenge of early field experiences. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 36(4), 119-140.

Kvale, S. (2009). Inter-Views (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Ladson Billings, G. (1995). But that's just good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. *Theory into practice*, *34*(3), 159-165.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2009). Race still matters: Critical race theory in education. In *The Routledge international handbook of critical education* (pp. 120-132). Routledge.
- Lazar, A. (2013). Learner autonomy and its implementation for language teacher training. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *76*, 460-464.
- Lezotte, L. W., & Snyder, K. M. (2011). *What effective schools do: Re-envisioning the correlates*. Solution Tree Press.
- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Lincoln, Y. S. (1995). Emerging criteria for quality in qualitative and interpretive research. *Qualitative inquiry*, 1(3), 275-289.
- Linn, D., & Hemmer, L. (2011). English language learner disproportionality in special education: Implications for the scholar-practitioner. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, *1*(1), 14.
- Lofland, J., & Lofland, L. H. (1999). Data logging in observation: Fieldnotes. *Qualitative research*, 3(Part 1).
- Llosa, L., Lee, O., Jiang, F., Haas, A., O'Connor, C., Van Booven, C. D., & Kieffer, M. J. (2016). Impact of a large-scale science intervention focused on English language learners. *American Educational Research Journal*, 53(2), 395-424.
- López, F., & McEneaney, E. (2012). State implementation of language acquisition policies and reading achievement among Hispanic students. *Educational Policy*, 26(3), 418-464.
- Lowenstein, K. L. (2009). The work of multicultural teacher education: Reconceptualizing white teacher candidates as learners. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 163-196.

- Lucas, T., Villegas, A. M., & Freedson-Gonzalez, M. (2008). Linguistically responsive teacher education: Preparing classroom teachers to teach English language learners. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *59*(4), 361-373.
- Lynn, M., & Smith-Maddox, R. (2007). Preservice teacher inquiry: Creating a space to dialogue about becoming a social justice educator. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(1), 94-105.
- MacLean, L. M., Meyer, M., & Estable, A. (2004). Improving accuracy of transcripts in qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 14(1), 113-123.
- Madhlangobe, L., & Gordon, S. P. (2012). Culturally responsive leadership in a diverse school: A case study of a high school leader. *NASSp Bulletin*, *96*(3), 177-202.
- Markos, A. M. (2012). Mandated to Learn, Guided to Reflect: Pre-Service Teachers' Evolving Understanding of English Language Learners. *Issues in Teacher Education*, 21(1), 39-57.
- Marshall, C. and Olivia, M. (2010), *Leadership for Social Justice: Making Revolutions in Education*, 2nd ed., Allyn & Bacon, Boston, MA.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (1989). B. (1999). Designing qualitative research. *Newbury Park/London/New Delhi*.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2008). Designing a qualitative study. *The SAGE handbook of applied social research methods*, *2*, 214-253.
- McGraner, K. L., & Saenz, L. (2009). Preparing Teachers of English Language Learners. TQ Connection Issue Paper. *National Comprehensive Center for Teacher Quality*.
- McIntyre, E., Kyle, D., Chen, C. T., Muñoz, M., & Beldon, S. (2010). Teacher learning and ELL reading achievement in sheltered instruction classrooms: Linking professional development to student development. *Literacy research and instruction*, 49(4), 334-351.

- McMahon, S. D., Wernsman, J., & Rose, D. S. (2009). The relation of classroom environment and school belonging to academic self-efficacy among urban fourthand fifth-grade students. *The Elementary School Journal*, 109(3), 267-281.
- McNamara, C. (2009). General guidelines for conducting interviews. Retrieved November 12, 2016, from http://managementhelp.org/evaluatn/intrview.htm
- Medina, A. L., Hathaway, J. I., & Pilonieta, P. (2015). How Preservice Teachers' Study Abroad Experiences Lead to Changes in Their Perceptions of English Language Learners. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 25, 73-91.
- Menken, K., Kleyn, T., & Chae, N. (2012). Spotlight on "long-term English language learners": Characteristics and prior schooling experiences of an invisible population. *International Multilingual Research Journal*, 6(2), 121-142.
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). Qualitative Research and Case Study Applications in Education. Revised and Expanded from" Case Study Research in Education.". Jossey-Bass Publishers, 350 Sansome St, San Francisco, CA 94104.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative Research: a guide to design and interpretation. *San Francisco: Jos-sey-Bass*.
- Migration Policy Institute (2015). The Limited English Proficient Population in the United States. Retrieved from https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/limited-english-proficient-population-united-states
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1984). Qualitative data analysis, a sourcebook of new methods. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Moore, P. (2011). Collaborative interaction in turn-taking: A comparative study of European bilingual (CLIL) and mainstream (MS) foreign language learners in early secondary education. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, 14(5), 531-549.

Morrow, S. L., & Smith, M. L. (2000). Qualitative research for counseling psychology. *Handbook of counseling psychology*, *3*, 199-230.

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage.

- Moustakas, C. (2001). Heuristic research: Design and methodology. *The handbook of humanistic psychology: Leading edges in theory, research, and practice*, 263-274.
- Nagle, J. (2016). *Multiculturalism's double-bind: creating inclusivity, cosmopolitanism and difference*. Routledge.
- National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education (NCATE). (2010). *Transforming teacher education through clinical practice: A national strategy to prepare effective teachers* (Report of the Blue Ribbon Panel on clinical preparation and partnerships for improved student learning). Washington, DC: NCATE
- Nelson, S. W., & Guerra, P. L. (2014). Educator beliefs and cultural knowledge: Implications for school improvement efforts. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 50(1), 67-95.
- New Jersey Department of Education, Title I Funding (2012). Retrieved from https://www.state.nj.us/education/title1/funding/index.shtml
- Nieto, S. (2000). Placing equity front and center: Some thoughts on transforming teacher education for a new century. *Journal of teacher education*, 51(3), 180-187.
- Nieto, S. (2004). Critical multicultural education and students' perspectives. *The Routledge Falmer reader in multicultural education*, 179-200.
- Nieto, S. (2010). Language, diversity, and learning. *CAL Digest August 2010*. Washington D.C: Center for Applied Linguistic, p. 3-4.
- O'Sullivan, K. (2015). Bilingual Education-Mismatch Between Policy And Practice in the UAE?. *International Journal of Arts & Sciences*, 8(7), 425.

Passel, J. S., & Cohn, D. V. U. S. (2008). US population projections: 2005-2050.

- Patton, M. Q. (1980). Qualitative research and evaluation methods. *Book Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods*.
- Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. SAGE Publications, inc.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Two decades of developments in qualitative inquiry: A personal, experiential perspective. *Qualitative social work*, 1(3), 261-283.
- Peercy, M. M. (2011). Preparing English language learners for the mainstream academic language and literacy practices in two junior high school ESL classrooms. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 27(4), 324-362.
- Peercy, M. M. (2012). Problematizing the theory-practice gap: How ESL teachers make sense of their preservice education. *Journal of Theory and Practice in Education*, 8(1), 20-40.
- Pennsauken High School (2016). School demographics and student population. https://genesis.pennsauken.net/genesis/sis/view?module=studentdata&cat egory=studentlist&tab1=studentSearch&action=form.
- Place, A. W., Ballenger, J., Wasonga, T. A., Piveral, J., & Edmonds, C. (2010). Principals' perspectives of social justice in public schools. *International Journal* of Educational Management, 24(6), 531-543.
- Polat, N. (2010). A comparative analysis of pre-and in-service teacher beliefs about readiness and self-competency: Revisiting teacher education for ELLs. *System*, 38(2), 228-244.
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (1989). Phenomenological research methods. In *Existentialphenomenological perspectives in psychology* (pp. 41-60). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2004). *Nursing research: Principles and methods*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- Reeves, J. (2009). Teacher investment in learner identity. *Teaching and teacher education*, 25(1), 34-41.
- Rios-Aguilar, C. (2010). Measuring Funds of Knowledge: Contributions to Latina/o Students' Academic and Nonacademic Outcomes. *Teachers College Record*, *112*(8), 2209-2257.
- Rios-Aguilar, C., González-Canche, M., & Moll, L. C. (2010). A Study of Arizona's Teachers of English Language Learners. *Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles*.
- Rios-Aguilar, C., González-Canché, M., & Moll, L. (2012). Implementing structured English immersion in Arizona: Benefits, challenges, and opportunities. *Teachers College Record*, 114(9), 1-18.
- Rodriguez, D., Manner, J., & Darcy, S. (2010). Evolution of teacher perceptions regarding effective instruction for English language learners. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 9(2), 130-144.
- Riojas-Cortez M and Bustos Flores B (2009) Sin olvidar a los padres: Collaborating within school and university partnerships. *Journal of Latinos and Education* 8(3): 231–9.
- Rosa, M., & Orey, D. C. (2010). Culturally relevant pedagogy: an ethnomathematical approach.
- Rosa, M. (2015). A mixed-methods study to understand the perceptions of high school leaders about English language learners (ELLs): The case of mathematics. *Jornal Internacional de Estudos em Educação Matemática*, 4(2).
- Roy-Campbell, Z. M. (2013). Who educates teacher educators about English language learners?. *Reading Horizons*, *52*(3), 4.
- Rubin H. J. & Rubin I. S. (2005) *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing the data*. *2nd edn.* SAGE, Thousand Oaks.

- Ruiz Soto, A. G., Hooker, S., & Batalova, J. (2015). States and districts with the highest number and share of English language learners. *Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute*.
- Ryan, J. (2010). 'The Chinese learner': Misconceptions and realities. *International* education and the Chinese learner, 37-56.
- Sailes, J. (2008). School culture audits: Making a difference in school improvement plans. *Improving Schools*, 11(1), 74-82.
- Saldaña, J. (2009). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Samson, J. F., & Collins, B. A. (2012). Preparing All Teachers to Meet the Needs of English Language Learners: Applying Research to Policy and Practice for Teacher Effectiveness. Center for American Progress.
- Samson, J. F., & Lesaux, N. K. (2009). Language-minority learners in special education: Rates and predictors of identification for services. *Journal of learning disabilities*, 42(2), 148-162.
- Sandy, J., & Duncan, K. (2010). Examining the achievement test score gap between urban and suburban students. *Education Economics*, *18*(3), 297-315.
- Scanlan, M., & López, F. (2012). ¡ Vamos! How school leaders promote equity and excellence for bilingual students. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 48(4), 583-625.
- Seidman, I. (2006). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences. New York. NY: Teachers College Press.
- Selvi, A. F. (2010). All teachers are equal, but some teachers are more equal than others: Trend analysis of job advertisements in English language teaching. WATESOL NNEST Caucus Annual Review, 1(1), 155-181.

- Shapiro, S. (2014). "Words That You Said Got Bigger": English Language Learners' Lived Experiences of Deficit Discourse. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 386-406.
- Shank, G. D. (2006). *Qualitative research: A personal skills approach*. Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Short, D.J., Fidelman, C.G., & Lougit, M. (2012). Developing academic language in English language learners through sheltered instruction. TESOL Quarterly, 46(2), 334-361.
- Siwatu, K. O. (2011). Preservice teachers' sense of preparedness and self-efficacy to teach in America's urban and suburban schools: Does context matter?. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27(2), 357-365.
- Sleeter, C. E. (2012). Confronting the marginalization of culturally responsive pedagogy. *Urban Education*, 47(3), 562-584.
- Snyder, T. D., & Dillow, S. A. (2012). Digest of Education Statistics, 2011. NCES 2012-001. National Center for Education Statistics.
- Souto-Manning, M., & Mitchell, C. H. (2010). The role of action research in fostering culturally-responsive practices in a preschool classroom. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *37*(4), 269.
- Sowa, P. A. (2009). Understanding our learners and developing reflective practice: Conducting action research with English language learners. *Teaching and teacher education*, 25(8), 1026-1032.

Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Stepanek, J., Raphael, J., Autio, E., Deussen, T., & Thompson, L. (2010). Creating schools that support success for English language learners. *Education Northwest: Lessons Learned*, 1(2), 1-4.

- Stufft, D. L., & Brogadir, R. (2011). Urban principals' facilitation of English language learning in public schools. *Education and Urban Society*, 43(5), 560-575.
- Sullivan, A.L. (2011). Disporpotionality in special education identification and placement of English Language Learners. *Exceptional Children*, 77(3), 317-334.
- Sullivan, A. L., & Bal, A. (2013). Disproportionality in special education: Effects of individual and school variables on disability risk. *Exceptional Children*, 79(4), 475-494.
- Theoharis, G. (2007). Social justice educational leaders and resistance: Toward a theory of social justice leadership. *Educational administration quarterly*, 43(2), 221-258.
- Theoharis, G. (2010). Disrupting injustice: Principals narrate the strategies they use to improve their schools and advance social justice. *Teachers College Record*, *112*(1), 331-373.
- Theoharis, G., & O'Toole, J. (2011). Leading inclusive ELL: Social justice leadership for English language learners. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 47(4), 646-688.
- Uro, G., & Barrio, A. (2013). English Language Learners in America's Great City Schools: Demographics, Achievement and Staffing. *Council of the Great City Schools*.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2010). American community survey. Selected characteristics of the native and foreign-born populations: 2011 American Community Survey 1-year estimates.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2016). American community survey. Selected characteristics of the native and foreign-born populations: 2011 American Community Survey 1-year estimates.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Common Core of Data (CCD) 2015-16, *Local Education Agency Universe Survey*. Digest of Education Statistics (2017). Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator cgf.asp

- Uzzell, R., Fernandez, J., Palacios, M., Hart, R., & Casserly, M. (2014). Beating the Odds: Analysis of Student Performance on State Assessments. Results from 2012-2013 School Year. *Council of the Great City Schools*.
- Van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experiences. *State University of New York Press, Albany.*
- Van Roekel, N. P. D. (2011). Professional development for general education teachers of English language learners. *An NEA Policy Brief. National Education Association*.
- Webb, A. W., Barrera, I. V., & Estanislado, S. (2017). Providing equal opportunity to learn science for English language learners: The role of simulated language learner experiences in teacher preparation. In *Catalyst: A Social Justice Forum* (Vol. 7, No. 1, p. 3).
- Wei, R. C., Darling-Hammond, L., & Adamson, F. (2010). Professional development in the United States: Trends and challenges (Vol. 28). Dallas, TX: National Staff Development Council.
- Weyer, M. (2015). Educating young dual-and English-language learners. National Conference of State Legislatures. Retrieved from http://www.ncsl.org/research/education/english-dual-languagelearners.aspx#Overview
- Wiggins, R. A., Follo, E. J., & Eberly, M. B. (2007). The impact of a field immersion program on pre-service teachers' attitudes toward teaching in culturally diverse classrooms. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *23*(5), 653-663.
- Yoon, B. (2007). Offering or limiting opportunities: Teachers' roles and approaches to English □ language learners' participation in literacy activities. *The Reading Teacher*, *61*(3), 216-225.
- Yoon, B. (2008). Uninvited guests: The influence of teachers' roles and pedagogies on the positioning of English language learners in the regular classroom. *American Educational Research Journal*, 45(2), 495-522.

## Appendix A

#### **Interview Protocol**

Doctoral Study: How do teachers, administrators, and counselors describe their roles in working with English Language Learners?

Time of Interview:

Date:

Location:

Interviewer:

Position of Interviewee:

Brief description of the study:

- IQ 1 What is your current position at the school?
- IQ 2 How many years have you been at your current position?

IQ 3 - How long have you been working in the school district?

- IQ 4 What degree and type certification do you hold?
- IQ 5 Tell me out the demographics of the school? How has it changed?
- IQ 6 What role do you think schools play in the academic/social development of ELLs?
- IQ 7 Tell me about an experience you have had with an ELL?
- IQ 8 Tell me what is it like to work with an ELL?
- IQ 9 What do you see as the biggest challenges in working with ELLs?

IQ 10 – What do you think is the greatest benefits ELL students bring to our classrooms? Our school?

IQ 11 – What do you think it is like to be an ELL in this school?

IQ 12 – Can you tell me a bit about your thoughts on the best ways to work with ELLs?

IQ 13 – What has been your experience in accessing resources, supports, or training in your school for ELLs? How about at the district level?

IQ 14 - When you hear the work "social justice" what comes to mind?

IQ 15 - What support structures are available to ELLs in the school?

#### **Appendix B**

## **Consent Form**

You have been invited to participate in a research study about how teachers, counselors, and administrators describe their role with English language learners. Please read this form and ask any questions before agreeing to be interviewed.

This interview will be conducted by Myrtelina Cabrera, a doctoral candidate at Rowan University.

## **Background information:**

This study is being conducted to learn more about how teachers, counselors, and administrators describe their role in working with ELLs. The intent is to gain rich information that could assist the school in developing inclusive practices that could advance the academic success of ELLs in a school setting.

## **Procedures:**

If you agree, you will be asked to participate in an audio-recorded interview, lasting 30-45 minutes.

## Voluntary Nature of the Interview:

Your participation in this interview is voluntary. This means that you may withdraw from being interviewed at any time during the study. If you agree to be interviewed at this time, you can still change your mind later. If the interview makes you feel uncomfortable, you may stop at any time. You may also skip questions that you feel are too personal.

#### **Risks and Benefits of Participating in this Study:**

There are no potential risks to participants. You may skip any question you don't want to answer and withdraw for the study at any time without consequences. The benefits of this interview will help the school work toward enhancing their role in working with ELLs.

#### **Compensation:**

There is no compensation for participating in this interview.

#### **Confidentiality:**

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. Your comments will not be used for any purpose beyond the purpose of this study. Also, the researcher will not include your name or any other information that could further identify you in any of the reports.

## **Contacts and Questions:**

The researcher's name is Myrtelina Cabrera. The dissertation chair is Dr. Beth Wassell. You may ask any questions at this time. If you have any questions later, you may contact the researcher via (267) 972-1461 or the instructor at Wassell@rowan.edu.

The researcher will provide you with a copy of this form to keep.

# AGREEMENT TO PARTICIPATE

I have read this entire form, or it has been read to me, and I believe that I understand what has been discussed. All of my questions about this form or this study have been answered. Subject Name: \_\_\_\_\_

Subject Signature:

# Signature of Investigator/Individual Obtaining Consent:

To the best of my ability, I have explained and discussed the full contents of the study including all the information contained in this consent form.

Investigator/Person Obtaining Consent:

Signature:	Date:	